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CALCULATION OF RE

GISTRATION FEE

PROPOSED PROPOSED
MAXIMUM MAXIMUM AMOUNT OF
TITLE OF EACH CLASS OF SECURITIES AMOUNT TO BE OFFERING PRICE ~ AGGREGATE  REGISTRATION
TO BE REGISTERED REGISTERED (1) PER UNIT  OFFERING PRICE  FEE (2)

Common Stock, $.01 par value (3) 220,000 $ 3.00 $ 660,000 $ 77.68
Common Stock, $.01 par value 150,000 $ 250 $ 375,000 $ 44.14
Common Stock, $.01 par value 180,000 $ 375 % 675,000 $ 79.45
Common Stock, $.01 par value 200,000 $ 2.00 $ 400,000 $ 47.08
Common Stock, $.01 par value/ 360,000 $ 5.46 $ 2,000,000 $ 235.40
Underlying a Convertible Note (4)

Common Stock, $.01 par value/ 50,000 $ 3.00 $ 150,000 $ 17.65

Underlying Warrants (5)

TOTAL 1,160,000 N/A $ 4,260,000 $ 501.40

(1) In accordance with Rule 416 under the Secusrifiet of 1933, as amended (the "Act"), this regishn statement also covers any additic
shares of common stock which may become issualderlsy reason of any stock dividend, stock spitcapitalization or any other similar
transaction effected without the consideration Whisults in an increase in the number of regisg@utstanding shares of common stock.
(2) This calculation is made solely for the purposédetermining the registration fee pursuanhtogrovisions of Rule 457 under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(3) Shares of Common Stock issuable upon the ceiorenf a Convertible Debenture.

(4) Shares of Common Stock issuable upon the ceiorenf a Convertible Note with exercise pricesgiag from $4.50 to $7.50 per share,
with an average weighted conversion price of $pdbshare.

(5) Shares of Common Stock issuable upon the eseeafiWarrants.

DELAYING AMENDMENT UNDER RULE 473(A): The registrarhereby amends this registration statement on dathor dates as may
necessary to delay its effective date until thésteant shall file a further amendment which spealfy states that this registration statement
shall become effective in accordance with secti@) 8f the Securities Act of 1933 or until the stgation statement shall become effectiv:
such date as the Commission acting pursuant tmed#fa), may determine.

The information in this prospectus is subject tmpéetion or amendment. The securities covered iByptospectus cannot be sold until the
registration statement filed with the Securitied &xchange Commission becomes effective. This gaisp shall not constitute an offer to
sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor Bhlaere be any sale of these securities in ang stawhich an offer, solicitation or sale would
be unlawful prior to registration or qualificatioimder the securities laws of that state.

If this Form is filed to register additional sedig$ for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) unither Securities Act, please check the following
box and list the Securities Act registration staaatmumber of the earlier effective registratiatestnent for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filedquant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Actckhie following box and list the
Securities Act registration statement number ofetdier effective registration statement for thene offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filedguant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Actckhbe following box and list the
Securities Act registration statement number ofehidier effective registration statement for thene offering.

If delivery of the prospectus is expected to be enguksuant to Rule 434, check the following k



THE INFORMATION IN THIS PROSPECTUS IS NOT COMPLETAND MAY BE CHANGED. THE SELLING STOCKHOLDERS
MAY NOT SELL THESE SECURITIES UNTIL THE REGISTRATIR STATEMENT FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION IS EFFECTIVE. THIS PROSPECTUSNOT AN OFFER TO SELL THESE SECURITIES AND THE
SELLING STOCKHOLDERS ARE NOT SOLICITING AN OFFER TBUY THESE SECURITIES IN ANY STATE WHERE THE OFFE
OR SALE IS NOT PERMITTED.

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS
SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED AUGUST 23, 2005

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
1,160,000 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

This prospectus relates to the offering for resélep to 530,000 shares of our common stock, $paivalue ("Common Stock") currently
held by certain selling stockholders, 220,000 shafeCommon Stock issuable upon the conversion@élzenture currently held by a selling
stockholder, 360,000 shares of Common Stock issugiidn the conversion of a Convertible Note culydmgld by a selling stockholder, and
50,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon theecsion of warrants. For a list of the selling &toalders, please see "Selling
Stockholders." We are not selling any shares of@Gammon Stock in this offering and therefore wik meceive any proceeds from the sale
thereof. We may, however, receive the benefit otpeds upon the conversion of the Debenture atftéaConvertible Note held by certain
selling stockholders for which we are registering tinderlying shares of Common Stock. Upon conerrsf any portion of the Debenture
and/or the Convertible Note, we will apply the preds received directly to the debt for which thé&wure and/or Convertible Note was
issued and the principal amount(s) of the Note@rithe Debenture will be reduced accordingly. Aiddially, we may receive proceeds of
approximately $300,000 upon the exercise of wastamhich we would apply toward general operatingesses. We will bear all expenses,
other than selling commissions and fees of théngeditockholders, in connection with the registiatand sale of the shares being offered by
this prospectus.

These shares may be sold by the selling stockisfdam time to time in the over-the-counter markebther national securities exchange or
automated interdealer quotation system on whichfGmmmon Stock is then listed or quoted, througtotiated transactions or otherwise at
market prices prevailing at the time of sale anegotiated prices.

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ SmallCapkdt under the symbol "RICK." On August 17, 200t last reported sales price
of our Common Stock was $3.50 per share.

INVESTING IN OUR COMMON STOCK INVOLVES A HIGH DEGRE E OF RISKS. PLEASE REFER TO THE "RISK
FACTORS" BEGINNING ON PAGE 2.

NEITHER THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NORNY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION HAS APPROVED C
DISAPPROVED OF THESE SECURITIES, OR DETERMINED IAB PROSPECTUS IS TRUTHFUL OR COMPLETE. ANY
REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENS

THE DATE OF THIS PROSPECTUS IS AUGUST , 200&
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following summary highlights selected infornoaticontained in this prospectus. This summary doésontain all of the information you
should consider before investing in the securiBafore making an investment decision, you shoedtirthe entire prospectus carefully,
including the risk factors section, the financi@tsments and the notes to the financial statem¥nts should also review the other available
information referred to in the section entitled 'Héfe you can find more information" on page 3his prospectus and any amendment or
supplement hereto. Unless otherwise indicatedteitnes the "Company," "we," "us," and "our" refedaelate to Rick's Cabaret International,
Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

THE COMPANY

Our name is Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. \Wieantly own and operate a total of nine adult tafitbs that offer live adult entertainment,
restaurant and bar operations. Three of our clplesade under the name "Rick's Cabaret" and fothietlubs operate under the name "XT
Our nightclubs are in Houston, Austin and San Aitohexas; Charlotte, North Carolina; Minneapdhnnesota; and New York, New Yol

In January 2005, we acquired a club in New YorkwNeork. We are completing renovation of the locatand anticipate opening this club as
a fourth "Rick's Cabaret" in September 2005. IneJ2@04, we converted our original Rick's Cabarghtaiub in Houston's Galleria District
into "Club Onyx", an upscale venue that welcomésustomers but cater especially to urban profesd# businessmen and professional
athletes. We also own and operate a sports bar timel@ame of "Hummers" in Houston and own or djgepaemiere adult entertainment
Internet websites.

Our online entertainment sites are xxxPassword.&@uoaplesTouch.com, CouplesClick.net, and NaughtyB@m. The site xxxPassword.c
features adult content licensed through Voice Mddie. CouplesTouch.com and CouplesClick.net arsgueals sites for those in the
swinging lifestyle. Naughtybids.com is our onlirgu#i auction site. It contains consumer-initiatedtéons for items such as adult videos,
apparel, photo sets, adult paraphernalia and etiadica. There are typically approximately 10,00thv& auctions at this site at any given
time. We charge the seller a fee for each sucdemsétion. All of our sites use proprietary softegnlatforms written by us to deliver the best
experience to the user without being constrainedfbthe-shelf software solutions.

THE OFFERING
Outstanding 4,287,148 shares (as of August 17, 2005).
Common Stock

Common Stock Up to 530,000 shares of Common Stock held by certain selling

Offered stockholders, 220,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the
conversion of a Convertible Deben ture, 360,000 shares of common
stock issuable upon the exercis e of a Convertible Note (with
conversion prices ranging from $4.50 to $7.50 per share and a
weighted average price of $5.46 pe r share), and 50,000 shares of
Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.

Offering Price Determined at the time of sale by t he selling stockholders.

Proceeds We are not selling any shares of our Common Stock in this
offering and therefore will not receive any proceeds from the
sale thereof. We may, however, r eceive the benefit of proceeds
upon the conversion of the Debentu re and/or the Convertible Note
held by certain selling stockholder s for which we are registering
the underlying shares of Common Stock. Upon conversion of any
portion of the Debenture and/or the Convertible Note, we will
apply the proceeds received dire ctly to the debt for which the
Debenture and/or Convertible Not e
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was issued and the principal am
Debenture will be reduced accor
receive proceeds of approximately
warrants, which we would apply towa

The selling shareholders will pay
commissions and expenses incurred b
brokerage, accounting, tax or |
expenses incurred by the selling sh
shares. We will bear all other cos

in effecting the registration o
prospectus, including, without li
filing fees, Nasdaq Small Cap
registration and filing fees, a

ount(s) of the Note and/or the
dingly. Additionally, we may
$300,000 upon the exercise of
rd general operating expenses.

any underwriting discounts and
y the selling shareholders for
egal services or any other
areholders in disposing of the
ts, fees and expenses incurred
f the shares covered by this
mitation, all registration and
Market listing fees, blue sky
nd fees and expenses of our

counsel and our accountants.

Risk Factors The securities offered hereby invo
"Risk Factors" herein.

Ive a high degree of risk. See

RISK FACTORS

An investment in our Common Stock involves a higlgree of risk. You should carefully consider ttssidescribed below before decidin
purchase shares of our Common Stock. If any oétleats, contingencies, circumstances or conditi@ssribed in the risks below actually
occurs, our business, financial condition or resaftoperations could be seriously harmed. Thertgagrice of our Common Stock could, in
turn, decline and you could lose all or part of ymvestment.

RISKS RELATED TO THE COMPANY AND THE OFFERING

OUR BUSINESS OPERATIONS ARE SUBJECT TO REGULATORWOERTAINTIES WHICH MAY AFFECT OUR ABILITY TO
CONTINUE OPERATIONS OF EXISTING NIGHTCLUBS ACQUIREDDITIONAL NIGHTCLUBS OR BE PROFITABLE.

Adult entertainment nightclubs are subject to lpstdte and federal regulations. Our businesgjislaged by local zoning, local and state
liquor licensing, local ordinances and state amigffal time place and manner restrictions. The ahtkrtainment provided by our nightclubs
has elements of speech and expression and, therefgoys some protection under the First Amendretite United States Constitution.
However, the protection is limited to the express&nd not the conduct of an entertainer. Whileroghtclubs are generally well established
in their respective markets, there can be no assarthat local, state and/or federal licensing@heér regulations will permit our nightclubs
to remain in operation or profitable in the future.

WE MAY NEED ADDITIONAL FINANCING OR OUR BUSINESS EX PANSION PLANS MAY BE SIGNIFICANTLY LIMITED.

If cash generated from our operations is insufficie satisfy our working capital and capital exgiéure requirements, we will need to raise
additional funds through the public or private safl@ur equity or debt securities. The timing antbant of our capital requirements will
depend on a number of factors, including cash #ioa cash requirements for nightclub acquisitiohadtitional funds are raised through the
issuance of equity or convertible debt securities,percentage ownership of our then-existing studders will be reduced. We cannot assure
you that additional financing will be available tanms favorable to us, if at all. Any future equityancing, if available, may result in dilutic

to existing
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shareholders, and debt financing, if available, inajude restrictive covenants. Any failure by agtocure timely additional financing will
have material adverse consequences on our busipesstions.

THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL COMPETITION IN THE NIGHTCLUB E NTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY WHICH MAY AFFECT
OUR ABILITY TO OPERATE PROFITABLY OR ACQUIRE ADDITI ONAL CLUBS.

Our nightclubs face competition. Some of these atitggs may have greater financial and managenssaturces than us. Additionally, the
industry is subject to unpredictable competitivantts and competition for general entertainmenadalThere can be no assurance that we
will be able to remain profitable in this compet#iindustry.

RISK OF ADULT NIGHTCLUB OPERATIONS

Historically, the adult entertainment, restaurart har industry has been an extremely volatile stigu The industry tends to be extremely
sensitive to the general local economy, in thatwéeonomic conditions are prosperous, entertainindaostry revenues increase, and when
economic conditions are unfavorable, entertainnrehistry revenues decline. Coupled with this ecoim@ansitivity are the trendy personal
preferences of the customers who frequent adulireah We continuously monitor trends in our cugtshtastes and entertainment
preferences so that, if necessary, we can makejpggie changes which will allow us to remain ohéhe premiere adult cabarets. However,
any significant decline in general corporate candi or uncertainties regarding future economicpeets that affect consumer spending
could have a material adverse effect on our businasaddition, we have historically catered tdientele base from the upper end of the
market. Accordingly, further reductions in the amtsuof entertainment expenses allowed as dedudtiomsincome under the Internal
Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, could adverf$ety sales to customers dependent upon corpoxaense accounts.

PERMITS RELATING TO THE SALE OF ALCOHOL

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesiirthe sale of alcoholic beverages. In Texas, thieoaity to issue a permit to sell alcoholic
beverages is governed by the Texas Alcoholic Bge@Zommission (the "TABC"), which has the authgriityits discretion, to issue the
appropriate permits. Rick's presently holds a MiBederage Permit and a Late Hours Permit (the "R€mThese Permits are subject to
annual renewal, provided we have complied witmals and regulations governing the permits. Rehefva permit is subject to protest,
which may be made by a law enforcement agency @r fmgmber of the general public. In the event pfodest, the TABC may hold a hear
at which time the views of interested parties a@ressed. The TABC has the authority after suchimgaot to issue a renewal of the
protested alcoholic beverage permit. While we haeaer been subject to a protest hearing againseti@val of our Permits, there can be no
assurance that such a protest could not be mate fiuture, nor can there be any assurance th&dhaits would be granted in the event ¢

a protest was made. Other states may have siraiar Which may limit the availability of a permit $ell alcoholic beverages or which may
provide for suspension or revocation of a permieth alcoholic beverages in certain circumstanths.temporary or permanent suspension
or revocations of either of the Permits or the iligito obtain permits in areas of expansion wohftle a material adverse effect on the
revenues, financial condition and results of openatof the Company.

WE MUST CONTINUE TO MEET THE NASDAQ SMALL CAP MARKE T CONTINUED LISTING REQUIREMENTS OR WE
RISK DELISTING.

Our securities are currently listed for tradingtbe Nasdag Small Cap Market. We must continuettsfgdNasdaq's continued listing
requirements or risk delisting which would haveaanerse effect on our business. If our securitiesger de-listed from the Nasdag, it may
trade on the over-the-counter market, which mag kess liquid market. In such case, our sharehsldeility to trade or obtain quotations of
the market value of shares of our common stock evbalseverely limited because of lower trading ra#s and transaction delays. These
factors could contribute to lower prices and larg@eads
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in the bid and ask prices for our securities. There assurance that we will be able to maintampmliance with the Nasdaq continued listing
requirements.

IN THE FUTURE, WE WILL INCUR SIGNIFICANT INCREASEDCOSTS AS A RESULT OF OPERATING AS A PUBLIC COMPANY,
AND OUR MANAGEMENT WILL BE REQUIRED TO DEVOTE SUBSANTIAL TIME TO NEW COMPLIANCE INITIATIVES.

In the future, we will incur significant legal, ammting and other expenses. The Sarbanes-OxlepfR&002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act"), as
well as new rules subsequently implemented by t€,$ave imposed various new requirements on pablicpanies, including requiring
changes in corporate governance practices. Ourgeament and other personnel will need to devotebatantial amount of time to these new
compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules agltations will increase our legal and financiahpdiance costs and will make some
activities more time-consuming and costly. For egbanwe expect these new rules and regulationsateerit more difficult and more
expensive for us to obtain director and officebility insurance, and we may be required to inatrssantial costs to maintain the same or
similar coverage.

In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, amamthgr things, that we maintain effective interoatrols for financial reporting and
disclosure controls and procedures. In partic@l@mmencing in fiscal 2006, we must perform systenhgrocess evaluation and testing of
our internal controls over financial reporting ttoev management and our independent registeredgabtounting firm to report on the
effectiveness of our internal controls over finahceporting, as required by Section 404 of théb&aes-Oxley Act. Our testing, or the
subsequent testing by our independent registerblicpaccounting firm, may reveal deficiencies irr mternal controls over financial
reporting that are deemed to be material weakne€sgscompliance with Section 404 will require tha incur substantial accounting
expense and expend significant management efidiéscurrently do not have an internal audit grounm we will need to hire additional
accounting and financial staff with appropriate lppibompany experience and technical accountingwedge. Moreover, if we are not able
to comply with the requirements of Section 404 tingely manner, or if we or our independent regedepublic accounting firm identifies
deficiencies in our internal controls over finaecgporting that are deemed to be material wealase$se market price of our stock could
decline, and we could be subject to sanctionswastigations by the SEC or other regulatory auttess;i which would require additional
financial and management resources.

UNINSURED RISKS

We maintain insurance in amounts we considers adedar personal injury and property damage to tithie business of the Company may
be subject. However, there can be no assurancenhatured liabilities in excess of the coveragavjmted by insurance, which liabilities may
be imposed pursuant to the Texas "Dram Shop" statusimilar "Dram Shop" statutes or common lavothes of liability in other states
where we operate or expand. The Texas "Dram Shiapite provides a person injured by an intoxicgeon the right to recover damages
from an establishment that wrongfully served aldimhoeverages to such person if it was apparetitéserver that the individual being sold,
served or provided with an alcoholic beverage wagausly intoxicated to the extent that he presgatelear danger to himself and others.
An employer is not liable for the actions of its@oyee who overserves if (i) the employer requiteemployees to attend a seller training
program approved by the TABC;

(i) the employee has actually attended such aitrgiprogram; and (iii) the employer has not dikeot indirectly encouraged the employe!
violate the law. It is our policy to require thditservers of alcohol working at our clubs be d@ti as servers under a training program
approved by the TABC, which certification giveststary immunity to the sellers of alcohol from dageacaused to third parties by those \
have consumed alcoholic beverages at such estalgigtpursuant to the Texas Alcoholic Beverage CéHere can be no assurance,
however, that uninsured liabilities may not arideal could have a material adverse effect on the@my.
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LIMITATIONS ON PROTECTION OF SERVICE MARKS

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick's" and "Riclab&et" are established under the common law hgsad our substantial and continuous
use of these trademarks in interstate commerce sinieast as early as 1987. "RICK'S AND STARS OE$!and "RICK'S CABARET"
logos are registered through service mark registratissued by the United States Patent and Tratde@féice ("PTO"). There can be no
assurance that these steps taken by the Compangtert its Service Marks will be adequate to detisappropriation of its protected
intellectual property rights. Litigation may be easary in the future to protect our rights frontimjement, which may be costly and time
consuming. The loss of the intellectual properghts owned or claimed by us could have a matetiaise affect on our business.

ANTI-TAKEOVER EFFECTS OF ISSUANCE OF PREFERRED STOCK

The Board of Directors has the authority to isspiéaul,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock in ommeare series, to fix the number of shares
constituting any such series, and to fix the rigirtd preferences of the shares constituting angssevithout any further vote or action by the
stockholders. The issuance of Preferred Stock &Bthard of Directors could adversely affect théntsgof the holders of Common Stock. For
example, such issuance could result in a classafrities outstanding that would have preferendés mespect to voting rights and dividends
and in liquidation over the Common Stock, and cqufzbn conversion or otherwise) enjoy all of thghts appurtenant to Common Stock.
The Board's authority to issue Preferred Stockadidcourage potential takeover attempts and odellaly or prevent a change in control of
the Company through merger, tender offer, proxytestror otherwise by making such attempts morécditfto achieve or more costly. There
are no issued and outstanding shares of Prefetoett;3here are no agreements or understandingbdassuance of Preferred Stock, and the
Board of Directors has no present intention toesBreferred Stock.

WE DO NOT ANTICIPATE PAYING DIVIDENDS ON COMMON SHA RES IN THE FORESEEABLE FUTURE.

Since our inception we have not paid any divides®ur common stock and we do not anticipate pagimgdividends in the foreseeable
future. We expect that future earnings, if any) b used for working capital and to finance grawth

FUTURE SALES OF OUR COMMON STOCK MAY DEPRESS OUR STOCK PRICE.

The market price of our common stock could deddisa result of sales of substantial amounts oEoommon stock in the public market, or
a result of the perception that these sales catddroln addition, these factors could make it ndiffcult for us to raise funds through future
offerings of common stock.

THERE IS A LIMITED PUBLIC TRADING MARKET FOR OUR CO MMON STOCK.

Our stock is currently traded on the Nasdag Smafi Market under the trading symbol "RICK". Thera iémited public trading market for
our common stock. Without an active trading marktegre can be no assurance of any liquidity orleegaue of our common stock, and
stockholders may be required to hold shares ofommon stock for an indefinite period of time.

OUR STOCK PRICE HAS BEEN VOLATILE AND MAY FLUCTUATE IN THE FUTURE.
The trading price of our securities may fluctuagmsgicantly. This price may be influenced by mdagtors, including:

- our performance and prospects;
- the depth and liquidity of the market for our weties;
- sales by selling shareholders of shares issueswable in connection with the Debenture andfmm@rtible Note;
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- investor perception of us and the industry inckhive operate;

- changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recordatens by analysts;
- general financial and other market conditionsl an

- domestic economic conditions.

Public stock markets have experienced, and mayriexpe, extreme price and trading volume volatilithese broad market fluctuations may
adversely affect the market price of our securities

OUR MANAGEMENT CONTROLS A SIGNIFICANT PERCENTAGE OF OUR CURRENT OUTSTANDING COMMON STOCK
AND THEIR INTERESTS MAY CONFLICT WITH THOSE OF OUR SHAREHOLDERS.

As of August 17, 2005, our Directors and executiffecers and their respective affiliates collectivand beneficially owned approximately
27% of our outstanding common stock, includingaadtrants exercisable within 60 days. This concéiotmaof voting control gives our
Directors and executive officers and their respecéffiliates substantial influence over any mattehich require a shareholder vote,
including, without limitation, the election of Dutors, even if their interests may conflict wittosie of other shareholders. It could also have
the effect of delaying or preventing a change intc of or otherwise discouraging a potential dogpufrom attempting to obtain control of
us. This could have a material adverse effect emiarket price of our common stock or prevent tiaresholders from realizing a premium
over the then prevailing market prices for theargs of common stock.

WE ARE DEPENDENT ON KEY PERSONNEL.

Our future success is dependent, in a large pargtaining the services of Mr. Eric Langan, ougdfdent and Chief Executive Officer. Mr.
Langan possesses a unique and comprehensive kgmndédur industry. While Mr. Langan has no preggans to leave or retire in the near
future, his loss could have a negative effect anopeerating, marketing and financial performancséfare unable to find an adequate
replacement with similar knowledge and experienithivour industry. We maintain key-man life insonca with respect to Mr. Langan.
Although Mr. Langan is under an employment agredr@ndescribed herein), there can be no assuthatklr. Langan will continue to be
employed by us. The loss of Mr. Langan could hawegative effect on our operating, marketing, andrfcing performance.

CUMULATIVE VOTING IS NOT AVAILABLE TO STOCKHOLDERS.

Cumulative voting in the election of Directors igpeessly denied in our Articles of Incorporatiorcadrdingly, the holder or holders of a
majority of the outstanding shares of our commaolsimay elect all of our Directors. Managementgdgpercentage ownership of our
outstanding common stock helps enable them to aiaititeir positions as such and thus control oftuginess and affairs.

OUR DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS HAVE LIMITED LIABILITY A ND HAVE RIGHTS TO INDEMNIFICATION.

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provids, @ermitted by governing Texas law, that our Disestind officers shall not be personally
liable to us or any of our stockholders for mongtamages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Dineotaofficer, with certain exceptions. The
Articles further provide that we will indemnify olirectors and officers against expenses and iiegsilthey incur to defend, settle, or satisfy
any civil litigation or criminal action brought aigat them on account of their being or having bigeDirectors or officers unless, in such
action, they are adjudged to have acted with gnegtigence or willful misconduct.

The inclusion of these provisions in the Articleaythave the effect of reducing the likelihood ofidative litigation against Directors and
officers, and may discourage or deter stockholders
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management from bringing a lawsuit against Direxctord officers for breach of their duty of caregrethough such an action, if successful,
might otherwise have benefited us and our stoclkdrsld

The Articles provide for the indemnification of cofificers and Directors, and the advancement tmtbEexpenses in connection with any
proceedings and claims, to the fullest extent peechby Texas law. The Articles include relatedvyisimns meant to facilitate the indemnite
receipt of such benefits. These provisions cowanray other things: (i) specification of the metliddietermining entitlement to
indemnification and the selection of independeninse! that will in some cases make such deternoinaii) specification of certain time
periods by which certain payments or determinatioost be made and actions must be taken, anth@igstablishment of certain
presumptions in favor of an indemnitee.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisimmder the Securities Act may be permitted to oteadors, officers and controlling persons
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have labssed that in the opinion of the Securities ardiange Commission, such
indemnification is against public policy as expezb the Securities Act and is therefore unentainte

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We are including the following cautionary statemienthis Form SB-2 to make applicable and take athge of the safe harbor provision of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 59@r any forward-looking statements made by usrobehalf of us. Forward-looking
statements include statements concerning planscigs, goals, strategies, future events or pedioce and underlying assumptions and
other statements, which are other than stateméhistorical facts. Certain statements in this F&By2 are forward-looking statements.
These statements are subject to risks and uncgtaand are based on the beliefs and assumptionarmgement and information currently
available to management. The use of words suchel®Ves," "expects,” "anticipates,” "intends,"dip$," "estimates," "should," "likely" or
similar expressions, indicates a forward-lookiregestnent. Such statements are subject to risks raettainties that could cause actual results
to differ materially from those projected. Suctksi@nd uncertainties are set forth below. Our etgtiens, beliefs and projections are
expressed in good faith and we believe that thew lsareasonable basis, including without limitatioar examination of historical operating
trends, data contained in our records and other @adilable from third parties. There can be norm@sge that our expectations, beliefs or
projections will result, be achieved, or be accasf@d. In addition to other factors and mattersudised elsewhere in this Form SB-2, the
following are important factors that in our viewubd cause material adverse affects on our finamciatition and results of operations: the
risks and uncertainties related to our future oji@mal and financial results, the risks and undsties relating to our Internet operations,
competitive factors, the timing of the opening®tifer clubs, the availability of acceptable finamcto fund corporate expansion efforts, our
dependence on key personnel, the ability to mapnpgeations and the future operational strength afialyement, and the laws governing the
operation of adult entertainment businesses. We hawbligation to update or revise these forwanking statements to reflect the
occurrence of future events or circumstances.

For a discussion of some additional factors that o#use actual results to differ materially froragé suggested by the forward-looking
statements, please read carefully the informatiateu "Risk Factors" beginning on page 2. The idieation in this document of factors that
may affect future performance and the accuracywbdrd-looking statements is meant to be illusieatind by no means exhaustive. All
forward-looking statements should be evaluated thighunderstanding of their inherent uncertainty.
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We operate in a very competitive and rapidly chagginvironment. New risks emerge from time to tand it is not possible for our
management to predict all risks, nor can we adbessnpact of all risks on our business or the mixte which any risk, or combination of
risks, may cause actual results to differ from ¢hesntained in any forward-looking statements.féivard-looking statements included in
this prospectus are based on information avail@bles on the date of the prospectus. Except textent required by applicable laws or rules,
we undertake no obligation to publicly update atise any forwardeoking statement, whether as a result of new mftion, future events
otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forwhrdking statements attributable to us or persotisg@on our behalf are expressly qualified
in their entirety by the cautionary statements ammd throughout this prospectus.

You may rely only on the information contained histprospectus. We have not authorized anyoneadqe information different from that
contained in this prospectus. Neither the delivarthis prospectus nor the sale of Common Stocknséaat information contained in this
prospectus is correct after the date of this pretsige This prospectus is not an offer to sell dicgation of an offer to buy these securities in
any circumstances under which the offer or solicitais unlawful.

THE BUSINESS

Our name is Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. \Wieently own and operate a total of nine adult td@itbs that offer live adult entertainment,
restaurant and bar operations. Three of our clplesate under the name "Rick's Cabaret" and fothietlubs operate under the name "XT
Our nightclubs are in Houston, Austin and San Aittphexas; Charlotte, North Carolina; Minneapdlinnesota; and New York, New Yol

In January 2005, we acquired a club in New YorkwNeork. We are completing renovation of the locatand anticipate opening this club as
a fourth "Rick's Cabaret" in September 2005. IneJ2d04, we converted our original Rick's Cabarghtaiub in Houston's Galleria District
into "Club Onyx", an upscale venue that welcomésudtomers but cater especially to urban profesdsy businessmen and professional
athletes. We also own and operate a sports bar tiiel@ame of "Hummers" in Houston and own or ojggpaemiere adult entertainment
Internet websites.

Our online entertainment sites are xxxPassword.&@uouplesTouch.com, CouplesClick.net and NaughtyBaa. The site xxxPassword.com
features adult content licensed through Voice Méddie. CouplesTouch.com and CouplesClick.net areqmal sites for those in the swinging
lifestyle. Naughtybids.com is our online adult aoitsite. It contains consumaitiated auctions for items such as adult videqmarel, phot
sets, adult paraphernalia and other erotica. Térer¢ypically approximately 10,000 active auctiahshis site at any given time. We charge
the seller a fee for each successful auction. Adlur sites use proprietary software platforms teritby us to deliver the best experience to the
user without being constrained by off-the-sheltwafe solutions.

Our website address is www.Ricks.com. We make abtalfree of charge our Annual Report on Form 1®BKSuarterly Reports on Form
10-QSB, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all amesmisto those reports as soon as reasonably @bletiafter such material is
electronically filed with the SEC under Securiti®echange Act of 1934, as amended. Information doetkin the website shall not be
construed as part of this prospectus.

References to us in this prospectus registratiamestent include our 100%-owned and 51%-owned cimtaget subsidiaries.
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES-NIGHTCLUBS

Prior to the opening of the first Rick's Cabare1 @83 in Houston, Texas, the topless nightclubrimss was characterized by small
establishments generally managed by their owneer&ing policies of these establishments were déenthe sites were generally dimly lit,
standards for performers' personal
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appearance and personality were not maintainedt avas customary for performers to alternate betwagncing and waiting tables. The
guantity and quality of bar service was low anddfedas not frequently offered. Music was usuallyrtfiaock and roll, played at a loud level
by a disc jockey. Usually, only cash was acceptahy businessmen felt uncomfortable in such enwirents. Recognizing a void in the
market for a first-class adult nightclub, we desidRick's Cabaret to target the more affluent eustdoy providing a unique quality
entertainment environment. The following summarizesareas of operation that distinguish us:

Female Entertainment. Our policy is to maintainhhégandards for both personal appearance and ditgdor the topless entertainers and
waitresses. Of equal importance is a performeilgyato present herself attractively and to talkiwcustomers. We prefer that the performers
we hire be experienced dancers. We make a deteraniras to whether a particular applicant is suitddased on such factors of appearance,
attitude, dress, communication skills and demeafoall clubs, except for our Minnesota locatidme entertainers are independent
contractors. We do not schedule their work hours.

Management. We often recruit staff from inside tihygess industry, in the belief that management witperience in the sector adds to our
ability to grow and attract quality entertainersaddgement with experience is able to train newurecfrom outside the industry.

Compliance Policies/[Employees. We have a policgnsfuring that our business is carried on in conityrmith local, state and federal laws.
In particular, we have a "no tolerance" policy adllegal drug use in or around the premises. Pegtiaced throughout the nightclubs
reinforce this policy, as do periodic unannounceatshes of the entertainers' lockers. Entertasmegdswaitresses who arrive for work are not
allowed to leave the premises without the permissfomanagement. If an entertainer does leaverémipes, she is not allowed to return to
work until the next day. We continually monitor thehavior of entertainers, waitresses and custotoeygsure that proper standards of
behavior are observed.

Compliance Policies/Credit Cards. We review altidreard charges made by our customers. We hapkage a formal policy requiring that
all credit card charges must be approved, in vgijtby management before any charges are acceptathddment is trained to review credit
card charges to ensure that the only charges apgfov payment are for food, drink and entertaintnen

Food and Drink. We believe that a key to the suecé®ur branded adult nightclubs is a qualitystfitlass bar and restaurant operation to
compliment our adult entertainment. We employ sErvhanagers who recruit and train professionalsteditand ensure that each customer
receives prompt and courteous service. We emplefsahith restaurant experience. Our bar manageler amventory and schedule bar staff.
We believe that the operation of a first classaastnt is a necessary component to the operatiarpcgmiere adult cabaret, as is the provi
of premium wine, liquor and beer in order to enghid the customer perceives and obtains good v@luerestaurant operations provide
business lunch buffets and full lunch and dinnenmservice with hot and cold appetizers, saladspse, steak, and lobster. An extensive
selection of quality wines is available.

Controls. Operational and accounting controls aseetial to the successful operation of a cashsite nightclub and bar business. We have
designed and implemented internal procedures amilate designed to ensure the integrity of our apenal and accounting records.
Wherever practicable, we separate management peisivom all cash handling so that managemenbisiied from and does not handle any
cash. We use a combination of accounting and palisigentory control mechanisms to maintain a Hegtel of integrity in our accounting
practices.
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Information technology plays a significant rolecapturing and analyzing a variety of informatiorptovide management with the
information necessary to efficiently manage andmthe nightclub. Deposits of cash and creditigaceipts are reconciled each day to a
daily income report. In addition, we review on ayhasis (i) cash and credit card summaries whiehogether all cash and credit card
transactions occurring at the front door, the lrathe club and the cashier station, (ii) a sumnudrhe daily bartenders' check-out reports,
and (iii) a daily cash requirements analysis whiatonciles the previous day's cash on hand toeiip@inements for the next day's operations.
These daily computer reports alert managementyfariances from expected financial results baseHistorical norms. We conduct a
monthly independent overview of our financial cdiwdi and operating results.

Atmosphere. We maintain a high design standardirrfaxilities and decor. The furniture and furnigds in the nightclubs are designed to
create the feeling of an upscale restaurant. Thedseystem is designed to provide quality sourewatls where conversations can still take
place. The environment is carefully monitored farsic selection, entertainer and waitress appea@mteall aspects of customer service on a
continuous basis.

VIP Room. In keeping with our emphasis on servimgupper-end of the businessmen's market, somer afightclubs include a VIP room,
which is open to individuals who purchase membesshh VIP room provides a higher level of servioe &uxury.

Advertising and Promotion. Our consumer marketimgtegy is to position Rick's Cabarets as premgatertainment facilities that provide
exceptional topless entertainment in a fun, yetrdist, environment. We use a variety of highly ¢ééed methods to reach our customers: t
publications, local radio, cable television, newsgra, billboards, taxi-cab reader boards, andritexriet, as well as a variety of promotional
campaigns. These campaigns ensure that the Riakaré& name is kept before the public.

Rick's Cabaret has received a significant amountedia exposure over the years in national magaauneh as Playboy, Penthouse, Glamour
Magazine, The Ladies Home Journal, Time Magazingé,T&exas Monthly Magazine. Segments about Rickie la&red on national and local
television programs such as "Extra" and "Insideidi, and we have provided entertainers for Pas\Rew features as well. Business
stories about Rick's Cabaret have appeared in TdeStreet Journal, Los Angeles Times, Houston Bess Journal, and numerous other
regional publications.

NIGHTCLUB LOCATIONS

We currently operate clubs under the name "Rickisafet” in Houston, Texas, Minneapolis, Minnesatal Charlotte, North Carolina. We
intend to open a "Rick's Cabaret" in New York, Néark in September 2005. We also operate a nighticltHbouston's Galleria District as
"Club Onyx", an upscale venue that welcomes altarusrs but cater especially to urban professiomaisinessmen and professional athletes.
Additionally, we own four nightclubs in San Antonidustin, and Houston, Texas that operate undendinee XTC. We also own a

controlling interest in and operate a sport baleddiIHummers". We sold our New Orleans nightcluldiarch 1999, but it continues to use
name "Rick's Cabaret" under a licensing agreeniemrarly 2003, we acquired 51% control of the WHldrse Cabaret adult nightclub near
Hobby Airport, Houston, Texas and operate it a$ giaour popular XTC Cabaret group. In May 2003, apened a sports bar called
"Hummers", which is located next to Wild Horse Cadvain Houston, Texas.
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RECENT NIGHTCLUB TRANSACTIONS

1. On March 3, 2004, we acquired the assets anddsssof a 7,000 square foot gentlemen's club itiNidouston, which became our fourth
XTC Cabaret. As a part of the transaction, we eatanto a new five-year lease with an option feefadditional years. The results of
operations of this new venue are included in tleapanying consolidated financial statements frieendate of acquisition.

2. In April 2003, we organized RCI Ventures, Ireatquire Nocturnal Concepts, Inc., which operatean addition to our XTC Cabaret
group, calledXTC Galleria". As part of this transaction, wertsferred our ownership of Tantric Enterprises, (oar subsidiary that operal
Club Encounters) to RCI Ventures, Inc. As a resfithese transactions we own a 51% interest in R&itures, Inc. On September 30, 2004,
we sold our shares in RCI Ventures, Inc. to uneeldhird parties for $15,000 cash and a $235,000 rezeivable with an annual interest rate
of 6% over five years. As a part of the transacttbae Purchaser entered into a five-year leas€liagb Encounters with an option for five
additional years.

3. On September 15, 2004, our wholly-owned subsidRCI Entertainment (New York), Inc., a New Yarérporation, entered into a
definitive Stock Purchase Agreement with PeregEnterprises, Inc., a New York corporation and litareholders, pursuant to which RCI
New York agreed to purchase all of the shares ofaon stock of Peregrine. Peregrine owned and agmbeat adult entertainment cabe
located in midtown Manhattan. The cabaret clulbdsited near the Empire State Building and Madisqum& Garden, and is less than 10
blocks from Times Square. We completed this traiimaon January 18, 2005.

Under the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreemempuichase price of the transaction was $7,625@8@&ble $2,500,000 in cash at closing
and $5,125,000 payable in a promissory note beaimgle interest at the rate of 4.0% per annum.Hiteenissory Note is payable
commencing 120 days after Closing as follows: lf@)gayment of $58,333.33 per month for twenty-four

(24) consecutive months; (b) the payment of $63&38r twenty-four (24) consecutive months; (@ frayment of $68,333.33 for twelve
(12) consecutive months; and (d) a lump sum paymtite remaining balance to be paid on the sikst-{61st) month. $2,000,000 of the
principal amount of the Promissory Note is conleetinto shares of our restricted common stockiaep ranging from $4.00 to $7.50 per
share. The parties also entered a Stock PledgesAmgmet and Security Agreement to secure the Promidate.

Upon closing of the transaction, the owners of g@ne entered into a fivgear covenant not to compete with Peregrine, RG¥ Merk or the
Company. In September 2005, we intend to openabaret club as "Rick's Cabaret" which will occuflyGDO square feet on three levels,
with an additional 4,000 square feet availabledfifice space.

4. On March 31, 2005, we entered an Stock Purchgesement with MBG Acquisition, LLC, a Delaware Ilted liability company to sell all

of the issued and outstanding shares of RCI Eimentent (Houston), Inc., our wholly owned subsidjaspich owned and operated an adult
entertainment cabaret known as Rick's Cabaret thSooated at 15301 Gulf Freeway, Houston, Texag. Agreement provided for a sales

price of $550,000 which was paid in cash upon ofpsi

5. On June 10, 2005, our wholly owned subsidiagl Rntertainment (North Carolina), Inc., a Northr@ana corporation entered a Purchase
Agreement with Top Shelf, LLC, a North Carolinaiied liability company and Tony Hege, the holdeiTop Shelf's membership interests
purchase all of the issued and outstanding memipeirsierests of Top Shelf which owns a
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nightclub known as "The Manhattan Club" locate€harlotte, North Carolina. RCI North Carolina haeb managing the Club under the
name "Rick's Cabaret" since February 2005.

The Purchase Agreement provides for a purchase pfi$1,000,000 which is payable with 180,000 shafeour common stock valued at
$3.75 per share and a seven year promissory ntie imamount of $325,000 bearing interest at theah¥% per annum. The Note is payable
with an initial payment due November 1, 2005, ¢éiast only for the period of time from the dateCbdsing until October 31, 2005, plus a
principal reduction payment in the amount of $3,809Thereafter, RCI North Carolina will make eigitiree (83) successive equal monthly
payments commencing December 1, 2005, of prineipdlinterest in the amount of $4,905.12 until paitull. The Note is secured by the
assets of RCI North Carolina.

Pursuant to the terms of the Note, on or after Ndyer 1, 2005, Hege shall have the right, but netthligation to have Rick's purchase from
Hege 4,285 Shares per month, calculated at a peicehare equal to $3.75 until Hege has receivethbof $1,000,000 from the sale of the
Shares less the amount of the Note. At our electioing any given month, we may either buy the MonShares or, if we elect not to buy
the Monthly Shares from Hege, then Hege shallteelMonthly Shares in the open market. Any deficiebetween the amount which Hege
receives from the sale of the Monthly Shares ardthlue of the Shares shall be paid by us withiagh

(3) days of the date of sale of the Monthly Shait@ing that particular month. Our obligation to ghase the Monthly Shares from Hege shall
terminate and cease at such time as Hege hasedciwvtal of $1,000,000 from the sale of the Shdess the amount of the Note.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES-INTERNET ADULT ENTERTAINMENT WE B SITES

In 1999, we began adult Internet Web site operati@ur xxxPassword.com website features adult ocbtitensed through Voice Media, Inc.
We added CouplesTouch.com in 2002 as a datingaitzing to those in the swinging lifestyle. Weenetty purchased CouplesClick.net, a
competing site of our CouplesTouch.com site, ireotd broaden our membership throughout the UrStates. As part of this transaction, we
organized RCI Dating Services, Inc., which operagead addition to our internet operations, to aeqbouplesClick.net from ClickMatch,
LLC. We transferred our ownership in CouplesTouamdo RCI Dating and, as a result of the transactiee obtained an 85% interest in F
Dating, with the remaining 15% owned by ClickMatch.

Our Internet traffic is generated through the pasehof traffic from third-party adult sites or Imtet domain owners and the purchase of
banner advertisements or "key word" searches fraariet search engines. In addition, the bulk oftaiffic now comes from search engines
on which we don't pay for preferential listings.efé are numerous adult entertainment sites omtbeenket that compete with our sites.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES-INTERNET ADULT AUCTION WEB SITE S

Our adult auction site features erotica and otdattanaterials that are purchased in a bid-ask atettWe charge the seller a fee for each
successful auction. Where previously we operatedhsividual auctions sites, now we have combirtegse into one main site,
NaughtyBids.com, to maximize our brand name redagnof this site. The site contains new and usidtariented consumer initiate
auctions for items such as adult videos, appahetmsets and adult paraphernalia. NaughtyBidsppsoximately 10,000 items for sale at
any given time. NaughtyBids.com offers third pastgbmasters an opportunity to create residual inciopame web surfers through the
NaughtyBids Affiliate Program, which pays third pawebmasters a percentage of every closing austdmin which the buyer original
came from the affiliate webmaster's site. Therenaraerous auction sites on the Internet that affledt products and erotica.
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TRANSACTION WITH VOICE MEDIA

In May 2002, we purchased 700,000 shares of ouransmmon stock from Voice Media, Inc. for an aggtegaice of $918,700 (or $795,302
adjusted for imputed interest) that equals appratéty $1.32 per share. That purchase price wasvbmlarket value on the date of the
purchase. Voice Media, Inc. presently owns noneuofshares of common stock. These shares are pyelselu as treasury shares. We may
cancel these shares at a later date. The contsbpef Voice Media, Inc. is Ron Levi, who was adator until June 2002. The terms of this
transaction were the result of arms-length negotiatbetween Voice Media, Inc. and us. We beli&ecttansaction was favorable to us in
view of the market value of our common stock arelghyment terms, although no appraisal or fairnopgson was done. All management
contracts previously signed relating to the managerof xxxPassword.com will remain in effect. Panstuto the transaction, the payment
schedule is as follows:

(a) The amount of $229,675 due on January 10, 2003;

(b) The amount of $229,675 due on January 10, 2004;

(c) The amount of $229,675 due on January 10, 2805;

(d) A final payment in the amount of $229,675 duelanuary 10, 2006.
TRANSACTION WITH TAURUS ENTERTAINMENT

On June 12, 2003, we entered into an Asset Purdk@eement with Taurus Entertainment Companies, imereby we acquired all the
assets and liabilities of Taurus in exchange f@63,008 shares of Taurus out of the 4,002,0084kaiwned plus $20,000 in cash. We also
executed an Indemnification and Transaction Feeément with Taurus for which we received $270,000aish, with $140,000 payable at
closing, $60,000 due on July 15, 2003 and $70,@@0ath August 15, 2003. We have received the $6(89mMhent and have restructured the
remaining balance originally due August 15, 200Bhw note receivable bearing 12% annual interest a five year term.

COMPETITION

The adult topless club entertainment businessgisihricompetitive with respect to price, service éoahtion. All of our nightclubs compete
with a number of locally owned adult clubs, somevbbse names may have name recognition that ethadlsf Rick's Cabaret or XTC.
While there may be restrictions on the locatiom ab-called "sexually oriented business", therenarkarriers to entry into the adult cabaret
entertainment market. For example, there are appaigly 50 adult nightclubs located in the Houstoea, all of which are in direct
competition with our Houston cabarets. In MinneépdRick's Cabaret is favorably located downtowd &na short walk from the Metrodor
Stadium and the Target Center. There are two adylitclubs in Minneapolis in direct competition kvits.

The names "Rick's" and "Rick's Cabaret" and "XT®&at" are proprietary. We believe that the comtimnaof our existing brand name
recognition and the distinctive entertainment emwinent that we have created will allow us to commdtectively in the industry and within
the cities where we operate. Although we beliea te are well positioned to compete successfiligre can be no assurance that we wi
able to maintain our high level of name recognitionl prestige within the marketplace.
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GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS

We are subject to various federal, state and llaged affecting our business activities. In parieuin Texas the authority to issue a permit to
sell alcoholic beverages is governed by the TeXash®lic Beverage Commission, which has the autian its discretion, to issue the
appropriate permits. We presently hold a Mixed Bage Permit and a Late Hour Permit. These Permétsubject to annual renewal,
provided we have complied with all rules and rejofes governing the permits. Renewal of a permdiuibject to protest, which may be made
by a law enforcement agency or by the public. jmdkent of a protest, the TABC may hold a hearinghach time the views of interested
parties are expressed. The TABC has the authdtiy such hearing not to issue a renewal of théegted alcoholic beverage permit. Rick's
has never been the subject of a protest hearirigsidhe renewal of Permits. Minnesota has sintdess that may limit the availability of a
permit to sell alcoholic beverages or that may glevor suspension or revocation of a permit tbaebholic beverages in certain
circumstances. It is our policy, prior to expandingp any new market, to take steps to ensure damge with all licensing and regulatory
requirements for the sale of alcoholic beveragesedkas the sale of food.

In addition to various regulatory requirements etifeg the sale of alcoholic beverages, in Housaonl in many other cities, the location of a
topless cabaret is subject to restriction by ciyimance. Topless nightclubs in Houston, Texasabgect to "The Sexually Oriented Business
Ordinance", which contains prohibitions on the tamaof an adult cabaret. The prohibitions dealegaly with distance from schools,
churches, and other sexually oriented businessksamiain restrictions based on the percentagesidences within the immediate vicinity
the sexually oriented business. The granting afau8lly Oriented Business Permit is not subjedtisaoretion; the Business Permit must be
granted if the proposed operation satisfies thairements of the Ordinance. (See "Legal Proceetingsin.)

In Minneapolis, we are required to be in compliangth state and city liquor licensing laws. Ourdtion in Minneapolis is presently zoned to
enable the operation of a topless cabaret. We avetaintiff in civil litigation against the defenaaCity of Minneapolis. On September 16,
2003, the suit was settled mainly on the basistti@City of Minneapolis will enact a late hourfgeoation ordinance and allows qualifying
liquor establishments, including us at our curtenation, to operate until 3:00 a.m. We believe,thmathe long run, the restoration of late
hours operation on a permanent basis is prefetalgeing forward with the litigation and in our bésterest.

In San Antonio and Austin, Texas, we are requiceblet in compliance with city or county sexuallyemed business ordinances. In New
York, we will be required to be in compliance wéh state and local laws governing the sale ofdigand zoning for adult oriented
businesses.

TRADEMARKS

Our rights to the trademarks "Rick's" and "Rickab@ret" are established under common law, baseu ayposubstantial and continuous use
of these trademarks in interstate commerce sinemst as early as 1987. We have registered ouceanark, 'RICK'S AND STARS
DESIGN", with the United States Patent and Tradé&rdfice. We have also obtained service mark regjisins from the Patent and
Trademark Office for the "RICK'S CABARET" serviceank. There can be no assurance that the stepsweetdieen to protect our service
marks will be adequate to deter misappropriation.

EMPLOYEES AND INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

As of August 17, 2005, we had approximately 407 leyges, of which 54 are in management positior@duding corporate and
administrative operation and approximately 353 bfol are engaged in entertainment, food and beeesagyice, including bartenders,
waitresses, and entertainers. None of our
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employees are represented by a union and we comgidemployee relations to be good. Additionally, have independent contractor
relationships with more than 600 entertainers, ateself-employed and perform at our locations anraexclusive basis as independent
contractors. Our entertainers in Minneapolis, Msota act as commissioned employees.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

SEXUALLY ORIENTED BUSINESS ORDINANCE OF HOUSTON, TE XAS

In January 1997, the City Council of the City ofudton passed a comprehensive new Ordinance reguthg location of and the conduct
within Sexually Oriented Businesses (the "Ordindncehe Ordinance established new minimum distaticasSexually Oriented Businesses
may be located from schools, churches, playgroandsother sexually oriented businesses. There meeprovisions in the Ordinance
exempting previously permitted sexually orientedibasses from the effect of the new Ordinance9B¥1we were informed that one of our
Houston locations at 3113 Bering Drive failed toatide requirements of the Ordinance and accorglihg renewal of our Business License
at that location was denied.

The Ordinance provided that a business which waigede renewal of its operating permit due to clearig distance requirements under the
Ordinance would be entitled to continue in operafar a period of time (the "Amortization Periodf'}he owner were unable to recoup, by
the effective date of the Ordinance, its investnienie business that was incurred through the dfatiee passage and approval of the
Ordinance.

We filed a request with the City of Houston reqirgstain extension of time during which operationswatnorth Houston facility could
continue under the Amortization Period provisiohthe Ordinance since we were unable to recoupramastment prior to the effective date
of the Ordinance. An administrative hearing wasi gl the City of Houston to determine the apprdpriamortization Period to be granted to
us. At the Hearing, we were granted an amortizatieniod that has since been reached. We haveghteto appeal any decision of the
Hearing official to the district court in the StatETexas.

In May 1997, the City of Houston agreed to defeplementation of the Ordinance until the constitudility of the entire Ordinance was
decided by court trial. In February 1998, the UD&trict Court for the Southern District of Tex&tguston Division, struck down certain
provisions of the Ordinance, including the prouwisinandating a 1,500 foot distance between a cldisahools, churches and other sexually
oriented business, leaving intact the provisiothef750 foot distance as it existed prior to thdiance.

The City of Houston has appealed the District Csuulings with the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. the event that the City of Houston is
successful in the appeal, we could be out of caanpk and such an outcome could have an adversetiopaur future. Our nightclub in our
south Houston location has a valid permit/licers will expire in December 2005. The permits far north Houston location and our
Bering Drive location have expired.

There are other provisions in the Houston, Texalirfance, such as provisions governing the levégbfing in a sexually oriented business,
the distance between a customer and dancer wiildahcer is performing in a state of undress aadigions regarding the licensing of
dancers and club managers that were upheld byotlm¢ which may be detrimental to our business. Wepncert with other sexually orient
businesses, are appealing these aspects of theaDcd.

In November, 2003, a three judge panel from th#nFfircuit Court of Appeals published their Opiniahich affirmed the Trial Court's rulir
regarding lighting levels, customer and dancer isgjma
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distances and licensing of dancers and staff. Thet@f Appeals, however, did not follow the Triaburt's ruling regarding the distance from
which a club may be located from a church or schbloé Court of Appeals held that a distance measené of 1,500 feet would be upheld
upon a showing by the City of Houston that itsrosithat there were alternative sites availabledtmcating the clubs could be substantiated.
The case was remanded for trial on the issue dditeenative sites.

There are other technical issues, which could amfditly bear upon the location of the clubs, whigdre not decided at the trial level during
the initial phase of the case. It is anticipateat these technical issues will be joined in thalM@ourt. The City has not sought to modify any
of the terms of the injunction against enforcenadrany location provision of the Ordinance.

The appeals process as it relates to the Coulitigslin 1998 has been exhausted. The Trial Castdntered a new scheduling order which
places trial on the remaining issues for June 20@@ler the holding of the Fifth Circuit Court of pgals, the City of Houston has the burden
of proof to show that, under the distance measunésreontained in the 1997 ordinance, there are @80 alternate sites available for
relocation. If the City of Houston can meet thigiah burden, then the Trial Court will consideetremaining location issues which were not
decided during the initial summary phase of theechsthe event the City of Houston can meet itslbn and the Trial Court moves forward
with the case, an appeal is anticipated. A rulingh® remaining issues in favor of the City of Homscould have an adverse impact on the
Rick's locations in Houston, Texas.

OTHER LEGAL MATTERS

On May 2, 2003, a lawsuit was filed in the Unitedt8s District Court for the Western District ofXés, San Antonio division, on behalf of
XTC Cabaret, and others, as a result of the Citgasf Antonio having adopted a new ordinance, wlanigng other things, banned nude
dancing. This suit asked the Court to declare td&ance unconstitutional and enjoin the City frenforcing it. Prior to a resolution of this
litigation, XTC Cabaret withdrew as a party to thesuit. Although a settlement was reached withrémeaining parties in June 2005, it did
not include nude dancing. XTC has elected to addfes constitutionality of the ordinance by appegakny conviction obtained by the City
through the state courts.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ©NDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith our audited consolidated financial statatseand the related notes to the financial
statements included in this registration statement.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT AND INFORMATION

We are including the following cautionary statemierthis Form SB2 registration statement to make applicable and éak/antage of the s:
harbor provision of the Private Securities LitigatiReform Act of 1995 for any forward-looking statents made by us or on behalf of us.
Forward-looking statements include statements aoimag plans, objectives, goals, strategies, fuauents or performance and underlying
assumptions and other statements, which are dihardtatements of historical facts. Certain statesiia this prospectus are forward-looking
statements. Words such as "expects," "believesticlpates," "may," and "estimates" and similarregsions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements. Such statements are subjeiski®and uncertainties that could cause actualtee® differ materially from those
projected. Such risks and uncertainties are stt fmlow. Our expectations, beliefs and projectiamsexpressed in good faith and we believe
that they have a reasonable basis, including withmitation, our examination of historical operaditrends, data contained in our records
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and other data available from third parties. Tteane be no assurance that our expectations, beligfijections will result, be achieved, or
accomplished. In addition to other factors and emattliscussed elsewhere in this prospectus, tlesviog are important factors that in our
view could cause material adverse affects on manitial condition and results of operations: teksiand uncertainties related to our future
operational and financial results, the risks anceutainties relating to our Internet operationsnpetitive factors, the timing of the openings
of other clubs, the availability of acceptable fioang to fund corporate expansion efforts, our deljeace on key personnel, the ability to
manage operations and the future operational dttfgnanagement, and the laws governing the dperaf adult entertainment businesses.
We have no obligation to update or revise thesgdoi-looking statements to reflect the occurrerfdeitore events or circumstances.

GENERAL
We operate in two businesses in the adult enteniin industry:

1. We own and operate upscale adult nightclubsrsgprimarily businessmen and professionals. Oghteiubs offer live adult entertainme
restaurant and bar operations. We own and opezatmsadult nightclubs under the name "Rick's Cabarel "XTC" in Houston, Austin and
San Antonio, Texas, Charlotte, North Carolina, Rhdneapolis, Minnesota. We own a club in New Yddew York, which we intend to
begin operating in September 2005 as a "Rick's @abaVe also own and operate a sport bar calledttummers" and an upscale venue
caters especially to urban professionals, businessnd professional athletes called "Club Onyx*duston. No sexual contact is permitted
at any of our locations.

2. We have extensive Internet activities.

a) We currently own three adult Internet member¥tigb sites at www.CoupleTouch.com, CouplesClickamet www.xxxpassword.com. V
acquire xxxpassword.com site content from wholesale

b) We operate an online auction site www.NaughtgBidm. This site provides our customers with theoofunity to purchase adult products
and services in an auction format. We earn revehyeharging fees for each transaction conducteth@mutomated site.

Our nightclub revenues are derived from the sal@abr, beer, wine, food, merchandise, cover casrgnembership fees, independent
contractors' fees, commissions from vending and Amathines, valet parking and other products andcgerOur Internet revenues are
derived from subscriptions to adult content Intémmebsites, traffic/referral revenues, and comrissiearned on the sale of products and
services through Internet auction sites, and adhbgvities. Our fiscal year end is September 30.

Beginning in fiscal 2002 and continuing througltéik2004, we greatly reduced our usage of promatipricing for membership fees for our
adult entertainment web sites. This reduced owrregs from these web sites.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondféettaertain reported amounts in the financialesteents and accompanying notes.
Estimates and assumptions are based on histoxipatience, forecasted future events and variousr assumptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Estimatesssndhations may vary under different assumptions
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or conditions. We evaluate our estimates and assoingpon an ongoing basis. We believe the accogaiicies below are critical in the
portrayal of our financial condition and resultsopferations.

ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable trade is comprised of creditl charges, which are generally converted to catiwo to five days after a purchase is
made. Our accounts receivable other is comprisedngiioyee advances and other miscellaneous redesvatiotes receivable are included in
other assets in the accompanying consolidated talstmeets. We recognize allowances for doubtfidwats or notes when, based on
management judgment, circumstances indicate tltatiats or notes receivable will not be collectelderE is no allowance for doubtful
accounts or notes receivable as of September 8@, 2@d 2003.

INVENTORIES

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @ochpany merchandise. Inventories are carried dbther of cost, average cost, which
approximates actual cost determined on a firstifist-out ("FIFO") basis, or market.

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Marketable securities at September 30, 2004 and 200sist of common stock. As of September 30, 20@42003, our marketable securi
were classified as available-for-sale, which areied at fair value, with unrealized gains and ésseeported as other comprehensive income
within the stockholders' equity section of the aopanying consolidated balance sheets. The cosadfatable equity securities sold is
determined on a specific identification basis. Tdievalue of marketable equity securities is basedjuoted market prices.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depiatia computed using the straight-line methodrdkie estimated useful lives of the assets
for financial reporting purposes. Buildings havémeated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yeargniure, equipment and leasehold
improvements have estimated useful lives betwaendind seven years. Expenditures for major reneavaldetterments that extend the
useful lives are capitalized. Expenditures for narmaintenance and repairs are expensed as inciilteccost of assets sold or abandoned
and the related accumulated depreciation are diteéhfrom the accounts and any gains or lossesharged or credited in the accompanying
statement of income of the respective period.

GOODWILL

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, Gobddwd Other Intangibles Assets, which addresseadheunting for goodwill and other
intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill iatahgible assets with indefinite lives are nogenamortized, but reviewed on an annual
basis for impairment. We adopted SFAS effectiveobet 1, 2001.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Except for VIP Memberships, we recognize revenubeapoint-of-sale upon receipt of cash, checlgredit card charge. Membership
revenue is deferred and recognized over the estthrabmbership usage period, which is estimatee ttband 24 months for annual and
lifetime memberships, respectively. We recognizerimet revenue from monthly subscriptions to itsnenentertainment sites when
notification
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of a new subscription is received from the thirdty&osting company or from the credit card comparspally two to three days after the
transaction has occurred. We recognize Interndt@uevenue when payment is received from theitoadd as revenues are not deemed
estimable nor collection deemed probable prioh&d point.

ADVERTISING AND MARKETING

Advertising and marketing expenses is primarily posed of costs related to public advertisementgjarehways, which are used for
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketingesges are expensed as incurred and are incluagerating expenses.

INCOME TAXES

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognfaethe future tax consequences attributable tedihces between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabiliiad their respective tax bases. Deferred taxsaaset liabilities are measured using enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable incomeerytars in which those temporary differences apeeted to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities ohange in tax rates is recognized in income irpéréd that includes the enactment date. In
addition, a valuation allowance is establishecetiuce any deferred tax asset for which it is ddatexththat it is more likely than not that so
portion of the deferred tax asset will not be =l

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2004 AS COMPARED TO THE FISCAL YEAR
ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2003

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004, wWebiasolidated total revenues of $15,959,684, coetp consolidated total revenues of
$15,059,569 for the year ended September 30, 2008 was an increase of $900,115 or 5.97%. Whildagan increase in total revenues in
our existing and new nightclub operations of $1,856, the decrease in total revenues resulted tneminternet businesses was $256,835.
Revenues from nightclub operations for same-looateme-period increased by 5.88%, while revenuési@fnet businesses for same-sites
same-period decreased by 24.38%. The overall isere@as primarily due to the increase in revenuesipgxisting and new club operations.

Our net income before minority interest for theryeaded September 30, 2004 was $780,029 compafetD8)936 for the year ended
September 30, 2003. The increase in net incomevirasrily due to the increase of income from operat. Our net income from operations
for nightclub operations was $2,542,482 for theryaled September 30, 2004 compared with $1,934¢t508e year ended September 30,
2003. Our net income from operations for our Ingetvusinesses was $88,958 for the year ended Septd@d, 2004 compared with $36,421
for the year ended September 30, 2003. Our netriador our nightclub operations for the same-laratame-period increased by 35.48%.
Our net income for our Internet operations forghme-web-site-same-period increased by 144.25%.

Our cost of goods sold for the year ended Septethe2004 was 12.42% of total revenues comparéd &8 % of related revenues for the
year ended September 30, 2003. The decrease wasichaily to decrease in costs of our Interneivatgts and an addition of XTC clul
which has low cost of goods sold. Our cost of gasmld for the nightclub operations for the yearesh&eptember 30, 2004 was 12.55% of
our total revenues from club operations compareiitd0% for the year ended September 30, 2003.dineied our efforts to achieve
reductions in cost of goods sold of the club openatthrough improved inventory management. Wecarginuing a program to improve
margins from liquor and food sales and food sereifieiency. Our cost of sales from our Interneégiions for the year ended Septembel

Page 1¢



2004 was 8.77% compared to 17.41% of related reagefar the year ended September 30, 2003. We hgplernented measures to reduce
expenses in our Internet operations.

Our payroll and related costs for the year endexie®eber 30, 2004 were $5,491,401 compared to $5,883or the year ended September
30, 2003. The increase was primarily due to thes@mse in payroll in opening new clubs. Our payi@ilour nightclub operations for same-
location-same-period decreased by 1.14%. Our papratame-site-same-period Internet operationeeieed by 6.53%. We believe that our
labor and management staff levels are at apprepesels.

Our other general and administrative expensestoyéar ended September 30, 2004 were $7,419,50Faced to $7,112,974 for the year
ended September 30, 2003. The increase was pyndad to the increase in taxes & permit, rent, iasoe, utilities, and advertising &
marketing expenses from opening new locations. IGibking, general and administrative expensesdone-location-same-period for the
nightclub operations increased by 5.32%, whilestime expenses for same-site same-period for Intepeeations decreased by 37.27%.

Our interest expense for the year ended Septenth@084 was $344,438 compared to $384,221 for ¢lae gnded September 30, 2003. The
decrease was primarily due to the decrease in Wébtave decreased our long term debt to $3,885 610 September 30, 2004 compare
debt of $4,026,335 as of September 30, 2003.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2005 AS COMPARED TO THE NINE MONTHS
ENDED JUNE 30, 2004

For the nine months ended June 30, 2005, we habtidated total revenues of $10,504,612 comparediisolidated total revenues of
$10,647,459 for the nine months ended June 30,,20G4decrease of $142,847. The decrease inrestahues was primarily attributable to
the decrease in overall revenues generated byl@ubasiness in previous quarters plus a decrefa840887 by our internet business. Our
club operations in Houston benefited from the Sugmwl in the previous year. Total revenues for sdooation-same-period of club
operations decreased to $9,539,247 for the nindhm@anded June 30, 2005 from $9,610,536 for samedpended June 30, 2004, or by
0.74%. The decrease in internet revenues was dugr tivansition from programs which generate higdenues with very low margins to
programs which will produce higher margins from éswevenues.

The cost of goods sold for the nine months ended 30, 2005 was 12.23% of total revenues comparéd.53% for the nine months ended
June 30, 2004. This increase is attributable tathdition of Rick's club, which have higher cosgobds sold, offset by a reduction in cost
maintaining our internet operations. The cost afdgsold for the club operations for the nine msmthded June 30, 2005 was 12.69% and
11.66% for the nine months ended June 30, 2004 cdsieof goods sold from our internet operationgtie nine months ended June 30, 2005
was 4.52% compared to 9.52% for the nine montheeddne 30, 2004. The cost of goods sold for saceibn-same-period of club
operations for the nine months ended June 30, 208512.35%, compared to 11.61% for the same periddd June 30, 2004.

Payroll and related costs for the nine months eddee 30, 2005 were $3,727,169 compared to $3,8Z6¢5 the nine months ended June
2004. This increase was the result of additionedqenel added to our new club operations offsdabgr cost reduction in our existing club
operations. Management currently believes thdalter and management staff levels are appropriate.

Other general and administrative expenses for ithe months ended June 30, 2005, were $5,174,20pameah to $4,809,424 for the nine
months ended June 30, 2004. The increase was thariy to an
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increase in legal and professional, rent, indiopetrating expenses, travel and lodging, and eslittom opening new locations in New York,
New York and Charlotte, North Carolir

Interest expense for the nine months ended Jun2083, was $438,298 compared to $242,337 for the mionths ended June 30, 2004. The
increase was attributable to us obtaining new ttefihance the purchase of the club in New York.oAgune 30, 2005, the balance of long-
term debt was $12,839,849 compared to $3,923,3&Gaearlier.

Net income for the nine months ended June 30, 2635$44,913 compared to $698,087 for the nine nsostided June 30, 2004. T
decrease in net income was primarily due to theeame in operating expenses due to managing twdauations in New York and North
Carolina and increase in interest expense relatétbtacquisitions of a club in New York. Net inaofor same-location-same-period of club
operations increased to $1,973,572 for the ninethsoended June 30, 2005 from $1,899,491 for samedpended June 30, 2004, or by
3.90%. Management currently believes that the Camin position to continue to be profitable isctl 2005.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

At June 30, 2005, we had a working capital det€i($1,195,509) compared to working capital of $539 at September 30, 2004. The
decrease in working capital was primarily due wwéases in accrued liabilities and current portiblong term debt, and a decrease in pre
expenses and other current assets. The value idlaeafor-sale marketable securities decreasefidiy207, which was primarily due to
market price fluctuation.

Net cash provided by operating activities in theeninonths ended June 30, 2005 was $944,159 comipaned cash provided of $412,715
the nine months ended June 30, 2004. The incraasesh provided by operating activities was prifgatie to decreases in other current
assets and increases in accounts payable and deopenses.

We used $4,486,152 and $529,142 of cash in imgestitivities during the nine months ended June2805 and 2004, respectively.
$3,744,479 of cash was provided and $86,530 of washused in financing activities during the ninentins ended June 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

Historically, our need for capital was a resultohstruction or acquisition of new clubs, renovatid older clubs, and investments in
technology. Historically, we have also utilized italpto repurchase its common stock as part ofshare repurchase program.

On September 16, 2003, the Company was authorizéd board of directors to repurchase up to artaaal $500,000 worth of our
common stock. No shares have been purchased unisi@idn.

On November 15 and 17, 2004, we borrowed $590,060054,042,000, respectively, from a financial itegtbn at an annual interest rate of
10% over a 10 year term. The monthly paymentsiotjpal and interest are $5,694 and $10,056, reésmde. The note is secured by our
properties located at 2023 Sable Lane, San Antamibat 410 N. Sam Houston Pkwy. E., Houston, Te@asNovember 30, 2004, we
borrowed $900,000 from an unrelated individuahat tate of 11% per annum for a 10 year term. Thethiyp payment of principal and
interest is $9,290. The note is secured by ourgitigs located at 3501 Andtree, Austin and at 57di8dale, Houston, Texas. On December
30, 2004, we borrowed $1,270,000 from a financistifution at an annual interest rate of 10% ovd gear term. The monthly payment of
principal and interest is $12,256. The note is sty our property located at 3113 Bering Driveubkton, Texas. The money received from
this financing was used for the acquisition andweation of the New York club.
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We entered into a promissory note on January 185 2r $5,125,000 bearing simple interest at #ie of 4.0% per annum with a balloon
payment at the end of five years, part of whicbasvertible to restricted shares of our commonksti@rices ranging from $4.00 to $7.50
share.

On June 10, 2005, we entered into a promissoryfieot325,000 bearing interest at a rate of 7%apeum for a seven year term. The note is
secured by liens upon the assets of and hereafieirad assets of RCI Entertainment (North Carglihec.

On June 17, 2005, the Company borrowed $160,000 &rahareholder and $100,000 from an unrelatedithgil at an annual interest rate of
12% and 11% over 3 and 10 year terms, respectively.

On July 22, 2005, we entered into a secured cabledebenture with one of our shareholders foriacgpal sum of $660,000, which
includes the loan on June 17, 2005, in the amou$160,000. The term is for three years and ther@st rate is 12% per annum. The
debenture matures on August 1, 2008. The Compaayisdued 50,00 warrants at $3.00 per share itiael@ this debenture. The debenture
is secured by our ownership in Citation Land, LU@ &CI Holdings, Inc., both of which are wholly osdhsubsidiaries.

In July 2005, we received additional borrowinghe amount of $100,000 from the same unrelated ichai&l who advanced $100,000 in June
2005, and with whom we had two existing notes. fEnm is for 10 years and the interest rate is 1&¥@pnum. On August 15, 2005, the
notes were amended and the amounts from June §n($200,000) were included in one of the notes afcombined total of $1,341,520.34
payable to this individual.

In our opinion, working capital is not a true indior of our financial status. Typically, businessesur industry carry current liabilities in
excess of current assets because businessesiimdasiry receive substantially immediate paymensfdes, with nominal receivables, while
inventories and other current liabilities normalbrry longer payment terms. Vendors and purveyfiemnaemain flexible with payment tern
providing businesses in our industry with opportigsito adjust to short-term business down turns.céhsider the primary indicators of
financial status to be the long-term trend of rexegrowth, the mix of sales revenues, overall éash and profitability from operations and
the level of long-term debt.

We have not established lines of credit or finagather than the above mentioned notes payableanexisting debt. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to obtain additidimaincing on reasonable terms in the future, dlatshould the need arise.

We believe that the adult entertainment industapdard of treating entertainers as independentaainots provides us with safe harbor
protection to preclude payroll tax assessment ffior years. We have prepared plans that we belieN@rotect our profitability in the event
that sexually oriented business industry is reguiineall states to convert dancers who are nowgaddent contractors into employees.

The sexually oriented business industry is higlosnpetitive with respect to price, service and lmrgtas well as the professionalism of the
entertainment. Although we believe that we are \pelitioned to compete successfully in the futthiere can be no assurance that we will be
able to maintain our high level of name recognitionl prestige within the marketplace.
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SEASONALITY

Our nightclub operations are affected by seas@tbfs. Historically, we have experienced reduesgmues from April through September
with the strongest operating results occurringriu®ctober through March. Our experience indictitasthere are no seasonal fluctuatior
our Internet activities.

GROWTH STRATEGY

We believe that our nightclub operations can camito grow organically and through careful entitp imarkets and demographic segments
with high growth potential. Upon careful marketeasch, we may open new clubs. As is the case hétatquisition of the New York club
and the North Carolina club, we may acquire existilubs in locations that are consistent with awwgh and income targets, and which
appear receptive to the upscale club formula we lileweloped. We may form joint ventures or partmpssto reduce start-up and operating
costs, with us contributing equity in the form afrdorand name and management expertise. We magelsbtop new club concepts that are
consistent with our management and marketing siilti/or acquire real estate in connection with dpérations, although some clubs ma
in leased premises.

We also expect to continue to grow our Internefipoenters. We plan to focus on high-margin In&ractivities that leverage our marketing
skills while requiring a low level of start-up castid ongoing operating costs.

MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

MARKET INFORMATION

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ SmallCapkdt under the symbol "RICK" The following tabkts forth the quarterly high
and low closing price per share for our commonlst@ur fiscal year ends September 30.

HIGH LOW
Fourth Quarter 2003 $1.75 $1.25
First Quarter 2004 $1.84 $1.50
Second Quarter 2004 $2.84 $1.74
Third Quarter 2004 $3.30 $2.40
Fourth Quarter 2004 $2.79 $2.21
First Quarter 2005 $3.03 $2.20
Second Quarter 2005 $4.61 $2.85
Third Quarter 2005 $3.19 $2.65

On August 17, 2005, the closing price for a shé@uo common stock was $3.50.
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RECORD HOLDERS.
As of August 17, 2005, there were approximatelyld,Bolders of record of our common stock.
DIVIDENDS

We have never declared or paid any dividends orcoommon stock. We do not have any plans to pay dastlends on our common stock.
We plan to retain our future earnings, if any,it@fce operations and expand our business. Theideevhether to pay cash dividends on our
common stock will be made by our Board of Directamdts discretion, and will depend on our finalagiondition, operating results, capital
requirements and other factors that our Board oéd@drs considers relevant.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

We have had no changes in or disagreements witiuatants on accounting and financial disclosure.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We are not selling any shares of our Common Stoc¢kis offering and therefore will not receive gmpceeds from the sale thereof. We may,
however, receive the benefit of proceeds upon tmeersion of the Debenture and/or the ConvertilidéeNeld by certain selling stockhold
for which we are registering the underlying share€ommon Stock. Upon conversion of any portiothef Debenture and/or the Convertible
Note, we will apply the proceeds received direttlyhe debt for which the Debenture and/or ConkikrtNote was issued and the princi
amount(s) of the Note and/or the Debenture wiltdmuced accordingly. Additionally, we may receiveqeeds of approximately $300,000
upon the exercise of warrants, which we would apglyard general operating expenses.

The selling shareholders will pay any underwritifigcounts and commissions and expenses incurrétetselling shareholders for brokere
accounting, tax or legal services or any other agps incurred by the selling shareholders in diggasf the shares. We will bear all other
costs, fees and expenses incurred in effectingetistration of the shares covered by this prosgedncluding, without limitation, all
registration and filing fees, Nasdag Small Cap Matisting fees, blue sky registration and filiree$, and fees and expenses of our counsel
and our accountants.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS,
PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS

Our Directors are elected annually and hold oftingl the next annual meeting of our stockholderaril their successors are elected and
qualified. Officers are elected annually and sexvihe discretion of the Board of Directors. Thisreo family relationship between or among
any of our directors and executive officers. OuaBbof Directors consists of five persons. Thedielhg table sets forth our Directors and
executive officers:
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NAME AGE POSITION

Eric S. Langan 37 Director, Chairman of the B oard, President,
Chief Executive Officer, Ch ief Financial
Officer

Travis Reese 35 Director and V.P.-Director of Technology

Robert L. Watters 54 Director

Alan Bergstrom 60 Director

Steven L. Jenkins 48 Director

INFORMATION CONCERNING THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND I TS COMMITTEES

We have an Audit Committee whose members are Rab#&viatters, Alan Bergstrom and Steven L. Jenkifis.Watters was our President
until March 1999, and has not been an officer opleyee since March 1999. Mr. Watters, Mr. Bergstiammd Mr. Jenkins are independent
Directors. The primary purpose of the Audit Comagtts to oversee our financial reporting procesbaialf of the Board of Directors. The
Audit Committee meets privately with our Chief Acexding Officer and with our independent registepetllic accounting firm and evaluates
the responses by the Chief Accounting Officer lotthe facts presented and to the judgments madeibgutside independent registered
public accounting firm. Our Audit Committee hasiseved and discussed our audited financial statesrfenthe year ended September 30,
2004 with our management. Steven L. Jenkins sexyéise Audit Committee's Financial Expert.

In May 2000, our Board adopted a Charter for thdifGommittee. The Charter establishes the indegeca of our Audit Committee and

sets forth the scope of the Audit Committee's dufldhe Purpose of the Audit Committee is to condoatinuing oversight of our financial
affairs. The Audit Committee conducts an ongoingaw of our financial reports and other financiaflormation prior to their being filed wit
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or otherpiigvided to the public. The Audit Committee alseiews our systems, methods and
procedures of internal controls in the areas africial reporting, audits, treasury operationspemate finance, managerial, financial and SEC
accounting, compliance with law, and ethical condAanajority of the members of the Audit Commita® independent. The Audit
Committee is objective, and reviews and assessewdhk of our independent registered public acdagrfirm and our internal audit
department.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed thearstequired by SAS 61 and our audited financatkestents for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2004 with management and our indepénegistered public accounting firm. The Auditn@oittee has received the written
disclosures and the letter from our independenistegd public accounting firm required by Indepemece Standards Board No. 1, and the
Audit Committee has discussed with the independagistered public accounting firm the independegtstered public accounting firm's
independence. The Audit Committee recommendedet®tard of Directors that our audited financiatestaents for the fiscal year Septem
30, 2004 be included in our Annual Report on Fof¥KBB for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2864mended.

We have a Nominating Committee whose members abemRb. Watters, Alan Bergstrom and Steven L. Jesikin July 2004, the Board
unanimously adopted a Charter with regard to tloegss to be used for identifying and evaluatinginess for director. The Charter
establishes the independence of our Nominating Gtteerand sets forth the scope of the Nominatinm@dtee's duties. A majority of the
members of the Nominating Committee will be indeget. A copy of the Nominating Committee's Chacean be found on the Company's
website at www.Ricks.com.
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Subsequent to the fiscal year ending Septembe2®Bt, the Board of Directors formed a Compensafiommittee whose members are
Robert Watters, Alan Bergstrom and Steven L. Jenkdecisions concerning executive officer compeaasdbr the fiscal year ending
September 30, 2004 were made by the full Boardifdiors. Eric S. Langan and Travis Reese arethedirectors of the Company who are
also officers of the Company. The primary purposthe Compensation Committee is to evaluate anigwethe compensation of executive
officers.

The Board of Directors held nine (9) meetings dytime fiscal year ended September 30, 2004, onef {dhich was held by unanimous
written consent. The Audit Committee held four if#@etings during the fiscal year ended Septembe2@®. All of our Directors attended at
least 75% of our Board meetings. All of our Audi@r@mittee members attended at least 75% of our ATalibmittee meetings.

There is no family relationship between or among @fithe directors and executive officers of then(any.
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We do not currently pay any cash directors' feaswe pay the expenses of our directors in attendoard meetings. In September 2005, we
issued 10,000 options to each Director who is a begrof our audit committee and 5,000 options toatber Directors. These options vest in
September 2006 and have a strike price of $2.54lmme and expire in September 2009.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXC HANGE ACT OF 1934

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of41&@Rjuires our directors and executive officersl persons who own beneficially more
than ten percent of our common stock, to file réepof ownership and changes of ownership with theuBties and Exchange Commission.
Based solely on the reports we have received amwiritten representations from certain reportingspas, we believe that the directors,
executive officers, and greater than ten percem¢figal owners have complied with all applicakla§ requirements.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table reflects all forms of compensatfor services to us for the fiscal years endegt&mber 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 certain
executive officers. No other executive officer of®received compensation that exceeded $100,0@tgdiscal 2004. Mr. Langan is
Chairman of the Board, a Director, Chief Executdféicer, President and Chief Financial Officer. NReese is Director and V.P.-Director of
Technology.
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SUMMAR

Annual
Compensation

Name and
Principal Position Year Salary Bonus ($) Com

®)
2004 $326,038  -0-

Eric Langan

2003 $ 260,000 -0-

2002 $ 260,000 -0-

Travis Reese 2004 $ 161,000 -0-

2003 $ 158,855 -0-

2002 $ 137,500 -0-

(1) We provide certain executive officers certagmgmnal benefits. Since the value of such bendditsot exceed the lesser of $50,000 or 10%

of annual compensation, the amounts are omitted.

OPTION/SAR GRANTS IN LAST

(Individual Grant

Number of  Percent of Total
Securities Options/SARs
Underlying Granted to

Name Options/SARS Employees in Fiscal

Granted (#) Year (%)
Eric Langan 75,000 13.04%
5,000 (1) .86%
200,000 34.78%
Travis Reese 5,000 (1) .86%
55,000 9.56%

(1) These options were granted to Messrs. LangdrRaese for serving in their capacity as Directbh®re were no exercises of options by

these persons during the fiscal year ended Septe3b2004.

Y COMPENSATION TABLE
Long-Term Compensation

Awards Payouts

Other  Restricted Securities LTIP
Annual Stock  Underlying Payouts
pensation Awards Options/ ($) Com

) (3) SARs(#)
-0- -0- 280,000 -0
-0- -0- 5000 -O-
-0- -0- -0-  -0-
-0- -0- 55000 -0
-0- -0- 5000 -0-
-0- -0- 0-  -0-

FISCAL YEAR

Exercise of Base
Price ($/Sh)  Expiration Date

2.20 2/06/2009

2.54 9/14/2009

2.49 9/14/2009

2.54 9/14/2009

L < I A < I - A

2.49 9/14/2009
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AGGREGATED OPTION/SAR
LAST FISCAL YEAR AND FY-END

EXERCISES IN
OPTION/SAR VALUES

Number of Value of Unexercised

Unexercised In-The-Money
Underlying Options/SARs at FY
Shares Acquired Options/SARs at FY end ($);
Name on Exercise (#) Value Realized ($) end (#); Exercisable/
Exercisable/ Unexercisable

Unexercisable

Eric Langan -0- (1) -0- 190,000/205,000 $ 16,100/ -0-

Travis Reese -0- (1) -0- 40,000/55,000 $ 6,350/ -0-

(1) These persons did not exercise of options dutfie fiscal year ended September 30, 2004.
EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting arainigig qualified personnel, we believe that ouufatsuccess will depend in part on our
continued ability to attract and retain highly dfiatl personnel. We pay wages and salaries thdielieve are competitive. We also believe
that equity ownership is an important factor in ability to attract and retain skilled personnele Wave adopted Stock Option Plans for
employee and directors. The purpose of the Platwsfigther our interests, our subsidiaries andstackholders by providing incentives in-
form of stock options to key employees and direct@no contribute materially to our success andifaaifity. The grants recognize and
reward outstanding individual performances andrifmutions and will give such persons a propriefatgrest in the Company, thus enhant
their personal interest in our continued succedspaogress. The Plans also assists us and oudguiess in attracting and retaining key
employees and directors. The Plans are administsréie Board of Directors. The Board of Directbes the exclusive power to select the
participants in the Plans, to establish the terfriseoptions granted to each participant, provitted all options granted shall be granted ¢
exercise price equal to at least 85% of the fairketavalue of the common stock covered by the optio the grant date and to make all
determinations necessary or advisable under thesPla

In 1995 we adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan.tAl wf 300,000 shares may be granted and sold uhder995 Plan. As of September 30,
2001, a total of 167,500 stock options had beentgdaand are outstanding under the Plan, none imhwitave been exercised. We do not |
to issue any additional options under the 1995.Plan

In August 1999 we adopted the 1999 Stock Option Rlze "1999 Plan") with 500,000 shares authoripeoke granted and sold under the
1999 Plan. In August 2004, shareholders approvedhaendment to the 1999 Plan (the "Amendment") wlncneased the total number of
shares authorized to 1,000,000. As of Septembe2@B4, 908,000 stock options are presently outstgnehder the 1999 Plan. As of August
17, 2005, 50,000 of these stock options have beertised.
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EQUITY COMPEN SATION PLAN INFORMATION(1)

NUMBER OF S ECURITIES
REMAINING AVA ILABLE FOR
NUMBER OF SECURITIES TO BE WEIGHTED-AVERAGE EXERCISE FUTURE ISSUA NCE UNDER
ISSUED UPON EXERCIS E OF PRICE OF OUTSTANDING  EQUITY COMPENS ATION PLANS
OUTSTANDING OPTION S, OPTIONS, WARRANTS AND (EXCLUDING S ECURITIES
WARRANTS AND RIGH TS RIGHTS REFLECTED IN COLUMN (A))
PLAN CATEGORY (A) (B) ©)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 9 08,000 $ 2.42 92,000
Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders 0 0 300,000
TOTAL 9 08,000 $ 2.42 392,000

(1) As of September 30, 2004.
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

We have a one-year employment agreement with Edi@S8gan. This Agreement extends through AprildQ&and provides for an annual
base salary of $340,000. The Agreement also prevfimeparticipation in all benefit plans maintaint®dus for salaried employees. This
Agreement contains a confidentiality provision @mdagreement by Mr. Langan not to compete withpgsuhe expiration of the Agreement.

We have a three-year employment agreement withi Reese. This Agreement extends through Febry&9d7 and provides for an annual
base salary of $175,000. The Agreement also prevfimeparticipation in all benefit plans maintain®dus for salaried employees. This
Agreement contains a confidentiality provision amdagreement by Mr. Reese not to compete with as the expiration of the Agreement.

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for its Prindipacutive and Senior Financial Officers, which \wasviously filed as Exhibit 14 to our
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended SeptembefB03, as filed with the SEC on December 29, 2003.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS
AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain informatianAugust 17, 2005, with respect to the benefiaiahership of shares of Common Stock by
(i) each person known to us who owns beneficialyrerthan 5% of the outstanding shares of CommockS(o) each of our directors, (iii)
each of our executive officers and (iv) all of @xecutive officers and directors as a group. Unbtiserwise indicated, each stockholder has
sole voting and investment power with respect éoghares shown. As of August 17, 2005, there w@&74148 shares of common stock
outstanding.
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NAME/ADDRESS NUMBER OF SHARES TI TLE OF CLASS PERCENT OF
CLASS (9)

Eric S. Langan 1,155,960 (1) Co mmon stock 25.2%
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

Robert L. Watters 35,000 (2) Co mmon stock 0.8%
315 Bourbon Street
New Orleans, Louisiana 70130

Steven L. Jenkins 20,000 (3) Co mmon stock 0.4%
16815 Royal Crest Drive

Suite 160

Houston, Texas 77058

Travis Reese 54,775 (4) Co mmon stock 1.2%
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

Alan Bergstrom 30,000 (5) Co mmon stock 0.6%
707 Rio Grande, Suite 200
Austin, Texas 78701

All of our Directors and 1,295,720 (6) Co mmon stock 27.4%
Officers as a
Group of five persons

E. S. Langan. L.P. 578,632 Co mmon stock 13.4%
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

Ralph McElroy 748,467 (7) Co mmon stock 17.2%
1211 Choquette
Austin, Texas, 78757

William Friedrichs 400,260 (8) Co mmon stock 9.3%
16815 Royal Crest Dr., #260
Houston, Texas 77058

(1) Mr. Langan has sole voting and investment pdae252,328 shares that he owns directly. Mr. laangas shared voting and investment
power for 578,632 shares that he owns indirectlguph E. S. Langan, L.P. Mr. Langan is the gengainer of E. S. Langan, L.P. This
amount also includes options to purchase up to0P®5shares of common stock that are exercisablen60 days.

(2) Includes options to purchase up to 35,000 shafreommon stock that are exercisable within 6@sda
(3) Includes options to purchase up to 20,000 shaireommon stock that are exercisable within 8@sda
(4) Includes 7,275 shares of common stock and ogtio purchase up to 47,500 shares of common statlare exercisable within 60 days.
(5) Includes options to purchase up to 30,000 shaireommon stock that are exercisable within 8@sda
(6) Includes options to purchase up to 427,500eshaf common stock that are exercisable within®@d

(7) Includes 698,467 shares of common stock he&ttdy and 50,000 shares of common stock that wbalgsuable upon the exercise of
warrants at an exercise price of $3.00 per shdris.fumber specifically excludes
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220,000 shares of common stock that would be idsugimn conversion of a convertible debenture bgltir. McElroy. The Debenture
provides, absent shareholder approval, that thédoeuwf shares of our common stock that may be isbyais or acquired by the Holder ug
conversion of the Debenture shall not exceed 19.88fhe total number of issued and outstandingeshaf our common stock.

(8) Includes 170,000 shares owned by WMF Investmént. Mr. Friedrichs is a control person of WMfvéstments, Inc.
(9) These percentages exclude treasury shares ratbulation of percentage of class.
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION S

Our Board of Directors has adopted a policy thattausiness affairs will be conducted in all respdxt standards applicable to publicly held
corporations and that we will not enter into anyufa transactions and/or loans between us andficers, directors and 5% shareholders
unless the terms are no less favorable than cauttbtained from independent, third parties and lélbpproved by a majority of our
independent and disinterested directors. In ouwv#dl of the transactions described below meet skandard.

In May 2002, we loaned $100,000 to Eric Langan vghaur Chief Executive Officer. The promissory niteinsecured, bears interest at 11%
and is amortized over a period of ten years. The oontains a provision that in the event Mr. Lanigaves the Company for any reason, the
note immediately becomes due and payable in fidloRAugust 17, 2005, the balance of the note W&s1%4.

On July 22, 2005, we issued a Secured Convertibleebture to Ralph McElroy, a greater than 10% $iwdder of the Company, for the
principal sum of $660,000 bearing interest at tte of 12% per annum, with a maturity date of Aadyf008. Under the terms of the
Debenture, we are required to make monthly intgraginents beginning September 1, 2005. We havegheto redeem the Debenture in
whole or in part at any time during the term of Bebenture. At the election of the Holder, the Hwoldas the right to require the Debentur
be repaid in thirty (30) equal monthly installmeatsnmencing February 2006. The Holder has the opticonvert all or any portion of the
principal amount of the Debenture into shares ofommmon stock at a rate of $3.00 per share, sutgjerdjustment under certain conditions.
The Debenture provides, absent shareholder appttradithe number of shares of our common stodknttzsy be issued by us or acquired by
the Holder upon conversion of the Debenture statlerceed 19.99% of the total number of issuedaartstanding shares of our common
stock. The Debenture is secured by certain of eseta. Additionally, we issued Mr. McElroy a Watrempurchase 50,000 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $3.00 pereshatil July 22, 2008. The shares of Common Staaletying the principal amount of the
Debenture and the Warrants have piggyback regmtraghts.

SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

The following is a list of the selling stockholdevho own or who have a right to acquire the 1,180,6hares of Common Stock covered by
this prospectus. Currently, 530,000 shares of Com8tock are held by certain selling stockholderst®&220,000 Shares of Common Stock
are issuable upon the conversion of a Secured CulnleeDebenture held by one selling stockholdgy.tt) 360,000 Shares are issuable upon
the conversion of a Convertible Note held by orkngestockholder. Up to 50,000 Shares of Commarckiare issuable upon the exercise of
Warrants held by one selling stockholder As sahfbelow and elsewhere in this prospectus, sontieesk selling stockholders hold, or
within the
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past three years have held, a position, officetloeromaterial relationship with us or our predeoessr affiliates.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordandd Wiule 13d-3 promulgated by the Securities ancherge Commission, and generally
includes voting or investment power with respeddourities. In computing the number of shares fogalty owned by the holder and the
percentage ownership of the holder, shares of camstaxk issuable upon exercise of the warrant bgldhe holder that are currently
exercisable or exercisable within 60 days afterdéue of the table are deemed outstanding.

The percent of beneficial ownership for the sellibgckholders is based on 4,287,148 shares of canstack outstanding as of August 17,
2005. Shares of common stock subject to warrapt&grs and other convertible securities that areetily exercisable or exercisable within
60 days of August 17, 2005, are considered outstgrathd beneficially owned by a selling stockhotdetho holds those warrants, options or
other convertible securities for the purpose of poting the percentage ownership of that sellingldtolders but are not treated as
outstanding for the purpose of computing the paeggnownership of any other stockholder.

The shares of common stock being offered underptiispectus may be offered for sale from timertetduring the period the registration
statement of which this prospectus is a part regneffective, by or for the account of the sellibgckholders. After the date of effectiveness
of the registration statement of which this prospeds a part, the selling stockholder may havd solransferred, in transactions covered by
this prospectus or in transactions exempt fronréigéstration requirements of the Securities Acmemr all of its common stock. Information
about the selling stockholders may change over.thng changed information will be set forth in amendment to the registration statement
or supplement to this prospectus, to the extentired by law.

The following table sets forth information concempithe selling stockholders, including the numifeshares currently held and the numbe
shares offered by each selling security holdeoutoknowledge as of August 17, 2005. At the timéhefacquisition there were no
agreements, understandings or arrangements witbthary persons, either directly or indirectly, tstdbute the securities.

BEFORE THE AFTER THE
OFFERING OFFERING
Total
Number of  Number of Percenta ge
Shares of Sharesto  Number to be
common be Offered of Shares Beneficia Iy
Position, stock for the to be Owned
Office or B eneficially Accountof Owned  afterth is
Other Oow ned Prior to the Selling after this  Offerin g
Material t he Offering Stockholder Offering 3)
Name of Selling Stockholder  Relationship Q) 2) 3) 4)
COMMON STOCK
Ralph McElroy >10%
shareholder 748,467 (5) 270,000 698,467 1 7.2%
Jay Teitelbaum None 150,000 150,000 -0- -0-
Tony Hege None 180,000 180,000 -0- 4.1%
Philip Eisenberg None 360,000 (6) 360,000 -0- -0-
Ahmed Anakar Employee 40,900 (7) 15,000 25,900 <1%
American Dream Media (8) None 26,650 10,000 16,650 <1%
William M. Friedrichs, Jr. >5%

shareholder 400,260 50,000 350,260 9.3%
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Steve Wadley None 25,000 25,000 -0- -0-
Wade McElroy Son of >10%
shareholder 52,500 17,500 35,000 <1%
Timothy Winata Employee 106,000 (9) 25,000 81,000 1.8%
Jante Simomeaux None 17,570 10,000 7,570 <1%
Anderson Studebaker Employee 36,415 (10) 5,000 31,415 <1%
Jackie Markham None 5,225 5,000 225 <1%
Wayne Fenlon Employee 7,500 (11) 2,500 5,000 <1%
Doris Jane King Sister of a
>10%
Shareholder 7,000 5,000 2,000 <1%
Robert Axelrod Outside
Counsel 90,000 (12) 20,000 70,000 <1%
Zachary Axelrod Son of Outside

Counsel 10,000 10,000 -0- -0-

TOTAL 1,160,000

(1) Includes shares of common stock for which #lkng security holder has the right to acquire dferal ownership within 60 days.

(2) This table assumes that each selling secuoligen will sell all shares offered for sale by iitder this registration statement. Security
holders are not required to sell their shares.

(3) Assumes that all shares of Common Stock ragidtfor resale by this prospectus have been sold.
(4) Based on 4,287,148 shares of Common stockdssneé outstanding as of August 17, 2005.

(5) Mr. McElroy is a greater than 10% shareholdeahe Company. Mr. McElroy is the beneficial owrdi698,467 shares of Common Stock
and 50,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upoextreise of warrants. This number excludes 220sb@@es of Common Stock (which
are being registered herein) issuable upon thearsion of a Secured Convertible Debenture at aofé$8.00 per share, subject to adjustment
under certain conditions. The Debenture providesjdver, absent shareholder approval, that the nuoftshares of our common stock that
may be issued by us or acquired by the Mr. McElrpgn conversion of the Debenture shall not exc&@9% of the total number of issued
and outstanding shares of our common stock.

(6) Consists of 360,000 shares of Common Stocklwimiay be acquired upon conversion of the outstagnplimcipal under a secured
convertible note with exercise prices ranging fi$00 to $7.50 per share with a weighted averaige pf $5.46 per share.

(7) Includes 25,000 shares of common stock issugida the exercise of options that are exercisalilén 60 days.
(8) John Gray is the individual with investmentiden and voting power for this non-natural entity.
(9) Includes up to 75,000 shares of common staukaisle upon the exercise of options that are esadyld within 60 days.

(10) Includes 8,915 shares of common stock ana @7 1500 shares of common stock issuable uponxéreise of options that are
exercisable within 60 days.

(11) Includes up to 5,000 shares of common staukaisle upon the exercise of options that are esadyld within 60 days.

(12) Consists of 65,000 shares of common stock2&rn@00 shares of common stock issuable upon theisgeof options that are exercisable
within 60 days.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

As of the date of this prospectus, we have not lagletsed by the selling stockholders as to any pfatistribution. Shares owned by the
selling stockholders, or by their partners, pledgéenees (including charitable organizationshsferees or other successors in interest, may
from time to time be offered for sale either dihgdty such individual, or through underwriters, s or agents or on any exchange on which
the shares may from time to time be traded, irotrex-the-counter market, or in independently negetl transactions or otherwise. The
methods by which the shares may be sold include:

- a block trade (which may involve crosses) in wattice broker or dealer so engaged will attempetitlse securities as agent but may
position and resell a portion of the block as pgpatto facilitate the transaction;

- purchases by a broker or dealer as principalresale by such broker or dealer for its own accpunsuant to this prospectus;
- exchange distributions and/or secondary distidimst

- sales in the over-the-counter market;

- underwritten transactions;

- ordinary brokerage transactions and transactiomgich the broker solicits purchasers; and

- privately negotiated transactions.

Such transactions may be effected by the sellingkbiolders at market prices prevailing at the toheale or at negotiated prices. The selling
stockholders may effect such transactions by ggttie common stock to underwriters or to or throbgiker-dealers, and such underwriters
or broker-dealers may receive compensations iffioitme of discounts or commissions from the sellitackholders and may receive
commissions from the purchasers of the common dtwokkhom they may act as agent. The selling stolddrs may agree to indemnify any
underwriter, broker-dealer or agent that parti@pah transactions involving sales of the shareinagcertain liabilities, including liabilities
arising under the Securities Act. We have agreeddwter the shares for sale under the SecuAiesind to indemnify the selling
stockholders, certain representatives of the gefiinckholders and each person who participatas amnderwriter in the offering of the shares
against certain civil liabilities, including centaliabilities under the Securities Act. We are rieggi to pay certain fees and expenses incurred
by us incident to the registration of the shares.

In connection with sales of the common stock urldisrprospectus, upon effectiveness of the registratatement, the selling stockholders
may enter into hedging transactions with broker@tsawho may in turn engage in short sales ottivamon stock in the course of hedging
the positions they assume. The selling stockholdlsis may sell shares of common stock short andete¢hem to close out the short
positions, or loan or pledge the shares of comnmekgo broker-dealers that in turn may sell them.

Because selling stockholders may be deemed taabgaty "underwriters” within the meaning of thecBeties Act, they will be subject to tl
prospectus delivery requirements of the Securhigs The selling stockholders are subject to thgliapble provisions of the Exchange Act,
and the rules and regulations thereunder whichmastyict certain activities of, and limit the tingirof purchases and sales of securities by,
selling stockholders and other persons particigatina distribution of securities. The selling stlolders may also sell shares under Rule 144
of the Securities Act, if available, rather thamlenthis prospectus. There is no underwriter oraioating broker acting in connection with

the proposed sale of the shares by the sellindistdders.
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The selling stockholders and any underwriters,a@teadr agents that participate in distributionhaf shares may be deemed to be underwr
and any profit on sale of the shares by them agdie@tounts, commissions or concessions receivazhipyunderwriter, dealer or agent may
be deemed to be underwriting discounts and comamssinder the Securities Act. The selling stockéiddio not expect these commissions
and discounts to exceed what is customary in thestpf transactions involved.

We agreed to keep this prospectus effective umgildarlier of (i) January 18, 2010, or (ii) theeithat all of the shares have been sold
pursuant to the prospectus or Rule 144 under therlies Act or any other rule of similar effect.

There can be no assurances that the selling stltekisawill sell any or all of the shares offeredlanthis prospectus.

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

GENERAL

The following description of our capital stock ishgect to and qualified in its entirety by our dfécaite of incorporation and bylaws, which :
included as exhibits to the registration statenoémthich this prospectus forms a part, and by thglieable provisions of Texas law.

Our authorized capital stock consists of 16,000 £l@res of which there are 15,000,000 shares ofrmmnstock, par value $.01 per share,
1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value get@hare.

COMMON STOCK

As of August 17, 2005, there were 4,287,148 shafresmmon stock outstanding. The rights of all leotdof the common stock are identical
in all respects. The holders of the common stoekeatitled to receive ratably such dividends, if,aas may be declared by the Board of
Directors out of legally available funds. The cuatrpolicy of the Board of Directors, however, isrébain earnings, if any, for reinvestment.

Upon liguidation, dissolution or winding up of ti@mpany, the holders of the common stock are edttth share ratably in all aspects of the
Company that are legally available for distributiafter payment of or provision for all debts aiadbilities.

The holders of the common stock do not have preiemptibscription, redemption or conversion rightder our Articles of Incorporation.
Cumulative voting in the election of Directors st permitted. The outstanding shares of commorksdoe validly issued, fully paid and
nonassessable. The rights, preferences and pesilefjholders of common stock will be subject taj enay be adversely affected by, the
rights of holders of shares of any series of pretéstock that are presently outstanding or that Ioeadesignated and issued by us in the
future.

PREFERRED STOCK

Our Board of Directors, without further action etshareholders, is authorized to issue up to 1000Ghares of preferred stock in one or
more series. The Board may, without shareholderoyah determine the dividend rates, redemptiongs; preferences on liquidation or
dissolution, conversion rights, voting rights amy ather preferences. As of the date of this prosjse our Board has not authorized any
series of preferred stock, and there are no agnesme understandings for the issuance of any shre
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preferred stock. Because of its broad discretich véspect to the creation and issuance of prefestieck without shareholder approval, our
Board could adversely affect the voting power @f folders of our common and, by issuing shareseféped stock with certain voting,
conversion and/or redemption rights, could del&fedor prevent an attempt to obtain control of campany.

SECURED CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE

On July 22, 2005, we issued a Secured Convertiblegebture to Ralph McElroy, a greater than 10% sitwdder of the Company, for the
principal sum of $660,000 bearing interest at tte of 12% per annum, with a maturity date of Audyf008. Under the terms of the
Debenture, we are required to make monthly intgraginents beginning September 1, 2005. We havegheto redeem the Debenture in
whole or in part at any time during the term of Bebenture. At the election of the Holder, the Holdas the right to require the Debentur
be repaid in thirty (30) equal monthly installmeatsnmencing February 2006. The Holder has the opticonvert all or any portion of the
principal amount of the Debenture into shares ofommmon stock at a rate of $3.00 per share, sutgjerdjustment under certain conditions.
The Debenture provides, absent shareholder appttradithe number of shares of our common stodknttzsy be issued by us or acquired by
the Holder upon conversion of the Debenture shatlerceed 19.99% of the total number of issuedaanstanding shares of our common
stock. The Debenture is secured by certain of eseta. Additionally, we issued Mr. McElroy a Watrempurchase 50,000 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $3.00 pereshatil July 22, 2008. The shares of Common Staaletying the principal amount of the
Debenture and the Warrants have piggyback regtraghts.

SECURED CONVERTIBLE NOTE

On January 18, 2005, we entered a Secured Corleeidie with Peregrine Enterprises, Inc. in the ami@f $5,125,000 bearing simple
interest at the rate of 4.0% per annum. The Nopaysble commencing 120 days after Closing asvisliga) the payment of $58,333.33 per
month for twenty-four (24) consecutive months;tfi® payment of $63,333.33 for twenty-four (24) mmgive months; (c) the payment of
$68,333.33 for twelve (12) consecutive months; @)d lump sum payment of the remaining balandsstpaid on the sixty-first (61st)
month. $2,000,000 of the principal amount of theeNis convertible into shares of our restricted oan stock at prices ranging from $4.0
$7.50 per share. The patrties also entered a Stedg® Agreement and Security Agreement to seceréldie.

OUTSTANDING WARRANTS

In addition to the stock options discussed hergamhave 50,000 warrants outstanding at an exepcise of $3.00 per share (for which the
underlying shares have been registered herein).

TRANSFER AGENT

The transfer agent for our Common Stock is Amerigtotk Transfer located at 59 Maiden Lane, New Ybigw York 10038. Their
telephone number is 718-921-8275.

INTEREST OF NAMED EXPERTS AND COUNSEL

Axelrod, Smith & Kirshbaum, P.C., who has prepated Registration Statement and Opinion regardiggauthorization, issuance and fully-
paid and non-assessable status of the securitesambby this Registration Statement, has repredarg in the past on certain legal matters.
Mr. Robert D. Axelrod presently owns 65,000 sharfesur common stock, and has an option to purchasedditional 25,000 shares of our
common stock. His entire relationship with us hasrbas legal counsel, and there are no
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arrangements or understandings which would in a@y eause him to be deemed an affiliate of the Regjisor a person associated with an
affiliate of the Registrant.

EXPERTS

The financial statements of Rick's Cabaret Intéonal, Inc. at September 30, 2004 and 2003 includeshd made a part of this document
have been audited by Whitley Penn, independenstergid public accounting firm, as set forth in tleport appearing elsewhere herein, and
are included in reliance upon such report givethenauthority of such firm as experts in accountind auditing.

COMMISSION POSITION ON INDEMNIFICATION FOR SECURIES ACT LIABILITIES

Our certificate of incorporation provides that vl indemnify our directors and officers to théldat extent permitted by Texas law and that
none of our directors will be personally liablethe Company or its stockholders for monetary damégebreach of fiduciary duty as a
director, except for liability:

- for any breach of the director's duty of loyalthythe Company or its stockholders;

- for acts or omissions not in good faith or thtdlve intentional misconduct or a knowing violatiof the law;
- under the Texas Business Corporation Act foruthlewful payment of dividends; or

- for any transaction from which the director deg\an improper personal benefit.

These provisions require us to indemnify our doextand officers unless restricted by Texas lawedimlinate our rights and those of our
stockholders to recover monetary damages fromeztdir for breach of his fiduciary duty of care adiractor except in the situations
described above. The limitations summarized abloeever, do not affect our ability or that of otwekholders to seek non-monetary
remedies, such as an injunction or rescissionnagaidirector for breach of his fiduciary duty.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisimmder the Securities Act may be permitted to oteadors, officers and controlling persons
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have lasbised that in the opinion of the Securities ardiange Commission, such
indemnification is against public policy as expezbf the Securities Act and is therefore unenfainte

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statenoenEorm SB-2 under the Securities Act, and thesraind regulations promulgated
thereunder, with respect to the common stock offtiereby. This prospectus, which constitutes aqfate registration statement, does not
contain all of the information set forth in the istcation statement and the exhibits thereto. 8tates contained in this prospectus as to the
contents of any contract or other document théileid as an exhibit to the registration statemeatraot necessarily complete and each such
statement is qualified in all respects by refereodie full text of such contract or document. fiother information with respect to us and
common stock, reference is hereby made to thetrati statement and the exhibits thereto, whidly tme inspected and copied at the
principal office of the SEC, 450 Fifth Street, N,WVashington, D.C. 20549, and copies of all or past thereof may be obtained at
prescribed rates from the Commission's Public Refex Section at such addresses. Also, the SECaimasrat World Wide Web site on the
Internet at http://www.sec.gov that contains repgstoxy and information statements and other médron regarding registrants that file
electronically with the SEC. Additional informati@an also be obtained through our website at wwek$eom. We also make available free
of charge our annual, quarterly and current repprtsxy statements and other information upon regue request such
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materials, please contact Mr. Eric Langan, ouriBezd and Chief Executive Officer, at 10959 CutRoad, Houston, Texas 77066.

We are in compliance with the information and péiéaeporting requirements of the Exchange Act amdccordance therewith, will file
periodic reports, proxy and information statememtd other information with the SEC. Such periodjgarts, proxy and information
statements and other information will be availdbleinspection and copying at the principal offipeiblic reference facilities and Web site of
the SEC referred to above.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Rickabaret International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Rick's Cabaret International, InGexas Corporation, and subsidiaries, as
of September 30, 2004 and 2003, and the relatesbtidated statements of income, stockholders' ggaiitd cash flows for the years then
ended. These financial statements are the resplitgsih the Company's management. Our responsjhidi to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on flasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptesiused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Rick's
Cabaret International, Inc. and subsidiaries @egitember 30, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidaseidts of their operations and their cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity witt@unting principles generally accepted in the ebhiBtates of America.

/sl Wiitley Penn
Dal | as, Texas
Novenber 19, 2004
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNA

CONSOLIDATED BALANC

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable:
Trade
Other
Marketable securities
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets:

Goodwill, net

Other

Total other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt

Total current liabilities
Deferred gain on sale of a subsidiary
Long-term debt
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Minority interests
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000,000 shares
authorized, none outstanding
Common stock, $.01 par, 15,000,000 shares
authorized, 4,608,678 shares issued
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit

Less 908,530 shares of common stock held in treas

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.

TIONAL, INC.

E SHEETS
SEPTEMBER 30,
2004 2003
$ 278,185 $ 604,865
72,909 45,319
203,343 213,886
122,350 135,000
261,486 230,451
1,010,416 83,647
1,948,689 1,313,168
8,833,018 8,777,057
1,982,848 1,962,848
435,204 202,439
2,418,052 2,165,287
$13,199,759 $12,255,512
$ 317,278 $ 189,208
650,348 622,216
516,845 449,439
1,484,471 1,260,863
163,739 -
3,364,765 3,576,896
5,012,975 4,837,759
40,808 36,032
46,087 46,087
11,273,149 11,273,149
109,002 120,000
(1,988,482) (2,763,735)
9,439,756 8,675,501
ury, at cost 1,293,780 1,293,780
8,145,976 7,381,721

$13,199,759 $12,255,512




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS O

AL, INC.

F INCOME

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,

Revenues:
Sales of alcoholic beverages
Sales of food and merchandise
Service revenues
Internet revenues
Other

Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold

Salaries and wages

Other general and administrative:
Taxes and permits
Charge card fees
Rent
Legal and professional
Advertising and marketing
Depreciation
Other

Income from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Gain on sale or disposition of assets
Other

Income before minority interests

Minority interests

Net income

Basic and diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of common shares outstandin

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@#tisients.

2004 2003
$ 6,839,948 $ 6,671,498
1,712,225 1,661,358
6,290,698 5,333,889
796,353 1,053,188
320,460 339,636
15,959,684 15,059,569
1,983,207 2,194,940
5,491,401 5,393,708
2,215,377 2,074,067
267,609 254,953
536,067 336,592
554,155 714,250
861,280 817,328
544,137 531,561
2,440,882 2,384,223
14,894,115 14,701,622
1,065,569 357,947
28,898 16,875
(344,438)  (384,221)
- 345,820
30,000 67,515
780,029 403,936
(4,776) 34,358
$ 775253 $ 438,294

$ 021 $ 0.12

g 3,700,148

3,729,167




RICK'S C
CONSOLIDATED STATEME

YEARS ENDED

Balance at September 30, 2002 4,608,

Net income
Change in available-for-sale securities

Comprehensive income

Purchases of treasury stock

Balance at September 30, 2003 4,608,

Net income

Reclassification from unrealized to
realized gain

Change in available-for-sale securities

Comprehensive income

Balance at September 30, 2004 4,608,
TREASU
AM
Balance at September 30, 2002 $ (1,
Net income

Change in available-for-sale securities
Comprehensive income

Purchases of treasury stock (

Balance at September 30, 2003 1,

Net income

Reclassification from unrealized to
realized gain

Change in available-for-sale securities

Comprehensive income

Balance at September 30, 2004 $(1,

ABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

NTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
SEPTEMBER 30, 2004 AND 2003

MON STOCK ACCUMULATED
------------ ADDITIONAL OTHER

R PAID-IN COMPREHENSIVE ACCUMU
RES AMOUNT CAPITAL INCOME DEFI

678 $46,087 $11,273,149 $ - $(3,20

43

- - - 120,000

678 46,087 11,273,149 120,000 (2,76
- - - N

- - (13,222)
- - - 2,224

678 $46,087 $11,273,149 $ 109,002 $ (1,98

TREASURY STOCK

LATED NUMBER
CIT OF SHARES

2,029) 851,030

8,294 -

3,735) 908,530

5,253 -

8,482) 908,530

RY STOCK

-------- TOTAL
STOCKHOLDERS'

OUNT EQUITY

175,131) $ 6,942,076

- 438,294
- 120,000

293,780) 7,381,721
- 775,253
- (13,222)
- 2,224

293,780) $ 8,145,976

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNA TIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,
2004 2003

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 775253 $ 438,294
Adjustments to reconcile net income to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 544,137 531,561
Minority interests 4,776 (34,358)
Gain on sale of subsidiary - (342,251)
Gain on sales of marketable securities (19,807) -
Gain on sales or disposition of property and equipment - (3,569)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (18,307) 37,432
Inventories (42,942) (19,649)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (931,907) (24,831)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 186,738 3,697
Net cash provided by operating activities 497,941 586,326
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions (265,000) (150,000)
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary 6,811 180,000
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 21,459 -
Purchases of property and equipment (423,964) (162,220)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 12,033 47,718
Net cash used in investing activities (648,661) (84,502)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of treasury stock - (118,649)
Proceeds from long-term debt 300,000 -
Payments on long-term debt (475,960) (511,676)
Net cash used in financing activities (175,960) (630,325)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (326,680) (128,501)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 604,865 733,366
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 278,185 $ 604,865

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 351,791 $ 374,270

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended September 30, 2003, the Coyrpansferred a Company vehicle and the relatéel taoan individual. The remaining
note payable was $69,342 which approximated thievédiie of the vehicle on the date of transfer.

During the year ended September 30, 2004, the Coyrpganced the purchase of a vehicle with a natgaple in the amount of $31,235.

During the year ended September 30, 2004, the Coyglimested of a business, see Note K. As a restitte divestiture, the Company
received a note receivable in the amount of $23,88corded a deferred gain of $163,739, and rethV8,072 of net assets from its books.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2004 AND 2003
A. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. (the "Comparig'a Texas corporation incorporated in 1994. The@any currently owns and operates
nightclubs that offer live adult entertainment taesant, and bar operations. These nightclubsogegdd in Houston, Austin and San Antonio,
Texas, as well as Minneapolis, Minnesota. The Camdso owns and operates several adult entertainimiernet websites. The Company's
corporate offices are located in Houston, Texas.

B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of the Company's significant accountintigies consistently applied in the preparationh&f accompanying consolidated
financial statements follows:

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accounts are maintained and the consolidateddial statements have been prepared using theshbasis of accounting in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted m thited States of America.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include tw®ants of the Company and its subsidiaries. Sant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiettaertain reported amounts in the financialesteents and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from these estimated assumptions.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith a maturity of three months or less when pasgt to be cash equivalents. At
September 30, 2004 and 2003, the Company had ihoisuestments. The Company maintains deposits pilyria one financial institution,
which may at times exceed amounts covered by inserprovided by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insur&aporation ("FDIC"). At
September 30, 2003, the uninsured portion of tdepesits approximated $95,000. There were no uredsueposits at September 30, 2004.
The Company has not incurred any losses relatéd tash on deposit with financial institutions.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED
ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable trade is comprised of creditl charges, which are generally converted to catiwo to five days after a purchase is
made. The Company's accounts receivable othenipised of employee advances and other miscellanemeivables. Notes receivable are
included in other assets in the accompanying caleteld balance sheets. The Company recognizesaaitmes for doubtful accounts or notes
when, based on management judgment, circumstandiesiie that accounts or notes receivable willbotollected. There is no allowance
doubtful accounts or notes receivable as of Sepe®®, 2004 and 2003.

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Marketable securities at September 30, 2004 and 200sist of common stock. Statement of Financ@oAnting Standards ("SFAS") No.
115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt &uality Securities, requires certain investmentssgerded at fair value or amortized ¢
The appropriate classification of the investmentsarketable equity is determined at the time a€pase and re-evaluated at each balance
sheet date. As of September 30, 2004 and 200& dh®any's marketable securities were classifieal/asable-for-sale, which are carried at
fair value, with unrealized gains and losses raqubats other comprehensive income within the stddiins’ equity section of the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Thetaostrketable equity securities sold is determioed specific identification basis. The
fair value of marketable equity securities is basedjuoted market prices. The Company had reaia@ts of approximately $20,000 related
to marketable securities for the year ended Septesy 2004. Marketable securities held at Septe@®e2004 and 2003 have a cost bas
approximately $13,000 and $15,000, respectively.

INVENTORIES

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @ochpany merchandise. Inventories are carried dbther of cost, average cost, which
approximates actual cost determined on a firstiist-out ("FIFO") basis, or market.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depi@tia computed using the straight-line methodrdlie estimated useful lives of the assets
for financial reporting purposes. Buildings havéreated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yearsnfiture, equipment and leasehold
improvements have estimated useful lives betwaendnd seven years. Expenditures for major reneavaldetterments that extend the
useful lives are capitalized. Expenditures for n@rmaintenance and repairs are expensed as inciimectost of assets sold or abandoned
and the related accumulated depreciation are aiteéhfrom the accounts and any gains or lossesharged or credited in the accompanying
statement of income of the respective period.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED
GOODWILL

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, Gobddwd Other Intangibles Assets, which addresseadheunting for goodwill and other
intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill imtahgible assets with indefinite lives are nogenamortized, but reviewed on an annual
basis for impairment. The Company adopted SFAS#¥e October 1, 2001. The Company's annual evialuatas performed as of
September 30, 2004. No impairment losses wereifaihas a result of this evaluation.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise and seratdbg point-of-sale upon receipt of
cash, check, or credit card charge. This includdly dnd annual VIP memberships.

Under Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenuec8gnition in Financial Statements, membership reeeshould be deferred and
recognized over the estimated membership usagedoéfianagement estimates that the weighted aveisafel lives for memberships are 12
and 24 months for annual and lifetime membershgspectively. The Company does not track memberstage by type of membership,
however it believes these lives are appropriatecandervative, based on management's knowledge dfént base and membership usage at
the clubs. The Company began deferring such revientle quarter ended March 31, 2004, and this amiguecorded in accrued liabilities.

If the Company had deferred membership revenugesajnized it based on the lives above prior taildanl, 2004, the impact on revenue
and net income recognized would have been an isereapproximately $47,000 and a decrease of appately $19,000 for the years
ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively widuld have also resulted in an increase in #ferded revenue balance of
approximately $12,000 and $59,000 as of Septene2(®4 and 2003, respectively. Management doebeligive the impact of this
difference in accounting treatment is materiah® €Company's annual and quarterly financial statésne

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from mgmsthibscriptions to its online entertainment sitéemnotification of a new subscription
is received from the third party hosting companyrom the credit card company, usually two to thdegs after the transaction has occurred.
The Company recognizes Internet auction revenuaywhgment is received from the credit card as negsmre not deemed estimable nor
collection deemed probable prior to that point.

ADVERTISING AND MARKETING

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarilygosed of costs related to public advertisemerdgjareaways, which are used for
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketingegrges are expensed as incurred and are incluageiating expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED
INCOME TAXES

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditialmethod in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Aceting for Income Taxes. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for theré tax consequences attributable to differebesaseen the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities andrtfesipective tax bases. Deferred tax assets dnilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the yearshith those temporary differences are expectdxttiecovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changevirrates is recognized in income in the period ithdudes the enactment date. In addition, a
valuation allowance is established to reduce afigrd= tax asset for which it is determined th& inore likely than not that some portion of
the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Company reports comprehensive income in acoosdaith the provisions of SFAS No. 130, Reporfignprehensive Income.
Comprehensive income consists of net income antsdlisses) on available-for-sale marketable séesidnd is presented in the
consolidated statements of changes in stockholdgusty.

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The Company computes earnings per share in acadeith SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share. SFASI®8.provides for the calculation

of basic and diluted earnings per share. Basiamgsmper share includes no dilution and is compbtedividing income available to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of comshares outstanding for the period. Diluted egsper share reflect the potential
dilution of securities that could share in the #ags of the Company. The impact of dilutive stogitions does not change earnings per share,
therefore basic and diluted earnings per sharéharsame.

Stock options of approximately 733,000 and 498@0@he years ended September 30, 2004 and 20§3ctvely, have been excluded from
earnings per share due to the stock options beitigidutive.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In accordance with the reporting requirements cASMNo. 107, Disclosures About Fair Value of Finaht¢nstruments, the Company
calculates the fair value of its assets and liaddiwhich

qualify as financial instruments under this statetraand includes this additional information in tie@es to consolidated financial statements
when the fair value is different than the carryuadue of these financial instruments. The estimé&dvalue of accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities approximate thairying amounts due to the relatively short mayusitthese instruments. The carrying value
of short and long-term debt also approximatesvaiue since these instruments bear market rategesest. None of these instruments are
held for trading purposes.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED

STOCK OPTIONS

At September 30, 2004, the Company has stock aptiatstanding, which are described more fully ineNle. The Company accounts for its
stock options under the recognition and measureprantiples of Accounting Principles Board ("APBDpinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees, and related InterpogtstiThe following table illustrates the effectrt income and earnings per share if the
Company had applied the fair value recognition mions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Bag&mimpensation, to stock-based
employee compensation.

The following presents pro forma net income andgbare data as if a fair value accounting methabdeen used to account for stock-based
compensation:

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,

2004 2003

Net income, as reported $ 775,253 $ 438,294
Less total stock-based employee compensation

expense determined under the fair value

based method for all awards (216,616) (98,882)
Pro forma net income $ 558,637 $ 339,412
Earnings per share:

Basic and diluted - as reported $ 021 $ 0.12

Basic and diluted - pro forma $ 0.15 $ 0.09

IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Stansl&udiard ("FASB") issued interpretation 46R ("FINRA®, a revision to interpretation 46
("FIN 46"), Consolidation of Variable Interest Bigs. FIN 46R clarifies some of the provisions dflB6 and exempts certain entities fron
requirements. FIN 46R is effective at the end effihst interim period ending after March 15, 2084tities that have adopted FIN 46 prior to
this effective date can continue to apply the miowvi of FIN 46 until the effective date of FIN 4@Relect early adoption of FIN 46R. The
adoption of FIN 46 and FIN 46R did not have a matémpact on the Company's consolidated finanstalements.

In March 2004, the FASB ratified the recognitiordaneasurement guidance and certain disclosureresments for impaired securities as
described in Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF)el$¢oL 03-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporarydimpent and Its Application to
Certain Investments. The Company does not beltee@doption of the recognition and
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONINUED
measurement guidance in EITF Issue 03-1 will haneterial impact on the Company's consolidatechfiied statements.
C. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

SEPTEMBER 30,

2004 2003
Buildings and land $9,002,412 $ 8,970 743
Leasehold improvements 581,532 311 411
Furniture 598,924 595 , 743
Equipment 1,448,305 1,322 ,624
Total property and equipment 11,631,173 11,200 ,521
Less accumulated depreciation 2,798,155 2,423 464
Property and equipment, net $ 8,833,018 $ 8,777 ,057
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D. LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

* Collateralized by real estate

SEPTEMBER 30,

Note payable at prime (as
determined by the Wall Street
Journal) plus 1%, matures

December 2004 * $ 296,163
Notes payable at 9%, matures

February 2018 * 2,120,680
Notes payable at 12%, matures

March 2026 * 142,263
Note payable at 9%, matures

March 2006 * 293,224
Note payable at 10%, matures

August 2010, unsecured 188,051

Note payable with imputed interest
at 7%, matures January 2006,

unsecured 415,255
Note payable at 11%, matures

February 2007 * 367,072
Note payable at 7%, matures

December 2004 * 27,667

Note payable at 8.99%, matures
October 2007, collateralized by

a vehicle 31,235
Total debt 3,881,610
Less current portion 516,845
Total long-term debt $3,364,765

Future maturities of long-term debt consist of fiblllowing:

2005 $ 516,845
2006 842,997
2007 275,432
2008 191,210
2009 207,322
Thereafter 1,847,804

$ 331,364
2,198,734
143,559
296,795

210,260

602,739
186,843

56,041

449,439



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
E. INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense for the years presented dfffens the "expected” federal income tax expense edetpby applying the U.S. federal
statutory rate of 34% to earnings before incomesdsr the years ended September 30, as a reshk édllowing:

2004 2003
Computed expected tax expense $ 263,586 $ 149,02 0
State income taxes 23,257 -
Deferred tax asset valuation
allowance (286,843) (149,02 0)
Total income tax expense $ - $ -

2004 2003
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Goodwill $295,712 $5 01,606
Property and equipment 96,339 51,179
Net operating losses 153,636 2 23,097
Unrealized gain on marketable
securities (40,331) ( 40,800)
Other 16,646 -
Valuation allowance (522,002) (7 35,082)
$ - $

The Company has established a valuation allowamb@dly reserve the deferred tax assets at SepteB8he2004 and 2003 due to the
uncertainty of the timing and amounts of futureatalbe income. At September 30, 2004, the Companynbaderating loss carryforwards of
approximately $415,000, which expire in 2011 thto2§18.

F. STOCK OPTIONS

In 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Oftlan (the "1995 Plan") for employees and directoréiugust 1999 the Company
adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the "1999 Pl@ullectively, "the Plans"). The options grantetter the Plans may be either incentive
stock options, or non-qualified options. The Plarsadministered by the Board of Directors or lopmpensation committee of the Board of
Directors. The Board of Directors has the exclugigeer to select individuals to receive grantggtablish the terms of the options grante
each participant, provided that all options grardledll be granted at an exercise price equal feaat
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
F. STOCK OPTIONS - CONTINUED

85% of the fair market value of the common stockered by the option on the grant date and to mlkieterminations necessary or
advisable under the Plans.

Following is a summary of options for the yearsesh@eptember 30:

WEIG HTED WEIGHTED

AVE RAGE AVERAGE

EXER CISE EXERCISE

2004 PR ICE 2003 PRICE

Outstanding at beginning of year 498,000 $ 235 643,500 $ 2.40
Granted 575,000 2.46 40,000 1.40
Expired (165,000) 229 (185,500) 2.33
Exercised - - - -
Outstanding at end of year 908,000 2.42 498,000 2.35
Exercisable at end of year 408,000 $ 2.32 458,000 $ 241

Weighted-average remaining
contractual life 3.12 years 1.58 years

As of September 30, 2004, the range of exercigegifior outstanding options was $1.40 - $2.56.

The Company has elected to follow APB No. 25 ahakee interpretations in accounting for its empgtock options because the alterne
fair value accounting provided for under SFAS N23,1JAccounting for Stock Based Compensation, reguine use of option valuation
models that were not developed for use in valumgleyee stock options. See footnote B for relatiedldsures.

Under APB No. 25, no compensation expense is redonhen the exercise price of the Company's empley@k option equals the fair
value of the underlying stock on the date of gr&umpensation equal to the intrinsic value of erpgéostock options is recorded when the
exercise price of the stock option is less tharfdirevalue of the underlying stock on the dategynt. Any resulting compensation is
amortized to expense over the remaining vestinp@eiof the options on a straight-line basis. lheryears ended September 30, 2004 and
2003, no amounts were recorded to compensatiomsgpelated to stock options issued to employees.

Information regarding pro forma net income is regdiby SFAS 123, and has been determined as @ohgpany had accounted for its
employee stock options under the fair value methfd@FAS No. 123. The fair value of these options wstimated at the date of grant usir
Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the follogyweighted average assumptions:
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)

F. STOCK OPTIONS - CONTINUED

2004 2003
Volatility 137% 165%
Expected lives 3.3 years 3.0years
Expected dividend yield - -
Risk free rates 3.45% 3.00%

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was deuetbfor use in estimating the fair value of tradptions, which have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. In addifioption valuation models require the input ofttygsubjective assumptions including the
expected stock price volatility. Because changeblérsubjective input assumptions can materiafigcathe fair value estimate, in
management's opinion, the existing models do ncessarily provide a reliable single measure ofélrevalue of its employee stock options.

G. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
LEASES

The Company leases certain equipment and facilitefer operating leases, of which rent expensed&a6,000 and $301,000 for the years
ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Future minimum annual lease obligations as of $epés 30, 2004 approximate the following:

2005 $ 378,000
2006 405,000
2007 419,000
2008 330,000
2009 247,000
Thereafter 126,000

H. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The following information is presented in accordamdth SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segmensdnterprise and Related
Information. The Company is engaged in adult ngghbs and adult entertainment websites ("Interndtie Company has identified such
segments
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
H. SEGMENT INFORMATION -CONTINUED

based on management responsibility and the nafuhe €ompany's products, services and costs. Tdrerao major distinctions in
geographical areas served as all operations dhe ibnited States. The Company measures segmditt(fuss) as income (loss) from
operations. Total assets are those assets codthylleach reportable segment.

The following table sets forth certain informatiainout each segment's financial information forybar ended September 30:

2004 2003
Business segment sales:
Night clubs $15,163,331 $14,006,381
Internet 796,353 1,053,188
$15,959,684 $15,059,569

Business segment operating income:

Night clubs $ 2,542,482 $ 1,934,150

Internet 88,958 36,421

General corporate (1,565,871 ) (1,612,624)
$ 1,065,569 $ 357,947

Business segment capital expenditures:

Night clubs $ 659,073 $ 110,198
Internet 5,580 35,310
General corporate 35,546 16,712

$ 700,199 $ 162,220

Business segment depreciation:

Night clubs $ 385,425 $ 420,312
Internet 43,308 40,960
General corporate 115,404 70,289

$ 544,137 $ 531,561

Business segment assets:

Night clubs $ 6,640,888 $ 6,719,389

Internet 108,595 169,444

General corporate 6,450,276 5,366,679
$13,199,759 $12,255,512



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
I. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In May 2002, the Company loaned $100,000 to Eriegaa, Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Tlens unsecured, bears interest at
11% and is amortized over a period of ten years.Adte contains a provision that in the event Mingan leaves the Company for any
reason, the note immediately becomes due and gayahlll. The balance of the note was approxinya$&6,000 and $93,000 at September
30, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and is includeattier assets in the accompanying consolidatechbalsheets.

J. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN

The Company sponsors a Simple IRA plan (the "Plamtjch covers all of the Company's corporate eygxs. The Plan allows the corpot
employees to contribute up to the maximum amouatvald by law, with the Company making a matchingtdbution of 3% of the
employee's salary. Expenses related to matchingilotions to the Plan approximated $23,000 and &2 for the years ended September
30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

K. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

On February 19, 2003, the Company acquired 51% alonftthe Wild Horse Cabaret adult nightclub nelabby Airport, Houston, Texas and
will operate it as part of the Company's populaiCXTabaret group. The purchase price was $150,0@hich approximately $70,000 was
allocated to property and equipment and $80,000allasated to goodwiill.

In April 2003, the Company organized RCI Ventunes. ("RCI Ventures") to acquire from an unrelatedty Nocturnal Concepts, Inc.
("Nocturnal"), which operates as an addition to@mnpany's XTC Cabaret group. The Company traresfats ownership of Tantric
Enterprises, Inc. ("Tantric") to RCI Ventures asdaaresult of these transactions the Company aatarb1% interest in RCI Ventures. RCI
Ventures is comprised solely of Tantric and Nocalirithe other 49% owner is an unrelated individuiab previously owned 100% of
Nocturnal. The unrelated individual brings sigrdfit club experience to RCI Ventur

The transaction was accounted for as an exchangememonetary assets under APB No. 29, AccountingNbn-monetary Transactions. The
exchange was not the culmination of an earningsga®y but instead was an agreement under whidlwthstockholders share profits from
the newly formed RCI Ventures on a prospectivesbhased on respective equity ownership. As a rasultep up in basis was recorded at
the acquisition date, and the Company recognizeghinoor loss.

On June 12, 2003, the Company entered into an Assehase Agreement with Taurus Entertainment Camapalnc. ("Taurus"), whereby
the Company acquired all the assets and liabildfegaurus in exchange for 3,752,008 shares ofdsaaf the 4,002,008 that the Company
owned plus $20,000 in cash from Bluestar Physita&rapy, Inc. ("Bluestar"), the acquirer of the Tlepublic shell. As the Company is
publicly traded it was determined that the Complaag no future use for the Taurus public shell &@dGompany wanted to eliminate the
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
K. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS - CONTINUED

related costs associated with owning a separatiécpritity. The Company negotiated to retain 250,86ares of Taurus to participate in the
potential future gains from an investment in Taurus

The Company also executed an Indemnification amehJaction Fee Agreement (the "Agreement") toteiBg0,000 for which the Company
received $270,000, payable $140,000 at closindy $60,000 due on July 15, 2003, and $70,000 dutuguist 15, 2003. The remaining
outstanding balance of $70,000 is due in the rexar.tManagement has assessed the collectibililyeobutstanding balance and believes it is
fully collectible as it is collateralized by thregllion shares of Taurus stock held in escrow.

In accordance with the Agreement, the Company isdemnify Taurus for liabilities assumed by then@many, which were included in the
closing balance sheet, and liabilities that exighay arise in the future related to Taurus prioott as of the closing date of the transactior
additional significant consideration of this agrestnwas to compensate the Company for the timeeffod expended to assist in the
consummation of this transaction. The indemnifmativas requested by Bluestar, as Bluestar did ane kxperience with the Company's
adult entertainment industry and therefore didbsdieve they had a basis to determine what, if abligations could exist. The operations of
Bluestar are focused in the medical industry. The

Company previously consolidated Taurus' financtegifion, in accordance with the consolidation mdtbbaccounting, as the Company
owned greater than 50% of Taurus' shares prioohswnmating this transaction, which resulted inGoenpany properly including all of
Taurus' related liabilities in its consolidateddfirtial statements. As of the date of the transactie Company determined that it was not
probable that there would be any claims to indeynimithe future. No claims have arisen subsequetitd completion of the transaction. The
gain on the sale of the transaction included $2®ftom the Agreement, and the Company has recedraz342,000 gain in total related to
this transaction for the year ended September@18.2

On March 3, 2004, the Company acquired the assétbasiness of a 7,000 square foot gentlemen'sicidiorth Houston and it became the
Company's fifth XTC Cabaret. As a part of the teati®n, the Company entered into a new five-yeasdewith an option for five additional
years. The results of operations of this new vearadncluded in the accompanying consolidated firrstatements from the date
acquisition. The $265,000 all-cash purchase tramsagenerated goodwill of $20,000. Proforma resaftoperations have not been provided,
as the amounts were not deemed material to theolidated financial statements.

On September 30, 2004, the Company entered intock urchase Agreement with an unrelated thirtypamereby the Company sold all

its 510 shares of common stock of RCI Ventures, floc$15,000 cash and a $235,000 note receivadderiy interest at a rate of 6% over a
five year period. As a part of the transaction,rips, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, @adtric, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
RCI Ventures entered into a five year lease agreefoethe property located at 5718 Fairdale, HonsTexas. The Company has
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
K. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS - CONTINUED

recorded a $163,739 deferred gain related to thissaction for the year ended September 30, 20@g@in will be recognized upon
collection of the note receivable.

N. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED
OFFICE BUILDING

On August 12, 2004, the Company entered into ahase commitment to buy a 9,000 square foot offidkling for $512,739, payable with
$86,279 cash at closing and the remainder witfteefi year promissory note bearing interest at 9. Company closed this transaction in
mid December 2004.

ACQUISITION OF NEW YORK CLUB

On September 15, 2004, the Company's wholly-ownédidiary, RCI Entertainment New York, Inc., a N¥ark corporation ("RCI New
York"), entered into a definitive Stock Purchasedgnent (the "Stock Purchase Agreement”) with Reredenterprises, Inc., a New York
corporation ("Peregrine™) and its shareholderssipant to which RCI New York agreed to purchasefalhe shares of common stock of
Peregrine. Peregrine owns and operates an adaelt@ntment cabaret located in midtown Manhattare @dbaret club is located near the
Empire State Building and Madison Square Garded jstess than 10 blocks from Times Square. ThekSturchase Agreement provides
closing the transaction on or before December @426ubject to satisfaction of certain conditiadns|uding obtaining adequate financing, the
transfer of all existing licenses and permits td RE€w York, obtaining consent of the Landlord, exten of a Non-Disturbance Agreement,
and other conditions consistent with transactidrthie type. The closing has been extended to Jsritis 2005.

Under the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreemenpuinchase price of the transaction is $7,625,08gable $2,500,000 in cash at closing
and $5,125,000 payable in a promissory note beaiingle interest at the rate of 4.0% per annum'fmemissory Note"). The Promissory
Note is payable commencing 120 days after Closinpllows: (a) the payment of $58,333.33 per mdathwenty-four (24) consecutive
months; (b) the payment of $63,333.33 for twentyrf24) consecutive months; (c) the payment of $88,33 for twelve

(12) consecutive months; and (d) a lump sum paymftte remaining balance to be paid on the sikst-{61st) month. $2,000,000 of the
principal amount of the Promissory Note is conldetinto shares of restricted common stock at prie@ging from $4.00 to $7.50 per share.
The parties will also enter a Stock Pledge Agredraad Security Agreement to secure the Promissoitg.N

Upon closing of the transaction, the owners of §éne will enter a five-year covenant not to congpwith Peregrine, RCI New York or the
Company. The Company intends to rename the catlatetis "Rick's Cabaret" which will occupy 10,00@uare feet on three levels, with an
additional 4,000 square feet available for offipace.

F-20



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
N. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED- CONTINUED
The terms and conditions of the Stock Purchaseéxgeat were the result of extensive arm's lengtlotiegipns between the parties.

The Company has secured the financing for theeratint, acquisition and renovation of certain propgiin three separate promissory notes
pledging various real properties as collateral. ibtes obtained are as follows:

On November 15, 2004, the Company borrowed $590a0@dnual interest rate of 10% over a 10 year.t&he monthly payment of
principal and interest is $5,694.

On November 17, 2004, the Company borrowed $1,082a0 10% annual interest rate over a 10 year t€ha.monthly payment of principal
and interest is $10,056.

On November 30, 2004, the Company borrowed $900a000% annual interest rate over a 10 year tetm.rlonthly payment of principal
and interest is $9,290.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. A ND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHE ETS
ASSETS
06/30/05 9/30/04
(UNAUDITED) (AUDITED)
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 477,729 $ 275,243
Accounts receivable

Trade 89,625 72,909

Other, net 166,016 204,093
Marketable securities 31,143 122,350
Inventories 227,407 232,746
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 315,231 976,577
Net assets of discontinued operations 27,674

Total current assets 1,307,151 1,911,592

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Buildings, land and leasehold improvements 12,534,604 9,394,619
Furniture and equipment 2,342,859 1,946,583

14,877,463 11,341,202

Accumulated depreciation (3,046,133) (2,659,762)

Total property and equipment, net 11,831,330 8,681,440

OTHER ASSETS

Goodwill, net 2,326,031 1,898,926

Other intangible assets, net 7,831,597

Other 491,934 432,658
Total other assets 10,649,562 2,331,584
Total assets $ 23,788,043 $ 12,924,616

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE S

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable - trade
Accrued liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt

Total current liabilities

Deferred gain on sale of subsidiary
Long-term debt less current portion

Total liabilities

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
MINORITY INTERESTS

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000,000 shares
authorized; none outstanding

Common stock, $.01 par, 15,000,000 shares
authorized; 4,995,678 and 4,608,678 shares issu

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Accumulated deficit

Less 908,530 shares of common stock held in treas
at cost

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.
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AND SUBSIDIARIES

HEETS
S EQUITY
06/30/05 9/30/04
(UNAUDITED) (AUDITED)
$ 403,740 $ 291,650
1,057,094 588,883
1,041,826 492,310
2,502,660 1,372,843
163,739 163,739
11,798,023 3,201,250
14,464,422 4,737,832
47,169 40,808
ed 49,957 46,087
12,446,049 11,273,149
17,796 109,002
(1,943,570)  (1,988,482)
ury,
(1,293,780)  (1,293,780)
9,276,452 8,145,976
$ 23,788,043 $ 12,924,616




RICK'S CABARET INTERN ATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS FOR TH E NINE MONTHS
ENDED JUNE 30, E NDED JUNE 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED)
Continuing Operations:
Revenues:
Sales of alcoholic beverages $ 1,363,425 $ 1,269,908 $ 3,766,469 $ 4,329,346
Sales of food and merchandise 414,348 394,785 1,205,446 1,154,109
Service revenues 1,673,269 1,594,664 4,766,110 4,314,514
Internet revenues 200,876 200,300 568,836 603,723
Other 77,093 61,961 197,751 245,767
Total revenues 3,729,011 3,521,618 10,504,612 10,647,459
Operating expenses:
Cost of goods sold 438,444 353,359 1,284,378 1,228,144
Salaries and wages 1,315,625 1,292,352 3,727,169 3,676,524
Other general and administrative:
Taxes and permits 484,244 459,866 1,405,870 1,438,470
Charge card fees 52,353 64,423 167,649 183,299
Rent 128,874 97,800 306,697 256,602
Legal and professional 156,750 130,336 502,829 406,244
Advertising and marketing 185,963 246,246 543,566 616,865
Depreciation and amortization 141,532 122,315 408,773 369,666
Other 661,623 538,591 1,838,823 1,538,278
Total operating expenses 3,565,408 3,305,288 10,185,754 9,714,092
Income from continuing operations 163,603 216,330 318,858 933,367
Other income (expense):
Interest income 6,868 6,270 27,611 21,085
Interest expense (181,348) (83,014) (438,298) (242,337)
Gain from sale of marketable securities - 2,929 - 19,807
Minority interests 53 (17,471) (6,360) (6,925)
Other 143 451 (591) (2,071)
Net income (loss) from continuing
operations (10,681) 125,495 (98,780) 722,926
Discontinued operations:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations - (34,920) (148,294) (24,839)
Gain on sale of discontinued operations - - 291,987 -
Net income (loss) $ (10,681) $ 90,575 $ 44,913 $ 698,087
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations  $ 0.00 $ 0.03 $ (0.03) $ 0.20
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.00 (0.01) 0.04 (0.01)
Net income (loss), basic $ 0.00 $ 0.02 $ 0.01 $ 0.19
Net income (loss), diluted $ 0.00 $ 0.02 $ 0.01 $ 0.19

Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding:
Basic 3,967,148 3,700,148 3,816,592 3,700,148

Diluted 3,967,148 3,700,148 3,938,960 3,700,148

Comprehensive income for the three months endeel 3002005 and 2004 were ($24,029) and $19,874faaride nine months were
($46,294) and $664,844, respectively. This inclutieschanges in available-for-sale securities atdntome (loss).

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
NINE MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2

AND SUBSIDIARIES
CASH FLOWS
005 AND 2004

2005 2004
(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income $ 44913 $ 698,087
Loss from discontinued operations 148,294 24,839
Gain on sale of discontinued operations (291,987) ---

Income (loss) from continuing operations (98,780) 722,926

Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from

continuing operations to cash provided by operati ng

activities:

Depreciation and amortization 408,773 369,666
Minority interests 6,360 6,925
Gain on sale of marketable securities (19,807)
Common Stock issued for professional services 27,120
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 600,686 (666,995)

Cash provided by operating activities 944,159 412,715

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Additions to property and equipment (2,469,609) (288,625)

Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 21,460

Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations 550,000

Payments for notes receivable 21,303 3,023

Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired (2,587,846) (265,000)

Cash used in investing activities (4,486,152) (529,142)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from sale of common stock 474,650

Proceeds from long-term debt 4,062,000 300,000

Payments on long-term debt (792,171) (386,530)

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 3,744,479 (86,530)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 202,486 (202,957)
CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 275,243 563,559
CASH AT END OF PERIOD $ 477,729 $ 360,602

CASH PAID DURING PERIOD FOR:
Interest $ 435999 $ 244,431

Non-cash transactions:

During the quarter ended December 31, 2004, thegaagnpurchased a 9,000 square foot office builfiing516,499, payable with $90,039
cash at closing and a fifteen-year promissory rfm¢aring interest rate at 7%, in the amount of $&®%

On January 18, 2005, the Company purchased arcidew York for $7,775,000, payable with $2,500,@8@8h at closing and a five-year
secured convertible promissory note, bearing istawge at 4%, in the amount of $5,125,000, ants&etion costs of $150,000.

On March 31, 2005, 12,000 shares of restricted comstock were issued as compensation pursuantdosulting agreement for a total
value of $27,120, and were issued as part of Hreséiction costs related to the club in New York.

On June 10, 2005, the Company purchased a clubani@te, North Carolina for $1,000,000, payabléwei seven-year promissory note
bearing interest at a rate of 7%, in the amou$3@5,000 and 180,000 shares of common stock vat$675,000.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2005

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited financial statemente baen prepared in accordance with accountingiple@scgenerally accepted in the
United States of America for interim financial imfeation and with the instructions to Form 10-QSBrefyulation S-B. They do not include
all information and footnotes required by accougtiminciples generally accepted in the United StafeAmerica for complete financial
statements. However, except as disclosed heraire ttas been no material change in the informaliseiosed in the notes to the financial
statements for the year ended September 30, 260:41ad in the Company's Annual Report on Form 1®8HKied with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The interim unaudited findrst@tements should be read in conjunction witlséhiinancial statements included in
the Form 10-KSB. In the opinion of Managementadiustments considered necessary for a fair praemi consisting solely of normal
recurring adjustments, have been made. Operatsultsefor the three months and nine months endee 30, 2005 are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be expectedteryear ending September 30, 2005.

2. STOCK OPTIONS

The Company accounts for its stock options undergicognition and measurement principles of Acdagrrinciples Board ("APB")

opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Eaygles, and related Interpretations. The followatge illustrates the effect on net income
(loss) and earnings (loss) per share if the Compayapplied the fair value recognition provisiofi$tatement of Financial Accounting
Standard ("SFAS") No. 123, Accounting for Stock & €ompensation, to stock-based employee compensdtie following presents pro
forma net income (loss) and per share data afaif &alue accounting method had been used to atdoustock-based compensation:

FOR THE THREE MONTHS FOR THE NINE MONTHS
ENDE D JUNE 30, ENDED JUNE 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Net income (loss), as reported $ (10,681) $ 90,575 $ 44913 $ 698,087

Less total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under the fair value

based method for all awards (128,393) (11,943) (385,179) (187,122)
Pro forma net income (loss) o $ (139,074) $ 78,632 $ (346:-2-66) $ 510965
Earnings (loss) per share: o
Basic - as reported $ 0.00 $ 0.02 $ 0.01 $ 0.19
Diluted - as reported T $ 0.00 $ 0.02 $ 0.01 $ 0.19
Basic and diluted - pro forma $ (0.04) $ 0.02 $ (0.09) $ 0.14
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2005

3. RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiegbbform to the current year presentation.

4. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Company reports comprehensive income in acnoed@ith the provisions of SFAS No. 130, Reportt@mprehensive Income.
Comprehensive income consists of net income (lsd)gains (losses) on available-for-sale marketsdtarities.

5. COMMON STOCK

In January 2005, 20,000 stock options were exatdigethe Company's employees and directors for6Z0,In March 2005, the Company
issued 150,000 shares of common stock to an uackiavestor and received proceeds of $375,000002%0ares of restricted common stock
were issued at a value of $2.26 per share pursoantonsulting agreement, and 25,000 stock optigre exercised by the Company's
employees for $60,025. On June 10, 2005, the Coyniganed 180,000 shares of common stock pursuahetpurchase of a club in
Charlotte, North Carolina. See Note 9.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Below is the financial information related to therfpany's segments:

FOR THE THR EE MONTHS FOR THE NINE MONTHS
ENDED JUNE 30, ENDED JUNE 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
REVENUES
Club operations $ 3,528,135 $ 3 321,318 $ 9,935,776 $ 10,043,736
Internet websites 200,876 200,300 568,836 603,723
$ 3,729,011 $ 3 ,521,618 $ 10,504,612 $ 10,647,459
NET INCOME (LOSS)
Club operations $ 466,967 $ 508,275 $ 1,414,536 $ 1,834,454
Internet websites 39,893 36,227 98,304 62,135
Corporate expenses (517,541) (419,007) (1,611,620) (1,173,663)
Discontinued operations -- (34,920) 143,693 (24,839)
$ (10,681) $ 90,575 $ 44913 $ 698,087
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2005

7. REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise, and seraicthe point-of-sale upon receipt of
cash, check, or credit card charge. This inclu@ddly,cannual and lifetime VIP memberships.

Under Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenuec8gnition in Financial Statements, membership reeeshould be deferred and
recognized over the estimated membership usagedodfianagement estimates that the weighted aversafel lives for memberships are 12
and 24 months for annual and lifetime membershgspectively. The Company does not track memberstage by type of membership,
however it believes these lives are appropriatecandervative, based on management's knowledge dfént base and membership usage at
the clubs.

If the Company had deferred membership revenugeraijnized it based on the lives above, the impacevenue and net income (loss)
recognized would have been an increase of appraeiyndl,721 and $13,675 for the three months andeease of $3,591 and $37,424 for
the nine months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 atesge. This would have also resulted in a defémevenue balance of approximately
$345 and $22,126 as of June 30, 2005 and 2004 ctrsgly. Management does not believe the impathisfdifference in accounting
treatment is material to the Company's annual ardterly financial statements. However, the Compagyan to record revenues in such
manner effective January 1, 2004, and hence asnef 30, 2005 deferred revenues of $21,994 havereeerded related to such
memberships.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from mgmsthibscriptions to its online entertainment sité@mnotification of a new subscription
is received from the third party hosting companyrom the credit card company, usually two to thdegs after the transaction has occurred.
The Company recognizes Internet auction revenueywhgment is received from the credit card compgevenues are not deemed
estimable nor collection deemed probable prioh#d point.

8. LONG-TERM DEBT

On November 15 and 17, 2004, the Company borros80,$00 and $1,042,000, respectively, from a firanstitution at an annual inter:
rate of 10% over a 10 year term. The monthly paymehprincipal and interest are $5,694 and $10Q,8&pectively. The note is secured by
the Company's properties located at 2023 Sable, |%are Antonio and at 410 N. Sam Houston PKWY Eydtan, Texas. On November 30,
2004, the Company borrowed $900,000 from an ureeletdividual at an 11% annual interest rate oved gear term. The monthly payment
of principal and interest is $9,290. The note used by the Company's properties located in 350dtiee, Austin and at 5718 Fairdale,
Houston, Texas. On December 30, 2004, the Compamgwed $1,270,000 from a financial institutioraatannual interest rate of 10% over
a 10 year term. The monthly payment of principal anerest is $12,256. The note is secured by tiragainy's property located at 3113
Bering Drive, Houston, Texas.

F-28



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2005

8. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)
The money received from this financing was usedHeracquisition and renovation of the New Yorkixlu

On June 17, 2005, the Company borrowed $160,000 &rshareholder and $100,000 from an unrelatedithgal at an annual interest rate of
12% and 11% over 3 and 10 year term, respectively.

9. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

On January 18, 2005, the Company completed thasitiqn of Peregrine Enterprises, Inc., which opedahe Paradise Club in Midtown
Manhattan, New York (50 West 33rd Street). Theltodasideration was for $7.775 million for the @ssend stock of the former Paradise
Club, which had operated on the site for more thdecade. The transaction consisted of $2.5 milfiarash and $5.125 million in a
promissory note bearing simple interest at the d&e0% per annum with a balloon payment at enfivefyears, part of which is convertible
to restricted shares of Rick's Cabaret common sibgkices ranging from $4.00 to $7.50 per shard,teansaction costs of $150,000. The
results of operations of the club are includedunansolidated statement of operations from Jani@r2005.

The following information summarizes the initialedation of fair values assigned to the assetdiabdities at the acquisition date based ¢
preliminary valuation. Subsequent adjustments neageborded upon the completion of the valuationtaedinal determination of the
purchase price allocation.

Current assets $ 150,000
Discounted lease 446,486
Non-compete agreement 100,000
License 7,307,514

Current liabilities assumed (229,000)

Net assets acquired $ 7,775,000

The following unaudited pro forma information pretsethe results of operations as if the acquisitiad occurred as of the beginning of the
immediate preceding period. The pro forma inforovais not necessarily indicative of what would haeeurred had the acquisition been
made as of such periods, nor is it indicative ¢difel results of operations. The pro forma amouivs gffect to appropriate adjustments for
the fair value of the assets acquired, amortizadfdntangibles and interest expense.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2005

9. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS (continued)

FOR THE THREE M ONTHS FOR THE NINE MONTHS
ENDED JUNE 30, ENDED JUNE 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Revenues $ 3,729,011 $ 4,183,244 $ 10,990,612 $ 12,478,285
Net income (loss) from continuing
operations (10,681) 138,309 (378,780) 352,293
Net income (loss) $ (10,681) $ 100,868 $ (235,087) $ 324,935

Net income (loss) per share -
basic and diluted $ 0.00 $ 0.03 $ (0.06) $ 0.09

On March 31, 2005, the Company completed the dade®of its clubs known as 'Rick's South' to MB@géisition LLC for $550,000 cash.

In connection with the sale, the Company recordgdia of $291,987. The club's business was accddateas discontinued operations under
accounting principles generally accepted in thetdthStates of America and therefore, the clubislt®ef operations and cash flows have
been removed from the Company's consolidated eesfittontinuing operations and cash flows for alipds presented in this document and
such assets and liabilities as of September 304 B@0e been netted in one line item on the balaheet.

On June 10, 2005, the Company completed the atiquisif a 30,000 square foot nightclub in Charloierth Carolina, which was
previously known as 'The Manhattan Club' (5300 Bilikville Road). The venue has been renamed Riabtsret. The purchase price was
$1,000,000 through the issuance of 180,000 shameswicted common stock valued at $675,000 aselv@n-year promissory note of
$325,000, bearing interest at a rate of 7%. The issecured by liens upon the assets of and hereafjuired assets of RCI Entertainment
(North Carolina), Inc. The results of operationgtaf club are included in the Company's consolilatatement of operations from February
1, 2005, when we assumed risk of loss for the slapération under our management.

The following information summarizes the initialedation of fair values assigned to the assetdiabdities at the acquisition date based ¢
preliminary valuation. Subsequent adjustments neageborded upon the completion of the valuationtaedinal determination of the
purchase price allocation.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2005

9. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS (continued)

Current assets $ 1045 95
Property & equipment, net depreciation 640,1 92
Goodwill 427,1 05
Other assets 15 10
Current liabilities assumed (173,4 02)
Net assets acquired $ 1,000,0 00

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On July 12, 2005, the Company organized RCI Dafiayvices, Inc. ("RCI Dating"), which operates asddition to the Company's internet
operations, to acquire CouplesClick.net from Cligkbh LLC ("ClickMatch"). The Company transferresl @wnership in CouplesTouch.com
to RCI Dating and as a result of the transactienGbmpany obtained an 85% interest in RCI Datirty tie other 15% owned by
ClickMatch.

On July 20, 2005, the Company issued 40,000 stptikres to its Board of Directors.

On July 22, 2005, the Company entered into a sdaorvertible debenture with one of its sharehader a principal sum of $660,000,
which includes the loan on June 17, 2005, in thewarhof $160,000. The term is for three years atetést rate is at 12% per annum. The
debenture matures on August 1, 2008. The Compaayisdued 50,000 warrants at $3.00 per sharedtiaelto this debenture. The debenture
is secured by Company's ownership in Citation Lahd; and RCI Holdings, Inc., both are wholly ownsabsidiaries.

In July 2005, the Company received additional being in the amount of $100,000 from the same utedléndividual who advanced
$100,000 in June 2005, and with whom the Compaudytiva existing notes. The term is for 10 years tedinterest rate is 11% per annum.
On August 15, 2005, the notes were amended anahtioeints from June and July were included in orteehotes, for a combined total of
$1,341,520.34 payable to this individual.

On July 27, 2005, the Company issued subscriptipaemnents for 200,000 shares valued at $400,000.
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PART Il - INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS
ITEM 24. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS.

The officers and directors of the Company are ingiéed as provided by the Texas Business Corpanatict (the "TBCA") and the Bylaws
of the Company. Unless specifically limited by apmration's articles of incorporation, the TBCA@uttically provides directors with
immunity from monetary liabilities. Our Articles trficorporation do not contain any such limitingdaage. Excepted from that immunity &

a. willful failure to deal fairly with the corporian or its shareholders in connection with a mattewhich the director has a material conflict
of interest;

b. a violation of criminal law unless the direct@d reasonable cause to believe that his or helucbrvas lawful or no reasonable cause to
believe that his or her conduct was unlawful;

c. a transaction from which the director derivedraproper personal profit; and

d. willful misconduct.

The Articles of Incorporation provide that the Canp will indemnify its officers, directors, legapresentative, and persons serving at the
request of the Company as a director or officaarafther corporation, or as its representativeparénership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise to the fullest extent legally permissibhder the laws of the State of Texas againsixaknses, liability and loss (including
attorney's fees, judgments, fines and amountsquaial be paid in settlement) reasonably incurresuffered by that person as a result of that
connection to the Company. This right of indemmifion under the Articles is a contract right whinhy be enforced in any manner by such
person and extends for such persons benefit taxatins undertaken on behalf of the Company.

The Bylaws of the Company provide that the Compaithyindemnify its directors and officers to thellest extent not prohibited by Texas
law; provided, however, that the Company may mothify extent of such indemnification by individuahtracts with its directors and

officers; and, provided, further, that the Compahgll not be required to indemnify any directopfficer in connection with any proceeding
(or part thereof) initiated by such person unless

(i) such indemnification is expressly required torhade by law, (ii) the proceeding was authorizethi Board of Directors of the Company,
(iiif) such indemnification is provided by the Commgain its sole discretion, pursuant to the powasted in the Company under Texas law or
(iv) such indemnification is required to be madespant to the Bylaws.

The Bylaws of the Company provide that the Compaiflyadvance to any person who was or is a partig tinreatened to be made a party to
any threatened, pending or completed action, syitaceeding, whether civil, criminal, administratior investigative, by reason of the fact
that he is or was a director or officer, of the Qamy, or is or was serving at the request of the@amy as a director or executive officer of
another Company, partnership, joint venture, tongither enterprise, prior to the final dispositafrthe proceeding, promptly following
request therefor, all expenses incurred by anytlireor officer in connection with such proceedimmpn receipt of an undertaking by or on
behalf of such person to repay said amounts Hausd be determined ultimately that such persartsentitled to be indemnified under the
Bylaws of the Company or otherwise.

Our Bylaws provide that no advance shall be madéyCompany to an officer of the Company (exceptdason of the fact that such offis
is or was a director of the Company in which eubig paragraph shall not apply) in any action, suproceeding, whether civil, criminal,
administrative or investigative, if a determinatismeasonably and promptly made (i) by the Bodmigectors by a majority vote of a
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guorum consisting of directors who were not partiethe proceeding, or (i) if such quorum is nbtainable, or, even if obtainable, a quorum
of disinterested directors so directs, by indepahtégal counsel in a written opinion, that thetédanown to the decision-making party at the
time such determination is made demonstrate cleaudlyconvincingly that such person acted in bat fai in a manner that such person did
not believe to be in or not opposed to the bestésts of the Company.

ITEM 25. OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION.

The following table sets forth estimated expensg@®eted to be incurred in connection with the issgaand distribution of the securities
being registered. All such expenses will be paidiby

Securities and Exchange Commission Registration Fee $ 501.40
Printing and Engraving Expenses $ 1,000.00
Accounting Fees and Expenses $ 5,000.00
Legal Fees and Expenses $15,000.00
Blue Sky Qualification Fees and Expenses -0-
Miscellaneous -0-
TOTAL $21,501.40

(*) To be updated by amendment.
ITEM 26. RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES.

Set forth below is information regarding the isst@and sales of our securities without registratioring the last three years. Except as
otherwise noted, all sales below were made inme#aon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1983amended (the "Act") and no such sales
involved the use of an underwriter and no commissigere paid in connection with the sale of anysges. No advertising or general
solicitation was employed in offering the secustitn each instance, the offerings and sales weaderto a limited number of persons, who
were either (i) accredited investors,

(i) business associates of the Company (iii) etygds of the Company, or

(iv) executive officers or directors of the Compahyaddition, the transfer of such securities wesdricted by the Company in accordance
with the requirements of the Act. Furthermore pélihe above-referenced persons were provided adtiess to our filings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

1. On July 22, 2005, we entered into a securedenible debenture with one of our shareholderafprincipal sum of $660,000 which bears
interest at the rate of 12% per annum. The teriorithree years. The debenture matures on AuguXd8. The principal amount of the
debenture is convertible into shares of our comstook at a rate of $3.00 per share. We also isS0gi00 warrants at $3.00 per share in
relation to this debenture. The debenture is sedoyeour ownership in Citation Land, LLC and RCIll#iags, Inc., both are wholly owned
subsidiaries.

2. In July 2005, we sold 200,000 shares of our comstock in a private transaction to 13 persor&2a80 per share for a total consideration
of $400,000.

3. On June 10, 2005, as a part of the purchasaigidclub in Charlotte, North Carolina, we issud&,000 shares of our common stock tc
Seller which, pursuant to the Purchase Agreemesrie walued at $675,000.
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4. In March 2005, we sold 150,000 shares of ourmomstock in a private transaction to one inveat®#2.50 per share and received
proceeds of $375,000.

5. In March 2005, we issued 12,000 shares of airiceed common stock at a value of $2.26 per sfmreonsulting services.

6. On January 18, 2005, we entered a Secured GidrigeMote with Peregrine Enterprises, Inc. in #meount of $5,125,000 bearing simple
interest at the rate of 4.0% per annum. The Nopaysble commencing 20 days after Closing as fald@a) the payment of $58,333.33 per
month for twenty-four (24) consecutive months;tfi® payment of $63,333.33 for twenty-four (24) amgive months; (c) the payment of
$68,333.33 for twelve (12) consecutive months; @dh lump sum payment of the remaining balandsetpaid on the sixty-first (61st)
month. $2,000,000 of the principle amount of theeNie convertible into shares of our restricted m@mn stock at prices ranging from $4.0!
$7.50 per share.

7. In August 2002, we issued 10,000 shares of @stricted common stock to WMF Investments, Ingoagnment-in-kind for improvements to
the real estate at our Chesapeake Bay Cabaretustéio

ITEM 27. EXHIBITS.

The following is a list of exhibits filed as patftthis registration statement. Where so indicatgdolotnote, exhibits which were previously
filed are incorporated herein by reference. Anyesteent contained in an Incorporated Document sleatieemed to be modified or superse
for purposes of this Registration Statement toetktent that a statement contained herein or inodimgr subsequently filed Incorporated
Document modifies or supersedes such statementséety statement so modified or superseded shallendeemed, except as so modifie:
superseded, to constitute a part of this Registraitatement.

Exhibit

Number Description

3.1  Atrticles of Incorporation of Rick's Cabare t International, Inc. (1)

3.2 Bylaws of Rick's Cabaret International, In c. (1)

4.1  Stock Purchase Agreement with Philip Einse nberg dated September 14, 2004 (2)
4.2  Secured Convertible Promissory Note with P hilip Eisenberg dated January 18, 2005 (2)
4.3 Purchase Agreement with Tony Hege dated Ju ne 11, 2005 (3)

4.4 Promissory Note (Tony Hege) dated June 10, 2005 (3)

4.5  Subscription Agreement (Jay Teitelbaum) da ted February 24, 2005 (4)

4.6  Secured Convertible Debenture with Ralph M cElroy dated July 22, 2005 (4)

4.7  Warrant Agreement (Ralph McElroy) dated Ju ly 22, 2005 (4)

4.8  Subscription Agreement [Form Of] (4)

5.1 Form Of -- Legal Opinion of Axelrod, Smith & Kirshbaum, P.C. (4)

10.1 Employment Agreement with Eric Langan (4)

10.2 Employment Agreement with Travis Reese (4)

21.1 List of Subsidiaries (4)

23.1 Consent of Whitley Penn, Independent Regis tered Public Accounting Firm

Footnotes to Exhibits:

(1) Previously filed as an exhibit to the Compardsm SB-2 on January 11, 1995.
(2) Previously filed with the Company's Form 8-K &ganuary 24, 2005.

(3) Previously filed with the Company's Form 8-Kdaume 15, 2005.

(4) Filed herewith.
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ITEM 28. UNDERTAKINGS.
(1) The Company hereby undertakes:
(a) To file, during any period in which offers @las are being made, a post-effective amendmehistoegistration:

(1) To include any prospectus required by Sectid@)(3) of the Securities Act;

(2) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or evamising after the effective date of the RegigiraStatement (or the most recent post-
effective amendment thereof) which, individuallyimthe aggregate, represent a fundamental chantipe iinformation set forth in the
Registration Statement; and

(3) To include any material information with respecthe plan of distribution not previously disséul in the Registration Statement or any
material change to such information in the RedismaStatement;

(b) That, for the purpose of determining any lispiinder the Securities Act of 1933, each such-ptfective amendment shall be deemed to
be a new Registration Statement relating to thar#texs offered therein, and the offering of sueligities at that time shall be deemed to be
the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(c) To remove from registration by means of pof¢aifve amendment any of the securities being tegid which remain unsold at the
termination of the offering.

(2) The Company hereby undertakes that, for pugpotdetermining any liability under the Securithest, each filing of the Company's
annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(dhefSecurities Exchange Act of 1934 that is inoacaped by reference in the Registration
Statement shall be deemed to be a new Registi@tatement relating to the securities offered tmer@nd the offering of such securities at
time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fideraig thereof.

(3) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities ang under the Securities Act may be permitted teators, officers and controlling persons of
the Company pursuant to the foregoing provisionstleerwise, the Company has been advised thaeinpinion of the Securities and
Exchange Commission such indemnification is agginbtic policy as expressed in the Securities A i@, therefore, unenforceable. In the
event that a claim for indemnification against slighilities (other than the payment by the Compahgxpenses incurred or paid by the
director, officer or controlling person of the Coamy in the successful defense of any action, syitaceeding) is asserted by such director,
officer or controlling person in connection withethecurities being registered, the Company wilessin the opinion of the counsel the
matter has been settled by controlling precedeibing to the appropriate jurisdiction the questidrvhether such indemnification by it is
against public policy as expressed in the Act aitidoe governed by the final adjudication of sushuie.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoA&B33, as amended, the registrant certifiesithets reasonable grounds to believe that it
meets all of the requirements for filing on Form-3Rnd has duly caused this registration statemodne signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 2izrydof August, 2005.

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By /s/ Eric Langan

Eric Langan
Presi dent and Chief Executive Oficer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. and each ofuthéersigned do hereby appoint Eric Langan hisandlawful attorney to execute on behalf
of Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. and the usigred any and all amendments to this Registr&tatement on Form SB-2 and to file the
same with all exhibits thereto and other documant®nnection therewith, with the Securities andltange Commission; each of such
persons shall have the power to act hereunderarigtithout the other.

In accordance with the requirements of the Seeugrifict of 1933, this Registration Statement has lsemed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the dates stated.

Signature Title Date

By /s/ Eric Langan Chai rman of the Board, Director, August 22, 2005
--------------------- President, Chief Executive O ficer,

Eric Langan And Chief Financial Oficer

By /s/ Travis Reese Vi ce President and Director August 21, 2005

Travi s Reese

By /s/ Steven L. Jenkins Director August 22, 2005

Steven L. Jenkins

By /s/ Al an Bergstrom Di rector August 22, 2005

By /s/ Robert Watters Director August 22, 2005

Robert Watters
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SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT
RICKS CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Ricks Cabaret International, Inc.
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

The undersigned, Jay Teitelbaum (the "Subscrihertlerstands that Ricks Cabaret International, n€gxas Corporation (the "Company"
offering for sale to the undersigned 150,000 shaf€&mmon Stock (Common Stock) at a purchase fi§2.50 per share, for a total
aggregate purchase price of $375,000.00. The Sbbsacknowledges and understands that the offerfitige Common Stock (the
"Offering") is being made without registration btCommon Stock under the Securities Act of 1983 mended (the "Act"), or any
securities "blue sky" or other similar laws of astgite ("State Securities Laws").

1. SUBSCRIPTION. Subject to the terms and conditibareof, the Subscriber hereby subscribes foagneks to purchase 150,000 shares of
Common Stock for the aggregate purchase price @ $80.00 upon acceptance of this Subscription émgemnt.

2. PAYMENT FOR THE COMMON STOCK. The undersignedleses herewith $375,000.00 required to purchas€tmmon Stock
subscribed for hereunder. If this subscriptiondsaccepted by the Company for any reason, allmiecits will be returned to the Subscriber.

3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SUBSCRIBERhe Subscriber hereby represents and warramtsda@ovenants
with the Company, as well as each officer, direetwmdl agent of the Company as follows:

(a) General

() The Subscriber has all requisite authority mdee into this Subscription Agreement and to penfatl the obligations required to be
performed by the Subscriber hereunder.

(i) The Subscriber is the sole party in interasd & not acquiring the Common Stock as an ageathmrwise for any other person. The
Subscriber is a resident of the state set fortlosipg its name on the signature page hereto anflg@prporation, partnership, trust or other
form of business organization, it has its principfiice within such state; (b) if an individual, be she has his or her principal residence in
such state; and (c) if a corporation, partnerdhist or other form of business organization whias organized for the specific purpose or
acquiring the Common Stock, all of the benefici@hers are residents of such state.

(iii) The Subscriber recognizes that the total anmtaif funds tendered to purchase the Common Stoplaced at the risk of the business and
may be



completely lost. The purchase of the Common StdckeoCompany as an investment involves extrenke ris

(iv) The Subscriber realizes that the Common Stoinot readily be sold as the shares of CommorkStecrestricted securities, that it may
not be possible to sell or dispose of the CommaoniSand therefore the Common Stock must not behagied unless the Subscriber has
liquid assets sufficient to assure that such pwehell cause no undue financial difficulties ahd Subscriber can provide for current needs
and personal contingencies.

(v) The Subscriber confirms and represents thas hble (a) to bear the economic risk of his inmestt, (b) to hold the securities for an
indefinite period of time, and (c) to afford a cdetp loss of his investment. The Subscriber alpoasents that he has (x) adequate means of
providing for his current needs and personal cgetirties, and (y) has no need for liquidity in fhasticular investment.

(vi) The Subscriber has not become aware of therioff of Common Stock of the Company by any forngerferal solicitation or advertising,
including, but not limited to advertisements, dets; notices or other communications publishechinreewspaper, magazine or other similar
media or broadcast over television or radio or seyinar or meeting where those individuals thattettended have been invited by any ¢
or similar means of general solicitation or adsntj.

(b) Information Concerning the Company.

(i) The Subscriber acknowledges that he has redeilleurrent information about the Company inchglthe Company's (A) Form 10-KSB
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004, (B)FLO-QSB for the Company's quarter ended DeceBhe2004; and (C) Form R-of the
Company filed September 17, 2004 and January 23f 2&iled Documents").

(i) The Subscriber or his representative is faanilith the business and financial condition, prtps, operations and prospects of the
Company, and, at a reasonable time prior to thewgian of this Subscription Agreement, that he hisdrepresentative have been affordec
opportunity to ask questions of and receive satisfg answers from the Company's officers and thrsc or other persons acting on the
Company's behalf, concerning the business anddiabrondition, properties, operations and prospetthe Company and concerning the
terms and conditions of the offering of the ComnStack and has asked such questions as he or hesespative desires to ask and all such
guestions have been answered to the full satisfacti the Subscriber.

(iii) The Subscriber has been furnished, has clyafead, and has relied solely (except for infotima obtained pursuant to

(iv) below, on the information contained in thegilDocuments, and Subscriber has not receivedthey offering literature or prospectus,
and no verbal or written representations or waieartiave been made to Subscriber by the Compaiitg, @mployees or agents, other than
representations of the Company set forth hereiniratite Filed Documents.
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(iv) The Subscriber has had an unrestricted oppiytto: (i) obtain additional information concengi the offering of Common Stocks (the
"Offering"), the Common Stock, the Company and ather matters relating directly or indirectly tolSariber's purchase of the Common
Stock; and (ii) ask questions of, and receive ansfvem the Company concerning the terms and cimmgitof the Offering and to obtain such
additional information as may have been necessavgrify the accuracy of the information contairedhe Filed Documents.

(v) The Subscriber understands that, unless thec3ibler notifies the Company in writing to the aany, all the representations and
warranties contained in this Subscription Agreemvghtbe deemed to have been reaffirmed and comitnaking into account all informati
received by the Subscriber.

(vi) The Subscriber understands that the purchiifeedCommon Stock involves various risks, inclgdibut not limited to, those outlined in
this Subscription Agreement.

(vii) The Subscriber acknowledges that no repredimts or warranties have been made to the Sulesdribthe Company as to the tax
consequences of this investment, or as to prddisses or cash flow which may be received or susthas a result of this investment.

(viii) All documents, records and books pertainioga proposed investment in the Common Stock witiielSubscriber or his representative
has requested have been made available to the rfdvsc

(ix) The Subscriber or his representative has Ipeevided access to all information requested iruatang his purchase of the Common
Stock.

(c) Status of the Subscriber

(i) The Subscriber represents that the SubscribaniAccredited Investor as that term is definetthénAct as that term is defined in the Act
(check each category of "Accredited Investor" belalich is applicable to the Subscriber):

() (A) a natural person whose individual net wpahjoint net worth with that person's spousehattime of his purchase exceeds $1,000,
or

() (B) a natural person who had an individual meoin excess of $200,000 in each of the two mastmeyears or joint income with that
person's spouse in excess of $300,000 in eaclosé tyears and has a reasonable expectation ofrgahke same income level in the current
year.

(i) The Subscriber agrees to furnish any additiamf@rmation requested to assure compliance wihlieaable Federal and State Securities
Laws in connection with the purchase and sale @bmmon Stock.

(d) Restrictions on Transfer or Sale of the Comi8totk




(i) The Subscriber is acquiring the Common Stodssstibed solely for the Subscriber's own benefatalount, for investment purposes, and
not with view to, or for resale in connection witlny distribution of the Common Stock. The Subsariinderstands that the offer and the

of the Common Stock has not been registered uhdeidt or any State Securities Laws by reason eifip exemptions under the provisic
thereof which depend in part upon the investmeteninof the Subscriber and of the other represientaimade by the Subscriber in this
Subscription Agreement. The Subscriber understiiratshe Company is relying upon the representafioovenants and agreements
contained in this Subscription Agreement (and ampptemental information) for the purposes of deteing whether this transaction meets
the requirements for such exemptions.

(i) The Subscriber understands that the shar€&oaimon Stock are "restricted securities" underiagple federal securities laws and that the
Act and the rules of the Securities and Exchangam@ission (the "Commission") provide in substan@ the Subscriber may dispose of the
Common Stock only pursuant to an effective regigtmastatement under the Act or an exemption thenef While the Company has agree
grant "piggy-back” registration rights to the Haldereof, the Subscriber acknowledges that the @Gommay not file a Registration
Statement with the Commission and that if filed representation is made as to when such Registr&tatement would be declared effective
by the Commission. The certificates evidencingshares of Common stock offered hereby will beagahd which clearly sets forth this
restriction. The Subscriber understands that thes&iber may not at any time demand the purchasbébompany of the Subscriber's
Common Stock.

(iii) The Subscriber agrees: (A) that the Subserilé not sell, assign, pledge, give, transfetinerwise dispose of the Common Stock or
interest therein, or make any offer or attemptdady of the foregoing, except pursuant to a reggish of the Common Stock under the Act
and all applicable State Securities Laws or iraagaction which is exempt from the registratiorvfgions of the Act and all applicable State
Securities Laws; (B) that the Company and any fearegent for the Common Stock shall not be reguioegive effect to any purported
transfer of any of the Common Stock except upongimmce with the foregoing restrictions; and (CGtth restrictive legend will be placed
the certificates representing the Common Stock.

(iv) The Subscriber has not offered or sold anytiporof the subscribed for Common Stock and hagresent intention of dividing such
Common Stock with others or of reselling or otheewilisposing of any portion of such Common Stotheeicurrently or after the passage of
a fixed or determinable period of time or upondiseurrence or nonoccurrence of any predeterminedtew circumstance.

4. SURVIVAL AND INDEMNIFICATION. All representation, warranties and covenants contained in this Agese and the

indemnification contained in this Paragraph 4 skatiive (i) the acceptance of the Subscriptione®gnent by the Company and (ii) the death
or disability of the Subscriber. The Subscriberranikledges the meaning and legal consequences ofhesentations, warranties and
covenants in Paragraph 3 hereof and that the Coyrpasirelied upon such representations, warraatidscovenants
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in determining the Subscriber's qualification aniadility to purchase the Common Stock. The Subscthereby agrees to indemnify, def
and hold harmless the Company, and its officerecthrs, employees, agents and controlling pergooms, and against any and all losses,
claims, damages, liabilities, expenses (includittgraeys' fees and disbursements), judgment or ataqaaid in settlement of actions arising
out of or resulting from the untruth of any reprs¢ion herein or the breach of any warranty orecant herein. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, however, no representation, warrantygoant or acknowledgment made herein by the Suiscshall in any manner be deemed
to constitute a waiver of any rights granted tanitler the Securities or State Securities laws.

5. NOTICES. All notices and other communicationsvided for herein shall be in writing and shalldeemed to have been duly given if
delivered personally or sent by registered or fiedtimail, return receipt requested, postage ptepaiovernight air courier guaranteeing next
day delivery:

(a) if to the Company, to it at the following adsise

RICKS CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066
Attn: Eric Langan

Telephone No. (281) 397 6730
Facsimile No: (281) 397 6765

(b) if to the Subscriber, at the address set fortithe last page hereof or directly to the Subscréth the address set forth on the signature pag:
hereto, or at such other address as either paatlylsdwve specified by notice in writing to the athe

All notice and communications shall be deemed tehzeen duly given: at the time delivered by hafngersonally delivered; two days after
being deposited in the mail, postage prepaid, ifedaand the next day after timely delivery to ttwurier, if sent by overnight air courier
guaranteeing next day delivery.

If a notice or communication is mailed in the manpmvided above within the time prescribed, ididy given, whether or not the addressee
receives it.

6. ASSIGNABILITY. This Subscription Agreement istrassignable by the Subscriber, and may not befladdivaived or terminated except
by an instrument in writing signed by each of thaeties hereto.

7. BINDING EFFECT. Except as otherwise provideddirerthis Subscription Agreement shall be bindipgruand inure to the benefit of the
parties and their heirs, executors, administraguscessors, legal representatives and assignfhaagreements, representations, warranties
and acknowledgments contained herein shall be diéortee made by and be binding upon such heirgutaes, administrators, successors,
legal representatives and assigns. If the Subgdshbeore than one person, the obligation of thiesBriber shall be joint and several and the
agreements, representations, warranties and ackdgmients contained herein shall be deemed to
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be made by and be binding upon each such persohiaheirs, executors, administrators and successor

8. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Subscription Agreemenhstitutes the entire agreement of the Subscribéitlze Company relating to the
matters contained herein, superseding all priotracts or agreements, whether oral or written.

9. GOVERNING LAW. This Subscription Agreement sha#l governed and controlled as to the validitypezgment, interpretations,
construction and effect and in all other aspectthbysubstantive laws of the State of Texas. Inaatipn between or among any of the par
whether arising out of this Agreement or otherwesash of the parties irrevocably consents to tlofuskve jurisdiction and venue of the
federal and state courts located in Harris Couhgxas.

10. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Subsctipn Agreement or the application thereof to anjp&uiber or circumstance shall be
held invalid or unenforceable to any extent, theaider of this Subscription Agreement and theiapfbn of such provision to other
subscriptions or circumstances shall not be aftetitereby and shall be enforced to the greateshegermitted by law.

11. HEADINGS. The headings in this Subscription @gnent are inserted for convenience and ideniificainly and are not intended to
describe, interpret, define, or limit the scopdeakor intent of this Subscription Agreement oy arovision hereof.

12. AMOUNT OF COMMON STOCK SUBSCRIBED FOR. The Saitilser hereby subscribes to purchase 150,000 sba@smmon Stock
of the Company at $2.50 per share for a total ciamation of $375,000.00.

13. COUNTERPARTS AND FACSIMILES. This Subscriptidigreement may be executed in multiple countergartsin any number of
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed aimatigut all of which taken together shall congétand be deemed to be one and the same
instrument and each of which shall be considereddm@med an original for all purposes. This Agresmsball be effective with the facsimile
signature of any of the parties set forth below tiredfacsimile signature shall be deemed as aimatigignature for all purposes and the
Agreement shall be deemed as an original for ajp@ses.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Subscriberehasuted this Subscription Agreement this afdzebruary, 2005.
[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
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/sl Jay Teitel baum

Si gnature of |nvestor

Jay Teitelbaum
Name (Please type or print)

Signature of Spouse or Co-Owner if funds are tinbested as joint tenants by the entirety or comityiproperty.

Name (Please type or print)

Street Address

City State Zip

ACCEPTED by the Company this the day of Februg, 2005.
Ricks Cabaret International, Inc.

By:/s/ FEric Langan

Eric Langan, President
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THIS SECURED CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE AND THE COMMONHARES ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS SECURI
CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNIRETHE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED ("ACT"),
OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS. THIS SECURED CONVERIILE DEBENTURE AND THE COMMON SHARES ISSUABLE
UPON CONVERSION OF THIS SECURED CONVERTIBLE DEBENREB MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED FOR SALE, PLEDGED (
HYPOTHECATED IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISPRION STATEMENT AS TO THIS SECURED CONVERTIBLE
DEBENTURE AND THE COMMON SHARES ISSUABLE UPON CONWRSION OF THIS SECURED CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE
UNDER SAID ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIE2AWS OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY
SATISFACTORY TO RICKS CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. HAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED.

CERTIFICATE -RCI-C.D. NO. 201-A

SECURED CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE
OF
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL,INC., a Texas corporation with its principal offioeated at 10959
Cutten Road, Houston, Texas 77066 (the "COMPANWHonditionally promises to pay to Ralph McElroyhage address is 1211
Choquette, Austin, Texas 78757, or the registessijaee, upon presentation of this Secured Coblei@iebenture (the "DEBENTURE") by
the registered holder hereof (the "HOLDER") at ¢ffice of the Company, the principal sum of $66@,00 (the "PRINCIPAL AMOUNT"),
together with any accrued and unpaid interest tireeend other sums as hereinafter provided on Augua®08 (the "MATURITY DATE"), it
not sooner paid.

This Secured Convertible Debenture supersedeseghaces in its entirety the Secured Convertibleddélre of the Company, reflected as
Certificate RCI-C.D. No. 201, which is hereby cdtemband voided and of no force and effect.

The following terms shall apply to this Debenture:
1. PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST.

(a) Interest on the Principal Amount outstandingebhader shall be paid in cash, monthly, in arregtrthe rate of twelve percent (12%) per
annum from the date of issuance commencing witHitsiemonthly payment due September 1, 2005 andthhp payments
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thereafter due on the first day of each succesniveth ("INTEREST PAYMENT DATE"), to the person irhase name(s) such Debenture is
registered at the close of business on the 15thmdisediately preceding such Interest Payment Dae"RECORD DATE");

(b) The Company shall pay to he Holder the Prirlcdgaount of this Debenture and all interest accrthegteon, but not yet paid, on the
Maturity Date, subject to any of the events speditielow:

() The Holder elects in his sole discretion tosathis Debenture to be repaid in thirty (30) eguahthly installments commencing on the
date seven (7) months following the date hereaf (tNITIAL AMORTIZATION DATE") and to continue forach of the twenty-nine (29)
months thereafter until the outstanding Principalcint of this Debenture has been paid in fullhé Holder elects to exercise its option to
receive equal monthly installments, then the Hotdast deliver written notice to the Company indieathis election at least thirty (30) days
prior to February 22, 2006, which would be the ddtthe Initial Amortization Date;

(i) The Company in its sole discretion choosesetbeem all or any part of the outstanding Princfpabunt in accordance with Section 3
hereof; or

(iii) The Holder in its sole discretion choosesctmvert all or any portion of the outstanding Pipat Amount in accordance with Section 4
hereof.

2. PAYMENT. Payment of any sums due to the Holdetar the terms of this Debenture shall be madenitted States Dollars by check or
wire transfer at the option of the Company. Paynsball be made to any account or address desighgttéte Holder any time prior to any
payment due hereunder. If any payment hereundeldvadbierwise become due and payable on a day ochwitsinks are closed or permitted
to be closed in Houston, Texas, such payment bhkabme due and payable on the next succeedingrayich banks are open and not
permitted to be closed in Houston, Texas ("Busifi¥sg’). The Company may prepay all or any parhef principal of this Debenture before
maturity without penalty, and interest shall imnatdly cease to accrue on any amount so prepaid.

3. THE COMPANY'S OPTION TO REDEEM. The Debenturdl Wwé subject to redemption at the option of therPany, in whole or in part,
at 100% of the principal face amount of the Debentadeemed plus any accrued and unpaid intehestREDEMPTION AMOUNT") on
the Redemption Payment Date (as hereinafter dgfia¢dny time and from time to time, upon not légmsm 10 nor more than 30 days notice
to the Holder.

The Company shall deliver to the Holder a writtestibe of Redemption (the "NOTICE OF REDEMPTION"esfying the date for the
redemption (the "REDEMPTION PAYMENT DATE"), whictatk shall be at least 10 but not more than 30 dfigsthe date of the Notice
Redemption (the "REDEMPTION PERIOD"). A Notice oétRemption shall not be effective with respect tp portion of this Debenture for
which the Holder has previously delivered a Not€€onversion (as
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hereinafter defined) or for conversions electedganade by the Holder pursuant to Section 4 dutiedRedemption Period. The Redemption
Amount shall be determined as if the Holder's cosioa elections had been completed immediatelyr poidhe date of the Notice of
Redemption. On the Redemption Payment Date, theRption Amount must be paid in good funds to thédklio In the event the Company
fails to pay the Redemption Amount on the RedempBayment Date as set forth herein, then such RattemNotice shall be null and void.
After the Redemption Payment Date, unless the Cagnphall default in the payment of the Redemptionofint, interest will cease to accrue
on the Debenture or the portion thereof calledéoiemption.

4. CONVERSION RIGHTS OF HOLDER.

(a) Conversion. The Holder of this Debenture wél/a the right, at the Holder's option, to convérbmaany portion of the Principal Amount
hereof (subject to the limitations set forth in @@t 4(b)), into shares of Common Stock at any tprier to maturity (unless earlier redeem
at the Conversion Price of $3.00 per share (suljeatljustment as described below). The right toved the Principal Amount of this
Debenture called for redemption will terminatehs tlose of business on the business day pridret®kedemption Payment Date for such
Debenture, unless the Company subsequently fagaydhe applicable Redemption Amount. The sharesmmon stock to be issued upon
such conversion are hereinafter referred to asGEBNVERSION SHARES".

(b) Conversion Restrictions and Limitations. If tiempany has not previously obtained Shareholdgré\yal (as defined below), the num
of shares of Common Stock that may be issued bZtmepany or acquired by the Holder upon any coneersf this Debenture shall be
limited to the extent necessary to insure thatp¥dhg such conversion, the total number of shaféSommon Stock then beneficially owned
by the Holder and any Affiliates and any other Basswhose beneficial ownership of Common Stock ddel aggregated with the Holder's
for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Securitiesiaxge Act of 1934, as amended, does not exceed%D9the total number of issued and
outstanding shares of the Company's Common Sto¢RXIMUM AMOUNT ISSUABLE"). Shareholder Approval islefined as obtaining
the vote of the Company's shareholders as mayduereel by the applicable rules of the Nasdaq S@ajl Market to approve the issuance of
shares of Common Stock in excess of the Maximum dmhtssuable.

(c) Mechanics of Holder's Conversion. In the ewbat the Holder elects to convert this Debentute @ommon Stock, the Holder shall give
notice of such election by delivering an executed eompleted notice of conversion ("NOTICE OF CONR&EON") to the Company and
such Notice of Conversion shall provide a breakdowreasonable detail of the Principal Amount aocraed interest that are being
converted. In the event that the Holder electtovert only a portion of the Debenture, then thédeoshall also forward and surrender this
Debenture to the Company with the Notice of ConweersOn each Conversion Date (as hereinafter défiaad in accordance with its Notice
of Conversion, the Holder shall make the approgniatuction to the Principal Amount and accruedrggt as entered in its records and shall
provide written notice thereof to the Company witfive (5) business days after the Conversion Claéeh date on which a Notice of
Conversion is delivered or telecopied to the Comgparaccordance with the provisions hereof shall
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be deemed a Conversion Date (the "CONVERSION DATE"prm of Notice of Conversion is annexed herascExhibit A. Pursuant to the
terms of the Notice of Conversion, the Company is8Le instructions to the transfer agent as segmacticable thereafter, to cause to be
issued and delivered to such Holder certificatestfe number of full shares of Conversion Sharasttich such Holder shall be entitled as
aforesaid and, if necessary, a new Debenture reptiag any unconverted portion of this Debentutee Tompany shall not issue fractional
Conversion Shares upon conversion, but the nunfti@oversion Shares to be received by any Holdenwgonversion shall be rounded
down to the next whole number and the Holder dhalkntitled to payment of the remaining principabant in cash. In the case of the
exercise of the conversion rights set forth hetieenconversion privilege shall be deemed to haes lexercised and the Conversion Shares
issuable upon such conversion shall be deemedvetheen issued upon the date of receipt by the @oynpf the Notice of Conversion. The
Holder shall be treated for all purposes as therceholder of the Conversion Shares, unless theéfgirovides the Company written
instructions to the contrary.

(d) Adjustment Provisions. The Conversion Price amchber and kind of shares or other securitieetssued upon conversion determined
pursuant to this Debenture shall be subject tostjent from time to time upon the happening ofaierévents while this conversion right
remains outstanding, as follows:

(i) Reclassification. In case of any reclassifieaticonsolidation or merger of the Company witlinto another entity or any merger of ano
entity with or into the Company, or in the caseny sale, transfer or conveyance of all or subistiyntll of the assets of the Company
(computed on a consolidated basis), each Debetiteneoutstanding will, without the consent of angld¢r, become convertible only into the
kind and amount of securities, cash or other ptgpeceivable upon such reclassification, constiliae merger, sale, transfer or conveyance
by a Holder of the number of shares of Common Shoeitkwhich such Debenture and the accrued andidmpizrest thereon was convertible
immediately prior thereto, after giving effect toyaadjustment event.

(i) Stock Splits, Combinations and Dividends.Hétshares of Common Stock are subdivided or cordhitie a greater or smaller number of
shares of Common Stock, or if a dividend is paidtnCommon Stock or any preferred stock issuetth®yCompany in shares of Common
Stock, the Conversion Price shall be proportioyatetiuced in case of subdivision of shares or stiidklend or proportionately increased in
the case of combination of shares, in each sudhlpaghe ratio which the total number of shareE@imon Stock outstanding immediately
after such event bears to the total number of shar€ommon Stock outstanding immediately priosuch event.

(e) Issuance of New Debenture. Upon any partiatersion of this Debenture, a new Debenture comigittie same date and provisions of
this Debenture shall, at the request of the Holoerissued by the Company to the Holder for theggpal balance of this Debenture and
interest which shall not have been converted ai.pitie Company shall not pay any costs, fees oo#mr consideration to the Holder for
production and issuance of a new Debenture.



(f) Interest on Payment Date. In the case of anlyeb&ire which has been converted after any Recatd, Dut on or before the next Interest
Payment Date, the interest due on such Interesh®atyDate, shall be payable on such Interest PatyDeie notwithstanding such
conversion. The interest shall be paid in castheririterest Payment Date.

(9) Reservation of Shares. The Company shall dinadis reserve for issuance and maintain availalleof its authorized but unissued
Common Stock, solely for the purpose of effectimg full conversion of the Debenture, the full numbkshares of Common Stock
deliverable upon the conversion of the Debentuwmftime to time outstanding. The Company shall ftone to time (subject to obtaining
necessary director and stockholder action), in @agste with the laws of the State of Texas, inaréhs authorized number of shares of its
Common Stock if at any time the authorized numiieshares of its Common Stock remaining unissued sbabe sufficient to permit the
conversion of the Debenture.

5. SECURITY. This Debenture shall be secured bgfalhe issued and outstanding shares of RCI Hgkjiinc., a Texas corporation, and all
of the issued and outstanding membership intecésEétation Land, LLC, a Texas limited liability ogpany, both of which are wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Company. This security inteséstl be evidenced by a Security and Stock Agre¢mgtered into between the Company
and Holder of even date herewith.

6. EVENTS OF DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES. The followingeadeemed to be an event of default ("Event of Diéfehereunder: (i) the
failure by the Company to pay any installment ¢éfast on the Debenture as and when due and pagmadbihe continuance of any such
failure for 30 days, (ii) the failure by the Compan pay all or any part of the principal on theb@eture when and as the same become due
and payable at maturity, by acceleration or othsewfiii) the failure of the Company to perform amnversion of Debentures required under
the Debenture and the continuance of any suchréafr 30 days, (iv) the failure by the Companybserve or perform any other covenan
agreement contained in the Debenture and the emmioe of such failure for a period of 30 days dfterwritten notice is given to the
Company by the Holders, (v) the assignment by thia@any for the benefit of creditors, or an applaraby the Company to any tribunal for
the appointment of a trustee or receiver of a sutthistl part of the assets of the Company, or tmeneencement of any proceedings relating to
the Company under any bankruptcy, reorganizatioangement, insolvency, readjustment of debtsptliion or other liquidation law of ar
jurisdiction; or the filing of such application, tre commencement of any such proceedings agam§€ampany and an indication of cons

by the Company to such proceedings, or the appeintiof such trustee or receiver, or an adjudicatioine Company bankrupt or insolvent,
or approval of the petition in any such proceedimgsl such order remains in effect for 60 daygvra default in the payment of principal
interest when due which extends beyond any stagddgof grace applicable thereto or an accelemdtio any other reason of maturity of any
indebtedness for borrowed money of the Company anthggregate principal amount in excess of $780a0@ (vii) final unsatisfied
judgments not covered by insurance aggregatingdess of $750,000, at any one time rendered aga@sTompany and not stayed, bon

or discharged within 75 days.



If an Event of Default occurs and is continuingh@tthan an Event of Default specified in claugeapove with respect to the Company), t

in every such case, unless the principal or athefDebentures shall have already become due adbleathe Holders of the Debentures then
outstanding, by notice in writing to the Company {Acceleration Notice"), may declare all princigald accrued and unpaid interest thereon
to be due and payable immediately. If an Event efaIt specified in clause (v) above occurs witpext to the Company, all principal and
accrued and unpaid interest thereon will be imntedialue and payable on all outstanding Debentwitteout any declaration or other act on
the part of the Holder. The Holder is authorizedescind such acceleration if all existing Everit®efault, other than the non-payment of the
principal and interest on the Debentures which lmeme due solely by such acceleration, have teread or waived.

7. LIMITATION ON MERGER, SALE OR CONSOLIDATION. Th€ompany may not, directly or indirectly, consotelaith or merge into
another person or sell, lease, convey or trandifer aubstantially all of its assets (computedaotonsolidated basis), whether in a single
transaction or a series of related transactionantdher person or group of affiliated personsesskither

(a) in the case of a merger or consolidation, tam@any is the surviving entity or (b) the resuliisgrviving or transferee entity is a
corporation or limited liability company organizadder the laws of any state of the United Statelseapressly assumes by supplemental
agreement all of the obligations of the Compangdnnection with the Debentures.

Upon any consolidation or merger or any transfeaalbdr substantially all of the assets of the Campin accordance with the foregoing, the
successor corporation or limited liability compdoymed by such consolidation or into which the Campis merged or to which such
transfer is made, shall succeed to, and be sutestifar, and may exercise every right and powehefCompany under the Debenture with
same effect as if such successor corporation dgtelghtiability company had been named therein as@bmpany, and the Company will be
released from its obligations under the Debentuesept as to any obligations that arise from aa essult of such transaction.

8. REGISTRATION RIGHTS.

(@) In the event that the Company files a Registnebtatement to register shares of its CommonkSiaih the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Form SB-2, S-3 or other similar f¢gaxcept for Form S-8 or Form S-4) than the Compaifiyundertake to use its best
efforts to register for resale from time to timethg Holder all of the shares into which the Debemimay be converted under the same
Registration Statement. The Company shall usesis dfforts to cause the Registration Statemeb¢tome effective under the Securities Act
as promptly as is practicable and to keep the Regjisn Statement continuously effective under3leeurities Act for a period of the earliel

(i) three years from the effective date or (ii)ilall of the shares which were registered for lke$mve been sold.
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(b) From time to time, the Company shall prepar fila with the SEC a post-effective amendmentim Registration Statement or a
supplement to the related Prospectus or a supplasn@mendment to any document incorporated thérgireference or any other required
document, so that such Registration Statementwftlcontain any untrue statement of a materialdacimit to state a material fact require
be stated therein or necessary to make the statgiienein not misleading, and so that, as thexed€livered to purchasers of the securities
being sold thereunder, such Prospectus will notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact ort@émstate a material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make the statert@nrtsn, in light of the circumstances under whindly were made, not misleading; provide
the Holder copies of any documents filed in sucinbers as the Holder shall reasonably request;rdod the Holder that the Company has
complied with its obligations and that the Registra Statement and related Prospectus may be osélef purpose of selling all or any of
such securities (or that, if the Company has fidgubst-effective amendment to the Registrationetant which has not yet been declared
effective, the Company will notify the Holder taatheffect, will use its best efforts to secure pptignthe effectiveness of such post-effective
amendment and will immediately so notify the Holddren the amendment has become effective).

9. NO PERSONAL LIABILITY OF SHAREHOLDERS, OFFICERS]RECTORS. No recourse shall be had for the paym&the principal
or the interest on this Debenture, or for any clhased thereon, or otherwise in respect theredfased on or in respect of any Debenture
supplemental thereto, against any incorporatockstalder, officer, or director (past, present, wufe) of the Company, whether by virtue of
any constitution, statute, or rule of law, or bg #tnforcement of any assessment or penalty oreigerall such liability being by the
acceptance hereof, and as part of the consideratiadhe issue hereof, expressly waived and retkase

10. LISTING OF REGISTERED HOLDER OF DEBENTURES. §ebenture will be registered as to principahia Holder's name on the
books of the Company at its principal office in Idtan, Texas, after which no transfer hereof shaWd&lid unless made on the Company's
books at the office of the Company, by the Holdenebf, in person, or by attorney duly authorizediiting, and similarly noted hereon.

11. GOVERNING LAW; CONSENT TO JURISDICTION. THIS BENTURE SHALL BEGOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS WITH OUT REGARD TO THE CONFLICT OF LAWS
PROVISIONS THEREOF.

12. AMENDMENT AND WAIVER. Any waiver or amendmengheto shall be in writing signed by the Holder. fdibure on the part of the
Holder to exercise, and no delay in exercising, &gyt hereunder shall operate as a waiver therewfshall any single or partial exercise by
the Holder of any right hereunder preclude any otinéurther exercise thereof or the exercise of @ier rights. The remedies herein
provided are cumulative and not exclusive of ameptemedies provided by law.
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13. RESTRICTIONS AGAINST TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT.

(a) This Debenture may not be sold, transferresigaed, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise dispotbyd the registered Holder hereof, in
whole or in part, unless and until either (i) theb@nture has been duly and effectively registevedesale under the Securities Act of 193:
amended, and under any then applicable state sesuaws; or (ii) the registered Holder delivasglie Company a written opinion accepte
to its counsel that an exemption from such redistnaequirements is then available with respectrtyp such proposed sale or disposition.
Company has the absolute right, in its sole digameto approve or disapprove such transfer. Aagdfer otherwise permissible hereunder
shall be made only at the principle office of then@pany upon surrender of this Debenture for caatieti and upon the payment of any
transfer tax or other government charge connetieewith, and upon any such transfer a new Debemtubebentures will be issued to the
transferee in exchange therefor.The transfereBi®itebenture shall be bound by the provisionsisfDebenture. The register of the transfer
of this Debenture shall occur upon the deliveryhig Debenture, endorsed by the registered Holdbisaduly authorized attorney, signature
guaranteed, to the Company or its transfer ageh Bebenture instrument issued upon the tranftbisoDebenture shall have the
restrictive legend contained herein conspicuouslyrinted on it.

(b) In the event the Company successfully effeaggstration of the Common Stock into which this Beture is convertible, the Company
may stop or prevent the transfer of such CommookSfar a period not to exceed 60 days in the etreCompany files a registration
statement for the sale of its securities, and foindefinite period of time if the Company, in &sle discretion, believes that such security
holder has material non-public information.

14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; HEADINGS. This Debenture ctinges the entire agreement between the Holdett@€ompany pertaining
the subject matter hereof and supersedes all andicontemporaneous agreements, representationsdacstandings, written or oral, of
such parties. The headings are for reference pespmsly and shall not be used in construing orjméding this Debenture.

15. NOTICES. All notices and other communicationsvided for herein shall be in writing and shalldeemed to have been duly given if

delivered personally, transmitted by facsimile sraission (fax) or sent by registered or certifiegilpreturn receipt requested, postage
prepaid, or overnight air courier guaranteeing raxt delivery:

(a) If to the Company, to it at the following adsse

10959 Cutten Road Houston, Texas 77066 Attn: Esicgan
(fax) 281-397-6765



(b) If to registered Holder, then to the addrest®d on the front of this Debenture, unless changgdotice in writing as provided for herein.

A notice or communication will be effective (i)dklivered in person or by overnight courier, onltisiness day it is delivered, (ii) if
transmitted by telecopier, on the business daytfah confirmed receipt by the addressee theraaf (&) if sent by registered or certified
mail, three (3) business days after dispatch.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Ricks Cabaret Internationat. Inas caused this Debenture to be duly executiésl Gorporate name by the mar
signature of its President, and a facsimile o€dgporate seal to be impressed, imprinted or ergrévereon, attested by the manual signature
of its Secretary.

Dated: July ___, 2005.
[Corporate Seal]

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
Witnessed:

/sl Eric Langan

---------------------------- Eric Langan
Wt ness Presi dent and Chief Executive O ficer
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WARRANT TO PURCHASE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK OF
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CERTIFICATE NO.--- RM 110 50,000 Warrants

This Warrant Certificate certifies that Ralph Masir(the "Holder") is the owner of 50,000 Warrargskject to adjustment as provided
herein), each of which represents the right to atifbs for and purchase from Rick's Cabaret Intéonat, Inc., a Texas corporation (the
"Company"), one share of the common stock, parev&lu01 per share, of the Company (the common sieckding any stock into which it
may be changed, reclassified or converted, is heederred to as the "Common Stock") at the purelpaie of $3.00 per share (the "Exercise
Price").

The Warrants represented by this Warrant Certiieaie subject to the following provisions, termd aanditions:
1. VESTING OF WARRANTS
The Holder shall be entitled to exercise the 50 0G0rants at any time during the Exercise Perisdiefined in Section 2 below.

2. EXERCISE OF WARRANTS

Exercise of Warrants. The Warrants may be exerdigatie Holder in whole, or in part, (but not astfvactional share of Common Stock),
surrender of this Warrant Certificate at the ofiidehe Company located at 10959 Cutten Road, Houdtexas 77066 (or such other office
agency of the Company as may be designated byeniatiariting to the Holder at the address of sudiddr appearing on the books of the
Company) with the appropriate form attached hedety completed, at any time within the period begiig on the date hereof and expirin
5:00 p.m. Houston, Texas time, on July 22, 2008 (Exercise Period") and by payment to the Comgmngertified check or bank draft of
the Exercise Price for such shares. The Comparmgeadhat the shares of Common Stock so purchas#ibstand are deemed to be issued to
the Holder as the record owner of such shares ofr@an Stock as of the close of business on theatatehich the Warrant Certificate shall
have been surrendered and payment made for sugssifaCommon Stock. Certificates representingsttages of Common Stock so
purchased, together with any cash for fractionale$ of Common Stock paid pursuant to Section BBI] be delivered to the Holder
promptly, and, unless the Warrants have expiregtva\Warrant Certificate representing the numbeéNafrants represented by the
surrendered Warrant Certificate, if any, that shatlhave been exercised also shall be deliveréuktélolder within such time.
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3. ADJUSTMENTS

A. Adjustments. The Exercise Price and the numbshares of Common Stock issuable upon exercisadi Warrant shall be subject to
adjustment from time to time as follows:

(i) Stock Dividends; Stock Splits; Reverse StocktSp

Reclassifications. In case the Company shall (g)gpdividend with respect to its Common Stock iarsls of capital stock, (b) subdivide its
outstanding shares of Common Stock, (c) combineutstanding shares of Common Stock into a smallerber of shares of any class of
Common Stock or (d) issue any shares of its cagltadk in a reclassification of the Common Stockl{iding any such reclassification in
connection with a consolidation or merger in whilte Company is the continuing corporation), othantelimination of par value, a change
in par value, or a change from par value to novphre (any one of which actions is herein refetceds an "Adjustment Event"), the number
of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exastisach Warrant immediately prior to the recortedar such Adjustment Event shall
be adjusted so that the Holder shall thereaftamigled to receive the number of shares of Com®imaek or other securities of the Company
(such other securities thereafter enjoying thetsigif shares of Common Stock under this Warrantii@ate) that such Holder would have
owned or have been entitled to receive after tigpéaing of such Adjustment Event, had such Watiaeh exercised immediately prior to
the happening of such Adjustment Event or any kdate with respect thereto. An adjustment madsyaunt to this Section 3A(i) shall
become effective immediately after the effectiveedsf such Adjustment Event retroactive to the réatate, if any, for such Adjustment
Event.

(i) Adjustment of Exercise Price. Whenever the bemof shares of Common Stock purchasable upoaxéesise of each Warrant is adjus
pursuant to Section 3A(i), the Exercise Price facheshare of Common Stock payable upon exercisaasf Warrant shall be adjusted by
multiplying such Exercise Price immediately priorsuch adjustment by a fraction, the numeratoritwshall be the number of shares of
Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of \@arhant immediately prior to such adjustment, dr@ldenominator of which shall be
the number of shares of Common Stock so purchagsablediately thereafter.

(iii) De Minimis Adjustments. No adjustment in tEgercise Price and number of shares of Common Stoathasable hereunder shall be
required unless such adjustment would require arease or decrease of at least $0.15 in the Exeleise; provided, however, that any
adjustments which by reason of this Section 3Aéig not required to be made shall be carried fahaad taken into account in any
subsequent adjustment. All calculations shall bderta the nearest full share.
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B. Notice of Adjustment. Whenever the number ofreh@af Common Stock purchasable upon the exer€isaohh Warrant or the Exercise
Price is adjusted, as herein provided, the Comghall promptly notify the Holder in writing (suchriting referred to as an "Adjustment
Natice") of such adjustment or adjustments andl sledilver to such Holder a statement setting foindnumber of shares of Common St
purchasable upon the exercise of each WarrantremBxercise Price after such adjustment, settirth obrief statement of the facts requi
such adjustment and setting forth the computatiowtich such adjustment was made.

C. Statement on Warrant Certificates. The formhaf Warrant Certificate need not be changed beaafusey change in the Exercise Price or
in the number or kind of shares purchasable uperxercise of a Warrant. However, the Company maytime in its sole discretion mg
any change in the form of the Warrant Certifichtat it may deem appropriate and that does nottafiecsubstance thereof and any Warrant
Certificate thereafter issued, whether in exchargaubstitution for any outstanding Warrant Ceztife or otherwise, may be in the form so
changed.

D. Fractional Interest. The Company shall not lpiired to issue fractional shares of Common Stacthe exercise of the Warrants. The
number of full shares of Common Stock which shalldsuable upon such exercise shall be computéledasis of the aggregate number of
whole shares of Common Stock purchasable on theisgeof the Warrants so presented. If any fraotiba share of Common Stock would,
except for the provisions of this Section 3D beigdde on the exercise of the Warrants (or specfiregortion thereof), the Company shall
pay an amount in cash calculated by it to be etputile then fair value of one share of Common Stasldetermined by the Board of
Directors of the Company in good faith, multiplieg such fraction computed to the nearest whole. cent

4. RESERVATION AND AUTHORIZATION OF COMMON STOCK

The Company covenants and agrees (a) that allsba@ommon Stock which may be issued upon theceseeof the Warrants representec
this Warrant Certificate, upon issuance and whéy faid for, will be validly issued, fully paid @nonassessable and free of all taxes, liens,
charges, encumbrances and security interests thifaeithose attaching by or through the Holderttb) during the Exercise Period, the
Company will at all times have authorized, and mese for the purpose of issue or transfer upona@serof the Warrants evidenced by this
Warrant Certificate, sufficient shares of Commoacgtto provide for the exercise of the Warrantseepnted by this Warrant Certificate and
(c) that the Company will take all such action as/rhe necessary to ensure that the shares of Cor8inok issuable upon the exercise of the
Warrants may be so issued without violation of apglicable law or regulation, or any requiremenainy securities exchange upon which
any capital stock of the Company may be listed.

5. NO RIGHTS OF STOCKHOLDER

The Warrant Holder shall not be entitled to votéooreceive dividends or shall otherwise be deetodzk the holder of shares of Common
Stock for any purpose, nor shall anything containeckin or in any Warrant Certificate be constrteedonfer upon the Holder, as such, an
the rights of a stockholder of the Company or agltrto vote upon or give or withhold consent ty action
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of the Company (whether upon any reorganizaticudace of securities, reclassification or convarsicCommon Stock, consolidation,
merger, sale, lease, conveyance, or otherwisegiveaotice of meetings or other action affectitagkholders (except for notices expressly
provided for herein) or receive dividends or sulpgiom rights, until the Warrant Certificate shiaive been surrendered for exercise
accompanied by full and proper payment of the BgerBrice as provided herein and shares of Comrtaok ereunder shall have become
issuable and until the Holder shall have been ddegmbave become a holder of record of such shatesHolder shall not, upon the exercise
of Warrants, be entitled to any dividends if thear@l date with respect to payment of such dividesiddl be a date prior to the date such
shares of Common Stock became issuable upon theigxef such Warrants.

6. RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER

This Warrant Certificate, the Warrants it evidenard the underlying Common Stock issued on exeofifige Warrants, may not be sold,
transferred or otherwise disposed of without regigin under the Securities Act of 1933, as ameifthedd"Act"), or any exemption therefrom
and for which the Company is provided with an opmnof counsel to the Holder, reasonably satisfgdimthe Company, to the effect that
such transfer is not in violation of any of saidgdties laws.

7. CLOSING OF BOOKS

The Company will at no time close its transfer boagainst the transfer of any Warrant or of anyeshaf Common Stock or other securities
issuable upon the exercise of any Warrant in angraawhich interferes with the timely exerciseluf Warrants.

8. WARRANTS EXCHANGEABLE; LOSS, THEFT

This Warrant Certificate is exchangeable, uponstiveender hereof by any Holder at the office omageof the Company referred to in
Section 2, for new Warrant Certificates of likedenepresenting in the aggregate the right to silséor and purchase the number of shares
of Common Stock which may be subscribed for andlpased hereunder, each such new Warrant to reptésenght to subscribe and
purchase such number of shares of Common Stodkadide designated by said Holder hereof at the tfisuch surrender. Upon receipt of
evidence satisfactory to the Company of the |d¢s=fftdestruction or mutilation, or upon surrendecancellation of this Warrant Certificate,
the Company will issue to the Holder hereof a nearidht Certificate of like tenor, in lieu of thisalfant Certificate, representing the righ
subscribe for and purchase the number of shar€smwimon Stock which may be subscribed for and pweth&iereunder.

9. MERGERS, CONSOLIDATIONS

If the Company shall merge or consolidate with heotorporation, the Holder of this Warrant shiadireafter have the right, upon exercise
hereof and payment of the Exercise Price, to recedlely the kind and amount of shares of stoal({iing, if applicable, Common Stock),
other securities, property or cash or any comhinatiereof receivable by a holder of the number of
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shares of Common Stock, as adjusted from timerie,tfor which this Warrant might have been exertisemediately prior to such merger
consolidation (assuming, if applicable, that thddeo of such Common Stock failed to exercise ghts of election, if any, as to the kind or
amount of shares of stock, other securities, ptgpmrcash or combination thereof receivable uparhsmerger or consolidation).

10. REGISTRATION RIGHTS

The Company has agreed to grant the Holder piggl-tegistration rights in the event that it fileRagistration Statement on Form SB-2,
Form S-3 or other similar form under the Securifies of 1933, as amended, covering the registraticthe underlying shares of Common
Stock to be issued upon exercise of the Warrants.

11. EXPENSES

The Holder shall bear the cost of all underwrittigcounts, selling commissions and stock transfezs applicable to the Warrant and the
Common Stock underlying the Warrants.

Dated: Effective as of July 22, 2005.
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By: /s/ Eric Langan

Name: Eric Langan

Title: President and Chief Executive
Oficer

Attest:

Witnessed



[FORM OF ELECTION TO PURCHASE]
(To be executed upon exercise of Warrant)

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to egeritie right, represented by this Warrant Certificeo purchase shares of Common
Stock and herewith tenders in payment for suchesharcertified check or bank draft payable to titeioof Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.

in the amount of $ , all in accordance withtdrms hereof. The undersigned requests thatificzge for such shares be registered in
the name of whose address is and that such certificate (or anynaay in lieu thereof) be delivered
to whose address is

[Name of Holder]

Date
(Signature must conform in all respects to namidalfler as specified on the face of the Warrant.)
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[FORM OF]

SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT
RICKS CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Ricks Cabaret International, Inc.
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

The undersigned, (thestsibler") understands that Ricks Cabaret Internatidnc., a Texas Corporation (the
"Company") is offering for sale to the undersigned shares of Common Stock (Common Babekpurchase price of $2.00
per share, for a total aggregate purchase prige of . The Subscriber acknowledges arefstadids that the offering of the

Common Stock (the "Offering") is being made witheegistration of the Common Stock under the Seesrct of 1933, as amended (the
"Act"), or any securities "blue sky" or other siarilaws of any state ("State Securities Laws").

1. SUBSCRIPTION. Subiject to the terms and condgtibareof, the Subscriber hereby subscribes foagneks to purchase

shares of Common Stock for the aggregate purchaseqf $ upon acceptance of this@igti®n Agreement.

2. PAYMENT FOR THE COMMON STOCK. The undersignecleses herewith $ required to purctrees€ommon Stock
subscribed for hereunder. If this subscriptionasaccepted by the Company for any reason, all mects will be returned to the Subscriber.

3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SUBSCRIBERhe Subscriber hereby represents and warramtsda@ovenants
with the Company, as well as each officer, direatod agent of the Company as follows:

(a) General

(i) The Subscriber has all requisite authority mbee into this Subscription Agreement and to penfatl the obligations required to be
performed by the Subscriber hereunder.

(i) The Subscriber is the sole party in interasd & not acquiring the Common Stock as an ageathmrwise for any other person. The
Subscriber is a resident of the state set fortlosipp its name on the signature page hereto aritlg@prporation, partnership, trust or other
form of business organization, it has its principfiice within such state; (b) if an individual, be she has his or her principal residence in
such state; and (c) if a corporation, partnerdhist or other form of business organization whias organized for the specific purpose or
acquiring the Common Stock, all of the beneficiahers are residents of such state.
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(iii) The Subscriber recognizes that the total antaf funds tendered to purchase the Common Stoplaced at the risk of the business and
may be completely lost. The purchase of the Com8took of the Company as an investment involveseexrrisk.

(iv) The Subscriber realizes that the Common Stmoinot readily be sold as the shares of CommorkStecrestricted securities, that it may
not be possible to sell or dispose of the Commaeksand therefore the Common Stock must not behaised unless the Subscriber has
liquid assets sufficient to assure that such pwehell cause no undue financial difficulties ahd Subscriber can provide for current needs
and personal contingencies.

(v) The Subscriber confirms and represents thas hble (a) to bear the economic risk of his inmesit, (b) to hold the securities for an
indefinite period of time, and (c) to afford a cdetp loss of his investment. The Subscriber alpoagents that he has (x) adequate means of
providing for his current needs and personal cgetirties, and (y) has no need for liquidity in fhasticular investment.

(vi) The Subscriber has not become aware of therioff of Common Stock of the Company by any forngerferal solicitation or advertising,
including, but not limited to advertisements, dets; notices or other communications publishechinreewspaper, magazine or other similar
media or broadcast over television or radio or seyinar or meeting where those individuals thattettended have been invited by any ¢
or similar means of general solicitation or adwséntj.

(b) Information Concerning the Company.

(i) The Subscriber acknowledges that he has redeilleurrent information about the Company inchglthe Company's (A) Form 10-KSB
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004, &ndad, (B) Form 10-QSB for the Company's quartedee@ December 31, 2004 and March
31, 2005; and (C) Forms 8-K of the Company fileduday 24, 2005 and June 15, 2005 ("Filed Documgnts"

(i) The Subscriber or his representative is faanilith the business and financial condition, prtps, operations and prospects of the
Company, and, at a reasonable time prior to theugian of this Subscription Agreement, that he hisdrepresentative have been affordec
opportunity to ask questions of and receive satisfg answers from the Company's officers and thrsc or other persons acting on the
Company's behalf, concerning the business anddiabrondition, properties, operations and prospetthe Company and concerning the
terms and conditions of the offering of the Comn®toack and has asked such questions as he or hesegpative desires to ask and all such
guestions have been answered to the full satisfacti the Subscriber.

(iii) The Subscriber has been furnished, has clyafead, and has relied solely (except for infotima obtained pursuant to (iv) below, on the
information contained in the Filed Documents, ants®riber has not received any other offeringditiere or prospectus, and no verbal or
written representations or warranties have



been made to Subscriber by the Company, or its@mapk or agents, other than the representatiothe @@ompany set forth herein and in the
Filed Documents.

(iv) The Subscriber has had an unrestricted oppiytto: (i) obtain additional information concengi the offering of Common Stocks (the
"Offering"), the Common Stock, the Company and ather matters relating directly or indirectly tolSariber's purchase of the Common
Stock; and (ii) ask questions of, and receive ansdwem the Company concerning the terms and ciomditof the Offering and to obtain such
additional information as may have been necessavgiify the accuracy of the information contairiedhe Filed Documents.

(v) The Subscriber understands that, unless thecsibler notifies the Company in writing to the aany, all the representations and
warranties contained in this Subscription Agreenvghitbe deemed to have been reaffirmed and comitnaking into account all informati
received by the Subscriber.

(vi) The Subscriber understands that the purchfeedCommon Stock involves various risks, inclggibut not limited to, those outlined in
this Subscription Agreement.

(vii) The Subscriber acknowledges that no repregmts or warranties have been made to the Sulesdrjbthe Company as to the tax
consequences of this investment, or as to prédisses or cash flow which may be received or susthas a result of this investment.

(viii) All documents, records and books pertainioga proposed investment in the Common Stock witiielSubscriber or his representative
has requested have been made available to the rfdvsc

(ix) The Subscriber or his representative has Ipeevided access to all information requested iduatang his purchase of the Common
Stock.

(c) Status of the Subscriber

(i) The Subscriber represents that the SubscribaniAccredited Investor as that term is definetthénAct as that term is defined in the Act
(check each category of "Accredited Investor" belalich is applicable to the Subscriber):

() (A) a natural person whose individual net wpahjoint net worth with that person's spousehattime of his purchase exceeds $1,000,
or

() (B) a natural person who had an individual imeoin excess of $200,000 in each of the two mastmeyears or joint income with that
person's spouse in excess of $300,000 in eaclosé tyears and has a reasonable expectation oirgahk same income level in the current
year.

(i) If not an Accredited Investor, the Subscrilbas such knowledge and experience in financialarsihess matters that the Subscriber is
capable of evaluating the



merits and risks of this investment. The Subscribable to bear the economic risk of this investim&he Subscriber has had the opportunity
to consult with the Subscriber's own attorney, aotant and/or purchaser representative regardiagitibscriber's investment in the
Common Stock and their suitability for purchaselty Subscriber, and to the extent necessary, thec8hber has retained, at Subscriber's
own expense, and relied upon, appropriate profeakaxvice regarding the investment, tax and legaits, risks and consequences of this
Subscription Agreement and of purchasing and owtlisgCommon Stock.

(iii) The Subscriber agrees to furnish any addaidnformation requested to assure compliance ajihlicable Federal and State Securities
Laws in connection with the purchase and sale @bmmon Stock.

(d) Restrictions on Transfer or Sale of the Comi8totk

(i) The Subscriber is acquiring the Common Stodbsstibed solely for the Subscriber's own benefiagount, for investment purposes, and
not with view to, or for resale in connection witlny distribution of the Common Stock. The Subsariimderstands that the offer and the

of the Common Stock has not been registered uhdeidt or any State Securities Laws by reason efifip exemptions under the provisic
thereof which depend in part upon the investmeteninof the Subscriber and of the other represientaimade by the Subscriber in this
Subscription Agreement. The Subscriber understidratshe Company is relying upon the representsatioovenants and agreements
contained in this Subscription Agreement (and ampptemental information) for the purposes of deteing whether this transaction meets
the requirements for such exemptions.

(i) The Subscriber understands that the shar€@oaimon Stock are "restricted securities" underiagple federal securities laws and that the
Act and the rules of the Securities and Exchangai@ission (the "Commission") provide in substana the Subscriber may dispose of the
Common Stock only pursuant to an effective redigmastatement under the Act or an exemption thenef While the Company has agree
grant "piggy-back" registration rights to the Haldereof, the Subscriber acknowledges that the @Gommay not file a Registration
Statement with the Commission and that if filed representation is made as to when such Registr&tatement would be declared effective
by the Commission. The certificates evidencingsthares of Common stock offered hereby will beagahd which clearly sets forth this
restriction. The Subscriber understands that thes&iber may not at any time demand the purchasbébompany of the Subscriber's
Common Stock.

(iii) The Subscriber agrees: (A) that the Subserilé not sell, assign, pledge, give, transfertinerwise dispose of the Common Stock or
interest therein, or make any offer or attemptdady of the foregoing, except pursuant to a reggish of the Common Stock under the Act
and all applicable State Securities Laws or irmagaction which is exempt from the registratiorvggions of the Act and all applicable State
Securities Laws; (B) that the Company and any fearegent for the Common Stock shall not be reguioegive effect to any purported
transfer of any of



the Common Stock except upon compliance with thegoing restrictions; and (C) that a restrictivgeled will be placed on the certificates
representing the Common Stock.

(iv) The Subscriber has not offered or sold anytiporof the subscribed for Common Stock and haprasent intention of dividing such
Common Stock with others or of reselling or otheewvilisposing of any portion of such Common Stotheeicurrently or after the passage of
a fixed or determinable period of time or upon dleeurrence or nonoccurrence of any predeterminedtexr circumstance.

4. SURVIVAL AND INDEMNIFICATION. All representation, warranties and covenants contained in this Agest and the

indemnification contained in this Paragraph 4 skailive (i) the acceptance of the Subscriptione&gnent by the Company and (ii) the death
or disability of the Subscriber. The Subscriberranikledges the meaning and legal consequences ofhesentations, warranties and
covenants in Paragraph 3 hereof and that the Coyrfpasirelied upon such representations, warraatidscovenants in determining the
Subscriber's qualification and suitability to puask the Common Stock. The Subscriber hereby aggréedemnify, defend and hold harmie
the Company, and its officers, directors, employagents and controlling persons, from and agaimgtand all losses, claims, damages,
liabilities, expenses (including attorneys' feed disbursements), judgment or amounts paid ineseéht of actions arising out of or resulting
from the untruth of any representation herein erlireach of any warranty or covenant herein. Nbsténding the foregoing, however, no
representation, warranty, covenant or acknowledgmexle herein by the Subscriber shall in any mabeateemed to constitute a waiver of
any rights granted to it under the Securities at&SSecurities laws.

5. NOTICES. All notices and other communicationsvided for herein shall be in writing and shalldeemed to have been duly given if
delivered personally or sent by registered or fiedtimail, return receipt requested, postage ptemaiovernight air courier guaranteeing next
day delivery:

(a) if to the Company, to it at the following adsise

RICKS CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066
Attn: Eric Langan
Telephone No. (281) 397 6730
Facsimile No: (281) 397 6765

(b) if to the Subscriber, at the address set fortithe last page hereof or directly to the Subscréth the address set forth on the signature pag:
hereto, or at such other address as either paatllshve specified by notice in writing to the athe

All notice and communications shall be deemed tehzen duly given: at the time delivered by hafngersonally delivered; two days after
being deposited in the mail, postage prepaid, ifedaand the next day after timely delivery to trmurier, if sent by overnight air courier
guaranteeing next day delivery.



If a notice or communication is mailed in the mampmvided above within the time prescribed, ididy given, whether or not the addressee
receives it.

6. ASSIGNABILITY. This Subscription Agreement istrassignable by the Subscriber, and may not befladdivaived or terminated except
by an instrument in writing signed by each of theties hereto.

7. BINDING EFFECT. Except as otherwise providedeirerthis Subscription Agreement shall be bindipgruand inure to the benefit of the
parties and their heirs, executors, administragarsgcessors, legal representatives and assignthemagreements, representations, warranties
and acknowledgments contained herein shall be diéortee made by and be binding upon such heirgutaes, administrators, successors,
legal representatives and assigns. If the Subsdsbrore than one person, the obligation of thies8tiber shall be joint and several and the
agreements, representations, warranties and ackdgmients contained herein shall be deemed to be adnd be binding upon each such
person and his heirs, executors, administratorssandessors.

8. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Subscription Agreemenntstitutes the entire agreement of the Subscribéitlze Company relating to the
matters contained herein, superseding all priotracts or agreements, whether oral or written.

9. GOVERNING LAW. This Subscription Agreement sha#l governed and controlled as to the validitypezgment, interpretations,
construction and effect and in all other aspectthbysubstantive laws of the State of Texas. Inaatipn between or among any of the par
whether arising out of this Agreement or otherwesash of the parties irrevocably consents to tlofuskve jurisdiction and venue of the
federal and state courts located in Harris Couhgxas.

10. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Subsctipn Agreement or the application thereof to anjp&uiber or circumstance shall be
held invalid or unenforceable to any extent, thmaider of this Subscription Agreement and theiapfbn of such provision to other
subscriptions or circumstances shall not be aftetitereby and shall be enforced to the greateshegermitted by law.

11. HEADINGS. The headings in this Subscription @gnent are inserted for convenience and ideniificainly and are not intended to
describe, interpret, define, or limit the scopdeakor intent of this Subscription Agreement oy arovision hereof.

12. AMOUNT OF COMMON STOCK SUBSCRIBED FOR. The Satiser hereby subscribes to purchase shares of
Common Stock of the Company at $2.00 per shara fotal consideration of $

13. COUNTERPARTS AND FACSIMILES. This Subscriptidigreement may be executed in multiple countergartsin any number of
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed aimatigut all of which taken together shall congétand be deemed to be one and the same
instrument and each of which shall be considereddm@med an original for all purposes. This Agresmsball be effective with the facsimile
signature of any of the parties set forth



below and the facsimile signature shall be deerseghaoriginal signature for all purposes and theesAment shall be deemed as an original
for all purposes.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Subscriberehasuted this Subscription Agreement this afay , 2005.

Signature of Investor

Name (Please type or print)

Signature of Spouse or Co-Owner if funds
are to be invested as joint tenants by the
entirety or community property.

Name (Please type or print)

Street Address

City State Zip

ACCEPTED by the Company this the day of , 2005.

RICKS CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By: /s/Eric Langan

Eri ¢ Langan, President
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Exhibit 5.1

AXELROD, SMITH & KIRSHBAUM
An Association of Professional Corporations
ATTORNEYS AT LAW
5300 Memorial Drive, Suite 700
Houston, Texas 77007-8292
Telephone (713) 861-1996

Robert D. Axelrod, P.C. Facsimile (713) 552-0202

[FORM OF LEGAL OPINION]
August ___, 2005

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

RE: RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
FORM SB-2 REGISTRATION STATEMENT

Gentlemen:

As counsel for Rick's Cabaret International, lacTexas corporation (the "Company"), you have rsgaaeour firm to render this opinion in
connection with the registration statement of tloenany on Form SB-2 ("Registration Statement") utlde Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the "Act"), filed with the Securities d&dthange Commission ( as referenced above) reltditite resale of an aggregate of
1,160,000 shares of common stock, par value $.0%hme (the "Common Stock") by certain securitidérs of the Company. Of the total
number of shares (i) 530,000 shares of Common Stozkurrently outstanding shares of the Compa@gtamon Stock owned by certain
stockholders of the Company and (ii) 630,000 shafé&ommon Stock to be registered are underlyingedible securities and warrants
currently held by certain security holders of thar@any.

We have examined the originals, photocopies, dtaitifopies or other evidence of such records oCthmpany, certificates of officers of the
Company and public officials, and other documestw/a have deemed relevant and necessary as ddyabis opinion hereinafter expressed.
In such examination, we have assumed the genuis@fedl signatures, the authenticity of all docutsesubmitted to us as certified copie:
photocopies and the authenticity of the origindlsuzh latter documents.

Based on our examination mentioned above, we atteeadpinion that:

1. The shares of Common Stock to be resold whieltarrently outstanding are duly authorized, vglidsued, fully paid and non-assessable;
and

2. The shares of Common Stock to be issued pursoidiné outstanding convertible securities and aratg are validly authorized and, when
issued in accordance with their terms, will be diglissued, fully paid and non-assessable.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinionEaghibit 5.1 to the Registration Statement and ®réference made to this firm in the
Registration Statement under the heading "Intexelstames Experts and Counsel.”

Very truly yours,



EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement (the "Agreement”), erdento as of the 1st day of April 2005, by and betw RICK'S CABARET
INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Texas corporation (the "Coany"), and ERIC LANGAN ("Executive").

WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, Company desires to employ Executive asigeal herein; and
WHEREAS, Executive desires to accept such employmen

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the malicovenants and agreements contained hereirfpanther good and valuah
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agréalows:

1. EMPLOYMENT. Company hereby employs Executive Bndcutive hereby accepts employment with Compaonuhe terms and
conditions hereinafter set forth.

2. DUTIES. Subject to the power of the Board ofdeiors of Company to elect and remove officers chtiee will serve the Company as its
President and Chief Executive Officer and will iiutlly and diligently perform the services and ftions relating to such office or otherwise
reasonably incident to such office, provided tHbswach services and functions will be reasonablke &ithin Executive's area of expertise.
Executive will, during the term of this Agreemeat ény extension thereof), devote his full busirteas, attention and skills and best efforts
to the promotion of the business of Company. Thedgoing will not be construed as preventing Exeeutiom making investments in other
businesses or enterprises provided that (a) Exeratirees not to become engaged in any other lsgsittivity that interferes with his ability
to discharge his duties and responsibilities to gamy and (b) Executive does not violate any othevipion of this Agreement.

3. TERM. Subject to the terms and conditions herdsaf term of employment of Executive will commeiaseof the date hereof (the
"Commencement Date") and will end on that datdéytear 2006, unless earlier terminated by eithéygpursuant to the terms hereof. The
term of this Agreement is referred to herein as'freem."

4. COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS DURING THE EMPLOYMENTERM.

(a) Salary. Commencing upon the date of this AgerenExecutive will be paid an annual base salaf840,000, payable bi-weekly (the
"Salary"). At any time and from time to time thd&g may be increased for the remaining portiothefterm if so determined by the Boar:
Directors of Company after a review of Executiyesformance of his duties hereunder.

(b) Bonus. As further compensation, Executive tleligible for bonuses as determined from timgéne by the Board of Directors.
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(c) Expenses. Upon submission of a detailed stateare reasonable documentation, Company will ransd Executive in the same manner
as other executive officers for all reasonable rexkssary or appropriate out-of-pocket travel ahdreexpenses incurred by Executive in
rendering services required under this Agreement.

(d) Benefits; Insurance.

(i) Medical, Dental and Vision Benefits. Duringghhgreement, Executive and his dependents willntidled to receive such group medical,
dental and vision benefits as Company may provadestother executives, provided such coverageasanably available, or be reimbursed if
Executive is carrying his own similar insurance.

(i) Benefit Plans. The Executive will be entitleziparticipate in any benefit plan or program & @ompany which may currently be in place
or implemented in the future.

(iii) Other Benefits. During the Term, ExecutivelMie entitled to receive, in addition to and notieu of base salary, bonus or other
compensation, such other benefits and normal peitgsias Company currently provides or such additibenefits as Company may provide
for its executive officers in the future.

(e) Vacation. Executive will be entitled to two Weepaid vacation each year of this Agreement.

5. CONFIDENTIALITY. In the course of the performanof Executive's duties hereunder, Executive reizegrand acknowledges that
Executive may have access to certain confidentidlpoprietary information of Company or any ofaf§liates. Without the prior written
consent of Company, Executive shall not disclosesarch confidential or proprietary information toygperson or firm, corporation,
association, or other entity for any reason or psepwhatsoever, and shall not use such informatiioactly or indirectly, for Executive's own
behalf or on behalf of any other party. Executigeegs and affirms that all such information issbke property of Company and that at the
termination and/or expiration of this AgreementCampany's written request, Executive shall proyngturn to Company any and all such
information so requested by Company.

The provisions of this Section 5 shall not, howepeohibit Executive from disclosing to others ging in any manner information that:
(a) has been published or has become part of thiicglomain other than by acts, omissions or fatiExecutive;

(b) has been furnished or made known to Executivihiod parties (other than those acting directiynalirectly for or on behalf of Executive)
as a matter of legal right without restriction tsuse or disclosure;
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(c) was in the possession of Executive prior t@ihg such information from Company in connectigth the performance of this
Agreement; or

(d) is required to be disclosed by law.

6. INDEMNIFICATION. The Corporation shall to thelfextent permitted by law or as set forth in theiéles of Incorporation and the
Bylaws of the Company, indemnify, defend and hadiess Executive from and against any and alindademands, liabilities, damages,
loses and expenses (including reasonable attorfe®gscourt costs and disbursements) arising fahiegperformance by him of his duties
hereunder except in the case of his willful misagstd

7. TERMINATION. This Agreement and the employmegiaitionship created hereby will terminate (i) uploa death or disability of
Executive under section 7(a) or 7(b); (ii) with sawnder Section 7(c); (iii) for good reason urSection 7(d); (iv) upon the voluntary
termination of employment by Executive under Setii@); or without cause under Section 7(f).

(a) Disability. The Company shall have the rightdominate the employment of the Executive undisr Algreement for disability in the event
Executive suffers an injury, illness, or incapadafysuch character as to substantially disablefham performing his duties without
reasonable accommodation by the Company hereuadarderiod of more than one hundred eighty (18@)secutive days upon the
Company giving at least thirty (30) days writtertioe of termination.

(b) Death. This Agreement will terminate on the fheaf the Executive.

(c) With Cause. The Company may terminate this Agrent at any time because of (i) Executive's natbreach of any term of the
Agreement, (ii) the determination by the Board @felbtors in the exercise of its reasonable judgntteatt Executive has committed an act or
acts constituting a felony or other crime involvimgral turpitude, dishonesty or theft or fraud{ioy Executive's gross negligence in the
performance of his duties hereunder, providedathecase, however, that the Company shall not teteithis Agreement pursuant to this
Section 7(c) unless the Company shall first haveled to the Executive, a notice which specific&dentifies such breach or misconduct
and the executive shall not have cured the sanfenafifteen (15) days after receipt of such notice.

(d) Good Reason. The Executive may terminate hig@ment for "Good Reason" if:

(i) he is assigned, without his express writtensemt, any duties materially inconsistent with rasifions, duties, responsibilities, or status
with the Company as of the date hereof, or a chanbes reporting responsibilities or titles asiiflect as of the date hereof; provided,
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however, that Executive must provide the Compartis written notice of his dispute of suchassignment of duties or change in his repo
responsibilities under this Section 7(d)(i) andegikie Company opportunity to cure such inconsistelfficuch dispute is not resolved within
thirty (30) days, the Company shall submit suclpudtis to arbitration under Section 14.

(i) his compensation is reduced,;

(iii) the Company does not pay any material amafimompensation due hereunder and then fails elithpay such amount within the ten
(10) day notice period required for terminationeharder or to contest in good faith such noticetHeur if such contest is not resolved within
thirty (30) days, the Company shall submit suclpudtis to arbitration under Section 14.

(e) Voluntary Termination. The Executive may teratahis employment voluntarily.
(f) Without Cause. The Company may terminate trgse@ment without cause.
8. OBLIGATIONS OF COMPANY UPON TERMINATION.

(@) In the event of the termination of Executivaisployment pursuant to
Section 7 (a), (b), (c) or (e), Executive will h&ided only to the compensation earned by him tieder as of the date of such termination
(plus life insurance or disability benefits if ajgalble and provided for pursuant to Section 4(c)).

(b) In the event of the termination of Executiversployment pursuant to
Section 7 (d) or (f), Executive will be entitledreceive in one lump sum payment the full remairdngunt under the Term of this Agreen
to which he would have been entitled had this Agrest not been terminated.

9. WAIVER OF BREACH. The waiver by any party herefoa breach of any provision of this Agreement wilt operate or be construed
waiver of any subsequent breach by any party.

10. COSTS. If any action at law or in equity is @&gary to enforce or interpret the terms of thise&gent, the prevailing party will be
entitled to reasonable attorney's fees, costs andssary disbursements in addition to any othief tel which he or it may be entitled.

11. NOTICES. Any notices, consents, demands, reégsjuagprovals and other communications to be giweter this Agreement by either
party to the other will be deemed to have been divgn if given in writing and personally deliveredwithin two days if sent by mail,
registered or certified, postage prepaid with reneceipt requested, as follows:
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If to Company: Rick's Cabaret International, Inc
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066
Attention: Travis Reese, Executi ve Vice President

If to Executive: Eric Langan

Notices delivered personally will be deemed comroat@d as of actual recei

12. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement and the agreets contemplated hereby constitute the entirecageat of the parties regarding
the subject matter hereof, and supersede all pgarements and understanding, both written andamang the parties, or any of them, with
respect to the subject matter hereof.

13. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreemeis held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceableder present or future laws effective
during this Agreement, such provision will be fulgverable and this Agreement will be construedearidrced as if such illegal, invalid or
unenforceable provision never comprised a partdipamd the remaining provisions hereof will remairfull force and effect and will not be
affected by the illegal, invalid or unenforceabteypsion or by its severance herefrom. Furthermioréieu of such illegal, invalid or
unenforceable provision there will be added aut@aly as part of this Agreement a provision asilgimin its terms to such illegal, invalid
unenforceable provision as may be possible anédsd,lvalid and enforceable.

14. ARBITRATION. If a dispute should arise regaglihis Agreement the parties agree that all cladisputes, controversies, differences or
other matters in question arising out of this ielahip shall be settled finally, completely anshclasively by arbitration in Houston, Texas
accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Ruleshaf American Arbitration Association (the "RulesThe governing law of this
Agreement shall be the substantive law of the Sthiexas, without giving effect to conflict of IawA decision of the arbitrator shall be fil
conclusive and binding on the Company and Execufing arbitration held in accordance with this gaeph shall be private and confiden
and no person shall be entitled to attend the hgsuexcept the arbitrator, Executive, Executivittsriaeys, a representative of the Company,
the Company's attorneys, and advisors to or witeeks any party. The matters submitted to arlimathe hearings and proceedings and the
arbitration award shall be kept and maintainedhndtrictest confidence by Executive and the Compaual shall not be discussed, disclosed
or communicated to any persons except as may ldreelfor the preparation of expert testimony. @guest of any party, the record of the
proceeding shall be sealed and may not be disckssgpt insofar, and only insofar, as may be necgds enforce the award of the arbitre
and any judgement enforcing an award. The prepparty shall be entitled to recover reasonablersmgssary attorneys' fees and costs
the nonprevailing party and the determination of such f@ed costs and the award thereof shall be inclidéte claims to be resolved by
arbitrator hereunder.
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15. CAPTIONS. The captions in this Agreement arecmvenience of reference only and will not limitotherwise affect any of the terms
provisions hereof.

16. GENDER AND NUMBER. When the context requirém gender of all words used herein will include eesculine, feminine and neuter
and the number of all words will include the sireguind plural.

17. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executaxh@or more counterparts, each of which will berded an original and all of
which will constitute one and the same instrumbat,only one of which need be produced.

18. COMPANY AUTHORIZATION. The Company represertiattthe Board of Directors has approved this Agesgm
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have dulgceted this Agreement as of the day and yeardbeve written.
COMPANY:
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By: [/s/ Travis Reese

Travis Reese, Executive Vice President

EXECUTIVE:

By: [/s/ Eric Langan

Eri ¢ Langan
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement (the "Agreement”), erdento as of the 1st day of February 2004, by agtvben RICK'S CABARET
INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Texas corporation (the "Coany"), and TRAVIS REESE ("Executive").

WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, Company desires to employ Executive asigeal herein; and
WHEREAS, Executive desires to accept such employmen

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the malicovenants and agreements contained hereirfpanther good and valuah
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agréalows:

1. EMPLOYMENT. Company hereby employs Executive Bndcutive hereby accepts employment with Compaonuhe terms and
conditions hereinafter set forth.

2. DUTIES. Subject to the power of the Board ofdeiors of Company to elect and remove officers chtiee will serve the Company as its
Executive Vice President, Director of Technology avill faithfully and diligently perform the sengs and functions relating to such office
otherwise reasonably incident to such office, piedithat all such services and functions will kesomable and within Executive's area of
expertise. Executive will, during the term of tligreement (or any extension thereof), devote Hidbfisiness time, attention and skills and
best efforts to the promotion of the business ah@any. The foregoing will not be construed as pnéimg Executive from making
investments in other businesses or enterprisesdadthat (a) Executive agrees not to become emgiagany other business activity that
interferes with his ability to discharge his dutésl responsibilities to Company and (b) Executiwes not violate any other provision of this
Agreement.

3. TERM. Subject to the terms and conditions herdsaf term of employment of Executive will commeiaseof the date hereof (the
"Commencement Date") and will end on that datdénytear 2007, unless earlier terminated by eithéypursuant to the terms hereof. The
term of this Agreement is referred to herein as'freem."

4. COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS DURING THE EMPLOYMENTERM.

(a) Salary. Commencing upon the date of this AgerenExecutive will be paid an annual base sal&f135,000, payable bi-weekly (the
"Salary"). At any time, and from time to time thal&y may be increased for the remaining portiothefterm if so determined by the Board
of Directors of Company after a review of Execuieerformance of his duties hereunder.

(b) Expenses. Upon submission of a detailed stateared reasonable documentation, Company will reisdy Executive in the same manner
as other executive officers for all reasonable mexkssary or appropriate out-of-pocket
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travel and other expenses incurred by Executiveridering services required under this Agreement.
(c) Benefits; Insurance.

(i) Medical, Dental and Vision Benefits. Duringdhhgreement, Executive and his dependents williti#led to receive such group medical,
dental and vision benefits as Company may prowadtstother executives, provided such coveragedsanably available, or be reimbursed if
Executive is carrying his own similar insurance.

(i) Benefit Plans. The Executive will be entitle@lparticipate in any benefit plan or program @& @ompany which may currently be in place
or implemented in the future.

(iii) Other Benefits. During the Term, ExecutivelMie entitled to receive, in addition to and notieu of base salary, bonus or other
compensation, such other benefits and normal pgitgsias Company currently provides or such aduitibenefits as Company may provide
for its executive officers in the future.

(d) Vacation. Executive will be entitled to two viksepaid vacation each year of this Agreement.
5. CONFIDENTIALITY AND NON-COMPETITION.

(a) Confidentiality. In the course of the perforroamf Executive's duties hereunder, Executive mieeg and acknowledges that Executive
may have access to certain confidential and prtgienformation of Company or any of its affiliateVithout the prior written consent of
Company, Executive shall not disclose any suchidentfial or proprietary information to any persarfiam, corporation, association, or otl
entity for any reason or purpose whatsoever, aatl sbt use such information, directly or indirggtior Executive's own behalf or on behalf
of any other party. Executive agrees and affirnas &#i such information is the sole property of @amy and that at the termination and/or
expiration of this Agreement, at Company's writtequest, Executive shall promptly return to Company and all such information so
requested by Company.

The provisions of this Section 5 shall not, howepeohibit Executive from disclosing to others ging in any manner information that:
(i) has been published or has become part of tbégpdiomain other than by acts, omissions or fatiExecutive;
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(if) has been furnished or made known to Executiyé¢hird parties (other than those acting direotiyndirectly for or on behalf of Executive)
as a matter of legal right without restriction tsuse or disclosure;

(iii) was in the possession of Executive prior tdaining such information from Company in connettiith the performance of this
Agreement; or

(iv) is required to be disclosed by law.

(b) Non-Competition. Executive agrees that he will not,Honself, on behalf of, or in conjunction with apgrson, firm, corporation or entit
either as principal, employee, shareholder, mentiesctor, partner, consultant, owner or part-owsfeany corporation, partnership or any
other type of business entity, directly or inditgcown, manage, operate, control, be employedbiticipate in, or be connected in any
manner with the ownership, management, operatioogutrol of any establishment which has live feenalide or semi-nude entertainment or
is in any business similar to or competitive witle female entertainment business presently condlibgt¢he Company anywhere in the
United States within 50 miles of any female entarteent business of the Company or any female extenent business of the Company
under construction, under contract, in developnoem¢ased by or to the Company, for a period of years (the "Norcompete Period") froi
the termination of this Agreement. However, in évent of the termination of Executive's employn@nisuant to

Section 7(d) or 7(f), the Non-Compete Period shalkix months.

Executive agrees not to hire, solicit or attempgdbcit for employment by Executive or any companyvhich he may be involved, either
directly or indirectly, any party who is an empleyer independent contractor of the Company or aiyyewhich is affiliated with the
Company, or any person who was an employee or erdigmnt contractor of the Company or any entity widcaffiliated with the Company
within the two year period immediately followingetlermination of this Agreement.

Executive acknowledges that he has carefully readcansidered all provisions of this Agreement agcees that:

(i) Due to the nature of the Company's businegsfdtregoing covenants place no greater restraio lxecutive than is reasonably neces
to protect the business and goodwill of the Company

(i) These covenants protect the legitimate intisre§the Company and do not serve solely to lthetCompany's future competition;
(iii) This Agreement is not an invalid or unreasbigarestraint of trade;
(iv) A breach of these covenants by Executive wanaldse irreparable damage to the Company;
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(v) These covenants are reasonable in scope amdamenably necessary to protect the Company'sdasand goodwill which the Company
has established through its own expense and eéffiod;

(vi) The signing of this Agreement is necessarpas of the consummation of the transactions dieesdrin the preamble.

6. INDEMNIFICATION. The Corporation shall to thelfextent permitted by law or as set forth in theiéles of Incorporation and the
Bylaws of the Company, indemnify, defend and hadiess Executive from and against any and alindademands, liabilities, damages,
loses and expenses (including reasonable attorfe®gscourt costs and disbursements) arising fahiegperformance by him of his duties
hereunder except in the case of his willful misagstd

7. TERMINATION. This Agreement and the employmegiaitionship created hereby will terminate (i) uploa death or disability of
Executive under section 7(a) or 7(b); (ii) with sawnder Section 7(c); (iii) for good reason urSection 7(d); (iv) upon the voluntary
termination of employment by Executive under Setii@); or without cause under Section 7(f).

(a) Disability. The Company shall have the rightdominate the employment of the Executive undisr Algreement for disability in the event
Executive suffers an injury, illness, or incapadafysuch character as to substantially disablefham performing his duties without
reasonable accommodation by the Company hereuadarderiod of more than one hundred eighty (18@)secutive days upon the
Company giving at least thirty (30) days writtertioe of termination.

(b) Death. This Agreement will terminate on the fheaf the Executive.

(c) With Cause. The Company may terminate this Agrent at any time because of (i) Executive's natbreach of any term of the
Agreement, (ii) the determination by the Board @felbtors in the exercise of its reasonable judgntteatt Executive has committed an act or
acts constituting a felony or other crime involvimgral turpitude, dishonesty or theft or fraud{ioy Executive's gross negligence in the
performance of his duties hereunder, providedathecase, however, that the Company shall not teteithis Agreement pursuant to this
Section 7(c) unless the Company shall first haveled to the Executive, a notice which specific&dentifies such breach or misconduct
and the executive shall not have cured the sanfenafifteen (15) days after receipt of such notice.

(d) Good Reason. The Executive may terminate hig@ment for "Good Reason" if:

(i) he is assigned, without his express writtensemt, any duties materially inconsistent with rasifions, duties, responsibilities, or status
with the Company as of the date hereof, or a chanfes reporting
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responsibilities or titles as in effect as of tleedhereof; provided, however, that Executive mpustide the Company with written notice of
his dispute of such re-assignment of duties or ghan his reporting responsibilities under thistiec7(d)(i) and give the Company
opportunity to cure such inconsistency. If suctpdis is not resolved within thirty (30) days, then@pany shall submit such dispute to
arbitration under

Section 14.

(i) his compensation is reduced,;

(iii) the Company does not pay any material amafimompensation due hereunder and then fails eithpay such amount within the ten
(10) day notice period required for terminationeharder or to contest in good faith such noticetHeur if such contest is not resolved within
thirty (30) days, the Company shall submit suclpulis to arbitration under Section 14.

(e) Voluntary Termination. The Executive may teratghis employment voluntarily.
(f) Without Cause. The Company may terminate tragse@ment without cause.
8. OBLIGATIONS OF COMPANY UPON TERMINATION.

(@) In the event of the termination of Executiveisployment pursuant to
Section 7 (a), (b), (c) or (e), Executive will h&ided only to the compensation earned by him tieder as of the date of such termination
(plus life insurance or disability benefits if ajgalble and provided for pursuant to Section 4(c)).

(b) In the event of the termination of Executivesployment pursuant to
Section 7 (d) or (f), Executive will be entitledreceive in one lump sum payment the full remairdnmgunt under the Term of this Agreen
to which he would have been entitled had this Agrest not been terminated.

9. WAIVER OF BREACH. The waiver by any party herefoa breach of any provision of this Agreement wilt operate or be construed
waiver of any subsequent breach by any party.

10. COSTS. If any action at law or in equity is @&sary to enforce or interpret the terms of thises&gient, the prevailing party will be
entitled to reasonable attorney's fees, costs andssary disbursements in addition to any othif tel which he or it may be entitled.

11. NOTICES. Any notices, consents, demands, reguaggprovals and other communications to be giweter this Agreement by either
party to the other will be deemed to have been divgn if given in writing and personally deliveredwithin two days if sent by mail,
registered or certified, postage prepaid with reneceipt requested, as follows:
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If to Company: Rick's Cabaret International, | nc.
505 North Belt, Ste. 630
Houston, Texas 77060
Attention: Eric Langan, Preside nt

If to Executive: Travis Reese

Notices delivered personally will be deemed comroat@d as of actual recei

12. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement and the agreets contemplated hereby constitute the entirecageat of the parties regarding
the subject matter hereof, and supersede all pgarements and understanding, both written andamang the parties, or any of them, with
respect to the subject matter hereof.

13. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreemeis held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceableder present or future laws effective
during this Agreement, such provision will be fulgverable and this Agreement will be construedearidrced as if such illegal, invalid or
unenforceable provision never comprised a partdipamd the remaining provisions hereof will remairfull force and effect and will not be
affected by the illegal, invalid or unenforceabteypsion or by its severance herefrom. Furthermioréieu of such illegal, invalid or
unenforceable provision there will be added aut@aly as part of this Agreement a provision asilgimin its terms to such illegal, invalid
unenforceable provision as may be possible anédsd,lvalid and enforceable.

14. ARBITRATION. If a dispute should arise regaglihis Agreement the parties agree that all cladisputes, controversies, differences or
other matters in question arising out of this ielahip shall be settled finally, completely anshclasively by arbitration in Houston, Texas
accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Ruleshaf American Arbitration Association (the "RulesThe governing law of this

Agreement shall be the substantive law of the Sthiexas, without giving effect to conflict of IawA decision of the arbitrator shall be fil
conclusive and binding on the Company and Execufing arbitration held in accordance with this gaeph shall be private and confiden
and no person shall be entitled to attend the hgsuexcept the arbitrator, Executive, Executivittsriaeys, a representative of the Company,
the Company's attorneys, and advisors to or witeeks any party. The matters submitted to arlimathe hearings and proceedings and the
arbitration award shall be kept and maintainedhndtrictest confidence by Executive and the Compaual shall not be discussed, disclosed
or communicated to any persons except as may ldreelfor the preparation of expert testimony. @guest of any party, the record of the
proceeding shall be sealed and may not be disckssgpt insofar, and only insofar, as may be necgds enforce the award of the arbitre
and any judgment enforcing an award. The prevapiady shall be entitled to recover reasonablereudssary attorneys' fees and costs from
the nonprevailing party and the determination of such f@ed costs and the award thereof shall be inclidéue claims to be resolved by
arbitrator hereunder.
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15. CAPTIONS. The captions in this Agreement arecmvenience of reference only and will not limitotherwise affect any of the terms
provisions hereof.

16. GENDER AND NUMBER. When the context requirém gender of all words used herein will include eesculine, feminine and neuter
and the number of all words will include the sireguind plural.

17. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executaxh@or more counterparts, each of which will berded an original and all of
which will constitute one and the same instrumbat,only one of which need be produced.

18. COMPANY AUTHORIZATION. The Company represertiattthe Board of Directors has approved this Agesgm
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have dulgceted this Agreement as of the day and yeardbeve written.
COMPANY:
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By: [/s/ Eric Langan

Eri ¢ Langan,
Presi dent and Chief Executive Oficer

EXECUTIVE:

By: [/s/ Travis Reese

Travi s Reese
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EXHIBIT 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

NAME STATE OF ORGANIZATION

Bobby's Novelty, Inc. Texas
Broadstreets Cabaret, Inc. Texas
Citation Land LLC Texas
Peregrine Enterprises, Inc New York
RCI Billing, Inc. Texas
RCI Dating Services, Inc. Texas
RCI Debit Services, Inc. Texas
RCI Entertainment (Ft. Worth), Inc. Texas
RCI Entertainment (Minnesota), Inc. Minnesota
RCI Entertainment (New York), Inc. New York
RCI Entertainment (North Carolina), Inc. North Carolina
RCI Entertainment (San Antonio), Inc. Texas
RCI Entertainment Texas, Inc. Texas
RCI Holdings, Inc. Texas
RCI Internet Holding, Inc. Texas
RCI Internet Services, Inc. Texas
SRD Vending Company Texas
Tantra Dance, Inc. Texas
Tantra Parking, Inc. Texas
Top Shelf LLC North Carolina
Trumps Inc. Texas

XTC Cabaret, Inc. Texas



EXHIBIT 23.1
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM'S CON SENT

We consent to the inclusion in this Registratioat&nent on Form SB-2, of our report dated NovenBe2004, with respect to our audit of
the consolidated balance sheets of Rick's Cabatesniational, Inc. as of September 30, 2004 an@®28d related consolidated statements of
income, changes in shareholders' equity, and ¢asis for the years then ended, which report appieatse Prospectus, and is part of this
Registration Statement. We also consent to theaeée to our firm under the heading "Experts" iohsBrospectus.

/sl Wiitley Penn

Dal | as, Texas
August 22, 2005

End of Filing
Pawered By EDCAR
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